

Babani Computer Books

# Easy PC wi-fi networking





# Easy PC wi-fi networking

# **Other Computer Titles**

## by

## **Robert Penfold**

- BP470 Linux for Windows users
- BP484 Easy PC Troubleshooting
- BP495 Easy Windows Troubleshooting
- BP503 Using Dreamweaver 4
- BP504 Using Flash 5
- BP507 Easy Internet Troubleshooting
- BP518 Easy PC Peripherals Troubleshooting
- BP521 Easy Windows XP Troubleshooting
- BP523 Easy PC Interfacing
- BP527 Using Flash MX
- BP530 Using Dreamweaver MX
- BP531 Easy PC Upgrading
- BP534 Build Your Own PC
- BP536 Using Photoshop 7
- BP537 Digital Photography with your Computer
- BP539 Easy PC Web Site Construction
- BP540 Easy PC Security and Safety
- BP541 Boost Your PC's Performance
- BP542 Easy PC Case Modding
- BP549 Easy PC Wi-Fi Networking
- BP552 Build Your Own Media PC
- BP556 Easy PC Data Transfer

# Easy PC wi-fi networking

**Robert Penfold** 

Bernard Babani (publishing) Ltd The Grampians Shepherds Bush Road London W6 7NF England www.babanibooks.com

# Please note

Although every care has been taken with the production of this book to ensure that any projects, designs, modifications, and/or programs, etc., contained herewith, operate in a correct and safe manner and also that any components specified are normally available in Great Britain, the Publisher and Author do not accept responsibility in any way for the failure (including fault in design) of any projects, design, modification, or program to work correctly or to cause damage to any equipment that it may be connected to or used in conjunction with, or in respect of any other damage or injury that may be caused, nor do the Publishers accept responsibility in any way for the failure to obtain specified components.

Notice is also given that if any equipment that is still under warranty is modified in any way or used or connected with home-built equipment then that warranty may be void.

© 2004 BERNARD BABANI (publishing) LTD

First Published - October 2004

British Library Cataloguing in Publication Data A catalogue record for this book is available from the British Library

ISBN 0859345491

Cover Design by Gregor Arthur Printed and bound in Great Britain by Cox and Wyman

# Preface

The number of people that still swap data between computers using some form of disc is quite surprising. This method is perhaps understandable if there is a hundred miles between the two PCs, although there are still alternatives such as sending the files as Email attachments. It is less understandable when the two PCs are in adjoining rooms, or even in the same room. Many computer users have failed to grasp how easy and inexpensive it is to link PCs using a wired network.

Modern PCs are often supplied with a networking port as standard, and it is something that can be easily added to practically any PC. With two or more PCs connected into a network it becomes very easy to share files. In fact file sharing over a network is a built-in facility of Windows, and the shared files can be used much as if they were stored on the local PC. Printers can also be shared using Window's built-in networking facilities. A simple but very effective network can be produced without buying any additional software.

A common reason for potential network users sticking with their slow and inconvenient disc swapping is that they are reluctant to introduce any more cables into the building. Modern computers are generally equipped with a number of peripheral gadgets, each of which adds to the substantial amount of cabling associated with a basic PC. Networking cables trailing across the room, or through the building from room to room, is something that many computer users are not willing to give serious consideration to.

Fortunately, modern technology has come up with a solution in the form of wireless networking, or wi-fi as it is now called. Like many other technologies, the cost has dropped as it has become more widely used, and it no longer costs the proverbial "arm and a leg" to wirelessly network PCs. Some portable PCs are equipped with wi-fi adapters as standard, but wi-fi is easily added to practically any desktop or portable PC, including PDAs.

If you have three PCs in different rooms of a house they can now be linked without the need for any connecting cables. With the aid of wi-fi you can sit in the garden using a portable PC that not only links to the PCs in the house, but also shares their Internet connection. With the aid of wireless hotspots, you can even access the Internet using wi-fi when travelling around the world. Wi-fi is certainly one of the most exciting and useful developments in recent years, and it is a technology that can be of real benefit to most computer users.

**Robert Penfold** 

## **Trademarks**

Microsoft, Windows, Windows XP, Windows Me, Windows 98 and Windows 95 are either registered trademarks or trademarks of Microsoft Corporation.

All other brand and product names used in this book are recognised trademarks, or registered trademarks of their respective companies. There is no intent to use any trademarks generically and readers should investigate ownership of a trademark before using it for any purpose.

# Contents

Networking basics	. 1
Why use wires?	1
Network interfaces	1
Adding ports	
Blanking plate	
Shocking truth	
Wristbands	
Basic network	
Shared resources	
Internet sharing	
Sharing broadband	
Microfilters	
Modem/router	
Firewalls	
Broadband risks	
Built-in firewali	27
Additional firewall	
Ports	32
False alarms	33
Zone Alarm	
Network	39
Points to remember	

# 2

Going wi-fi	47
Why wireless?	
Drawbacks	
Range	
Security	50
Interference	51
Hotspots	52
Roaming	
Standards	

.

Table 1	60
5GHz band	60
Channels	
Wi-fi Alliance	
Bluetooth	63
Piconet	
Channels	
Points to remember	

# <u>3</u>

Practical wi-fi	69
Getting connected Speed	
Hubs	
PCI adapter	
PC card	
Access point	. 79
Ad hoc	
Internet gateway	. 82
Wi-fi routers	
Other devices	. 86
Printer servers	. 87
Extending range	. 89
Directional	. 89
The rest	.91
Accelerators	. 92
Points to remember	. 93

# 4

Installation	and	security	••••	95
--------------	-----	----------	------	----

Installation	95
Firmware	
Setting up	
Standalone	

Settings	
Security	
WEP	
WPA	
802.111	
Other settings	
Adapter installation	
Control program	
Sharing	
Disc sharing	
Naming	
Network Setup Wizard	
Sharing folders	
Network Places	
Printer sharing	
Printer Installation	
Internet sharing	
Alternative method	
Firmware upgrades	
Points to remember	

# <u>5</u>

# Troubleshooting

and optimising	153
Try it	153
Planning	154
Simple problems	
Moving experience	
Signal strength	
Access point	159
Change channel	
Boosting range	
Now you see it	
Removing drivers	
Reinstalling	

Country setting	172
Repairing a connection	173
Points to remember	
Index	

# Networking basics

# Why use wires?

It is reasonable to question why a book about wireless networking should start with details of wired networks, or include wired networks at all for that matter. One reason is that there is a strong element of "learning to run before you can walk" if you dive straight in with wireless networking. It is much easier to learn about wireless networks when you already understand the basics of the wired variety.

Perhaps of more importance, few real world networks are based entirely on wireless connections. With a PC and a wireless modem/router on the same desk and less than a metre apart, a wireless connection could be used to link them. On the other hand, a lead costing a tenth as much will do the job just as well in this situation. In fact the lead will almost certainly permit faster communication and will avoid the security issues associated with wireless network connections. Do not use wireless links just for the sake of it. If a wired link is the more practical option, use one.

# **Network interfaces**

In days gone by there were actually many different types of interface used in networking. The cheapest network systems relied on the standard PC serial or parallel ports, but they often provided nothing more than basic data swapping between two PCs. The rate at which data could be exchanged was quite slow. More recently a similar facility has been available using USB ports, but USB 1.1 ports are not very fast by networking standards, but high-speed transfers are possible using USB 2.0 ports.

The main drawback of these ultra-simple networking systems is that their expansion potential is strictly limited. In most cases it is nonexistent

#### 1 Networking basics

rather than limited, and they are only of use if you will never need anything beyond a simple link between two computers. Another drawback is that the cables tend to be relatively expensive, which negates the main point of using the computer's built-in ports. One of these basic links could actually cost more than using a "real" network. This will certainly be the case if your PCs have built-in network ports, and this is now quite a common feature

In the early days of PCs there were numerous interfaces designed specifically for networking, and some of these coexisted for many years. A standard network port gradually emerged as the Ethernet type became more popular and the others gradually "fell by the wayside". No doubt there are still many PCs that are networked by way of an alternative interface, but Ethernet is the only type that is currently in widespread use with PCs. If you have a PC with a built-in network port it will certainly be an Ethernet type, and it is the only networking method that will be considered in this book.

Ethernet ports are sometimes referred to as 10/100 networking ports. The two figures refer to the original speed of this interface and the speed of the improved version. They operate speeds of 10 and 100 megabits per second. Note that the speeds are in megabits per second and not megabytes. There are eight bits per byte, and with a practical networking system it is necessary to send more than just the raw data. Transfers at about 1 and 10 megabytes per second might be possible, but in practice it is likely that the transfer rates would actually be somewhat lower. Even being pessimistic about the performance of an Ethernet port, a 100 megabyte file could be transferred in less than 20 seconds, which is more than adequate for most purposes.

It is assumed here that the system can handle the higher operating speed, and any reasonably modern Ethernet port should be capable of doing so. When setting up a new network it is very unlikely that any 10-megabit equipment will be on offer from the retailers, and if any should be on offer it would definitely not be a good idea to buy it. Modern 10/100 Ethernet equipment costs so little these days that there is little point in bothering with old and inferior pieces of equipment. There is good compatibility between 10-megabit devices and the modern 10/100 variety, but as one would probably expect, a link only operates at the lower rate if one device is a 10-megabit type.

Note that 10 and 100-megabit cables are different. Although a 10-megabit cable will work with a 10/100 Ethernet system, it will only support operation at the slower rate. Again, the cost of a modern cable that operates at the higher speed is now so low that there is little point in using old 10-megabit

cables. These days the 100-megabit cables are the only networking type that are likely available in the shops.

# **Adding ports**

It might be necessary to install Ethernet ports in some of the PCs in the system, but the network has to be designed before a final decision can be made. As already pointed out, few practical wi-fi systems are totally wireless, but no Ethernet ports will be required if you should take this option. It might not be necessary to add any ports even if large parts of

the system are cabled. Many PCs are supplied complete with an Ethernet port, and in the example of Figure 1.1 it is in the main cluster of ports, next to the USB types and below the **PS/2** mouse and keyboard ports.

An Ethernet socket looks a bit like the type of telephone socket used in the USA and some other countries, and the sockets often used for broadband modems in the UK. Ethernet connectors are different though, and they are physically incompatible with any type of telephone



Fig.1.1 The Ethernet port is to the right of the two USB ports

socket. This is important, because some networking equipment has a socket to handle connections to telephone line or a modern. Using incompatible connectors ensures that errors are avoided when installing the cables. Ethernet equipment uses RJ-45 connectors, and the cables are sometimes referred to as RJ-45 cables.



Flg.1.2 Removing the left-hand side panel gives access to the expansion slots

Modern laptop and notebook PCs often have an Ethernet port, but in a wi-fi system it would be normal to use the wireless option for any portable device. This avoids having to plug the computer into the system each time you return to base, and disconnect it again when you wish to go out with it again. Also, the wireless approach makes it possible to use the computer anywhere in the house, or even outside in the garden.

Adding an Ethernet port to a desktop PC is normally straightforward provided there is at least one PCI expansion slot free. The cost of generic Ethernet cards is extremely low, and those from the well-known manufacturers are not expensive. In order to add the card it is necessary to gain access to the interior of the PC, and this usually means removing the appropriate two or three screws at the rear of the unit. With some form of tower case this enables the left-hand side panel (as viewed from the front) to be pulled clear (Figure 1.2). Note that removing the other



Fig.1.3 Two types of expansion port blanking plate

side panel will not give access to the expansion slots. With a desktop case it is the lid of the case that has to be removed.

There is usually a fair sprinkling of screws on the rear panel of the case, so look at the way the case is put together and be careful to remove the right ones. It is unlikely that any harm will be done if you should manage to remove one or two screws that (say) hold the power supply unit in place, but replace the screws immediately if a mistake is made. Fathoming some of the more stylish cases can be difficult, but if in doubt, the documentation supplied with the PC should explain how to gain access to the expansion slots.

# **Blanking plate**

Before the network card can be fitted it is necessary to remove a blanking plate in the rear of the case for the particular slot you will be using. Cases used to be supplied with blanking plates that were screwed to a bracket at the rear of the case. This type is not used a great deal these days, but it is still to be found in some of the more up-market cases. Including screw-fixing type, there are three main forms of blanking plate currently in use.

The original type is held in place by a single screw per blanking plate. A bracket of this type is shown on the right in Figure 1.3. If you undo the



Fig.1.4 A new case that still has a full set of blanking plates

screw using a largish cross-point screwdriver the bracket should pull free without any difficulty. It is advisable to keep the bracket so the hole in the rear of the case can be blocked up again if you remove the expansion card at some later date. The bracket's fixing screw will be needed to hold the expansion card in place.

Probably the most popular kind of bracket these days is the type that is partially cut out from the rear of the case. In order to remove one of these it is necessary to twist it to and fro until the thin pieces of metal connecting it to the main casing fatigue and break. Figure 1.4 shows the rear of a new case with all of the brackets in place. In Figure 1.5 two of the brackets have been twisted round slightly to show how they can be broken away from the main casing. There is little point in keeping this type of bracket since it can not be fitted back in place again.

The third method has brackets that clip into the screw holes in the main case. A bracket of this type is shown on the left in Figure 1.3. These can be twisted slightly and pulled free, and the process is reversible provided the bracket is not seriously distorted during removal. It is therefore worthwhile keeping these brackets as they can be fitted into the case again should the need arise.



Fig.1.5 The plates can be twisted and eventually broken free

With the metal bracket removed, the network card (Figure 1.6) can be removed from its anti-static packing and pushed into position on the motherboard. Some cards and slots fit together quite easily while other combinations are less accommodating. Never try the brute force method of fitting expansion cards into place. Using plenty of force is virtually always the wrong approach when dealing with PCs, but it is certainly asking for trouble when applied to expansion cards. Apart from the risk of damage to the card itself there is also a likelihood of writing off the motherboard.

If a card seems to be reluctant to fit into place, check that the metal bracket is slotting correctly into place between the case and the motherboard. With some PCs the bottom end of the bracket has to be bent away from the circuit board slightly as it otherwise tends to hit the motherboard rather than fitting just behind it. Look carefully to see what is blocking the card. It can be quite dim inside a PC, so if necessary, get some additional light inside the PC using something like a spot-lamp or a powerful torch.



Fig.1.6 A PCI expansion card that provides an Ethernet port

Probably the most common problem is the card being slightly too far forward or back. This is the same problem with the metal bracket, but manifesting itself in a different manner. The bracket is fitting into place correctly, but the rest of the card is then out of alignment. If the misalignment is only slight, you should be able to ease the card backwards or forwards slightly and then into place.

Where there is a large error it will be necessary to form the bracket slightly in order to get the card to fit properly. In one or two cases where all else has failed, slightly loosening the screws that fix the motherboard to the chassis has provided the solution. Presumably in these cases the motherboard has been bolted in place when it is fractionally out of position. Loosening the mounting bolts and then fitting the expansion card shifts it into the correct position. The mounting bolts are then retightened, and fitting further expansion cards should be perfectly straightforward.



Fig.1.7 The expansion cards are bolted to the rear of the case

The mounting bracket can be fixed to the bracket at the rear of the case (Figure 1.7) once the card is correctly in place. Where appropriate, use the screw removed along with the blanking plate. It is otherwise a matter of looking through the odds and ends supplied with the PC, which should include at least one fixing screw per free expansion slot.

Although it is an Ethernet card that has been added in this example, the process is much the same for other PCI expansion cards. This includes PCI wi-fi adapters. One slight difference when installing a wi-fi card is that it usually has an aerial fitted on the bracket at the rear of the card. The aerial tends to get in the way when installing one these cards, so it is best to unscrew the aerial so that it is easy to fit the card in place. The aerial is easily fitted again once the card has been physically installed. Note that it is not a good idea to run any radio transmitting equipment without an aerial connected.

#### 1 Networking basics

# **Shocking truth**

If you are new to handling PC components it is important to realise that most of them, including practically all expansion cards, are vulnerable to damage from static charges. I think it is worth making the point that it does not take a large static charge complete with sparks and "cracking" sounds to damage sensitive electronic components. Large static discharges of that type are sufficient to damage most modern semiconductor components, and not just the more sensitive ones.

Many of the components used in computing are so sensitive to static charges that they can be damaged by relatively small voltages. In this context "small" still means a potential of perhaps a hundred volts or so, but by static standards this is not particularly large. Charges of this order will not generate noticeable sparks or make your hair stand on end, but they are nevertheless harmful to many electronic components. Hence you can "zap" these components simply by touching them, and in most cases would not be aware that anything had happened.

An obvious precaution when handling any vulnerable computer components is to keep well away from any known or likely sources of static electricity. These includes such things as computer monitors, television sets, any carpets or furnishings that are known to be prone to static generation, and even any pets that are known to get charged-up fur coats. Also avoid wearing any clothes that are known to give problems with static charges. This seems to be less of a problem than it once was, because few clothes these days are made from a cloth that consists entirely of man-made fibres. There is normally a significant content of natural fibres, and this seems to be sufficient to prevent any significant build-up of static charges. However, if you should have any garments that might give problems, make sure that you do not wear them when handling any computer equipment or components.

Static-sensitive components will be supplied in some form of anti-static packaging, and this is usually nothing more than a plastic bag made from a special plastic that is slightly conductive. There is quite a range of anti-static packaging currently in use, but an expansion card is unlikely to be supplied in anything more elaborate that a conductive plastic bag. This effectively short-circuits the edge connector of the card so that no significant voltage can build up between the terminals.

Although it is tempting to remove the components from the packing to have a good look at them, try to keep this type of thing to a minimum. Ideally it should be completely avoided. When it is necessary to remove



Fig.1.8 An anti-static wristband, lead, and earthing plug

the card from its packing, always make sure that both you and the plastic bag is earthed before the component is removed. Simply touching the earthed chassis of a computer while holding the component in its bag should be sufficient to ensure that everything is kept free of static charges.

The computer must be switched off and the power should also be switched off at the mains socket. The chassis of the computer will still be earthed provided the mains lead is connected to the computer and the mains socket. There is a risk of a charge gradually building up in your body, but touching the earthed chassis of the computer every minute or so will prevent this from occurring.

# Wristbands

If you wish to make quite sure that your body remains static-free, you can earth yourself to the computer by way of a proper earthing wristband. This is basically just a wristband made from electrically conductive material that connects to the earth via a lead and a high value resistor. The lead is terminated in a clip that permits easy connection to the chassis



#### Fig.1.9 The most basic network consists of two PCs and no other equipment

of the computer. The resistor does not prevent any static build-up in your body from leaking away to earth, but it will protect you from a significant shock if a fault should result in the earthing point becoming "live". A variation on this system has a special mains plug that enables the wristband to be safely earthed to the mains supply. Earthing wristbands are available from some of the larger computer component suppliers, and from electronics component retailers.

A typical wristband, complete with lead and special earthing plug, is shown in Figure 1.8. Note that these are sometimes sold together as a kit, but they are also sold as separate items. Make sure you know what you are buying before you part with your money. The wristband on its own is about as much good as a monitor without the rest of the PC. It is possible to buy disposable wristband kits, but if you are likely to do a fair amount of PC upgrading from time to time it is probably worthwhile obtaining one of the cheaper non-disposable types. With intermittent use one of these should last many years. If you do not want to go to the expense of buying a wristband, the method of periodically touching the earthed chassis mentioned previously should be just as effective.

That is really all there is to it. Simply having a large chunk of earthed metal (in the form of the computer case) near the work area helps to discourage the build-up of any static charges in the first place. The few simple precautions outlined previously are then sufficient to ensure that there is no significant risk to the components. Do not be tempted to simply ignore the dangers of static electricity when handling computer components.



Fig.1.10 A basic network for two PCs that uses a router

When building electronic gadgets I often ignore static precautions, but I am dealing with components that cost a matter of pence each. If one or two of the components should be zapped by a static charge, no great harm is done. The cost would be minimal and I have plenty of spares available. The same is not true when dealing with computer components, some of which could cost in excess of a hundred pounds. Also, the computer would remain out of commission until a suitable replacement spare part was obtained.

## **Basic network**

With all the PCs in the system equipped with Ethernet ports it is time to design and build the network. The most basic network barely justifies the "network" description, and it just consists of one PC connected direct to the other via their Ethernet ports (Figure 1.9). It is important to realise that Ethernet ports are not primarily designed for this method of connection, and this setup will not work if a normal network cable is used. The cable required when linking two PCs is usually called something like a "crossed" or "crossed-over" cable. A normal network lead is usually described as a "straight" cable.

The setup shown in Figure 1.10 is essentially the same as the one of Figure 1.9, and it provides a link between the two PCs. The PCs are

#### 1 Networking basics



Fig.1.11 More PCs are easily added to the network. A router can usually accommodate at least four PCs

linked via a networking router, and the two cables are of the "straight" variety. In the arrangement of Figure 1.9 the crossed-over connections in the cable makes each PC "look" like a router to the other PC. This avoids the expense of the router and it is probably the better method if it will never be necessary to introduce other computers into the system.

A big advantage of using a router is that it will typically have four or more Ethernet sockets, making it easy to add further PCs into the network. Figure 1.11 shows a network having four PCs, and the setup of Figure 1.10 is easily expanded into this configuration. It could probably use the original router, since these mostly have four or more Ethernet sockets. Therefore, the only additional hardware required would be two cables, plus the two extra PCs of course. Networks can become quite involved,



Fig.1.12 Some printers can be connected direct to the router, and used by any PC in the system

but for a home or small business network it should not be necessary to use anything more than a single router to bind the system together.

# Shared resources

As described so far, the system contains nothing other than the networking equipment and the PCs. This is fine for sharing files and folders, and a basic twin PC network is often used for games that can accommodate two players using separate PCs. However, most users wish to go beyond data sharing. Other resources can be shared, and in practice this usually means sharing a printer and/or an Internet connection.

Some printers are network enabled, which basically just means that they have an Ethernet port and can be connected into the system as in Figure



Fig.1.13 Any printer can be connected to the network via a printer server

1.12. Heavy-duty printers for business use often have an Ethernet port as standard, and it should certainly be available as an option. It is not included as standard with the printers used in most home and small business systems, and will probably not be available as an optional extra either.

With the aid of a suitable gadget it is possible to connect practically any printer into the network via the router, but it is not usually cost-effective to use this method. The gadget is called a printer server, and it simply goes between the router and the printer (Figure 1.13). Real-world printer servers often have the ability to drive more than one printer. This method has the major advantage of making the printer or printers available at all times to any network user. Furthermore, it does so without increasing



Fig.1.14 Any printer can be shared without using any extra equipment

the workload of any PCs that are not accessing a printer. The only real drawback is that cost of a printer server is greater than that of many inkjet printers. These days it can even be higher than the cost of a budget laser printer.

The more common approach with small networks is to install the printer on one of the PCs in the usual way (Figure 1.14). The printer can then be designated as a shared resource and made available to any PC on the network. This system works well in most respects, but it does have one slight drawback. The printer will only be available to the network when the PC it is connected to is switched on. A printer that has its own network connection is available to the system at all times, as is one driven via a printer server.

With the setup of Figure 1.14 it can be necessary to switch on one PC so that another one can use the printer. Another slight drawback is that the

#### 1 Networking basics

PC which drivers the printer has an increase in its workload when other PCs access the printer. Even so, this method is still the most practical for most home and small business networks.

## Internet sharing

Sharing an Internet connection is probably the main reason for home and many small business users organising their individual PCs into a network. However, it is only fair to point out that sharing an Internet connection does not work well with an ordinary dialup connection. In practice, a 56k modern is unlikely to achieve transfer rates of 56k, since this figure assumes a technically perfect connection. A technically perfect connection is unlikely to be achieved even if you happen to live next door to the telephone exchange.

In real-world computing a connection rate of about 48k is typical, and in some areas even this might not be achievable. A rate of 48k is not particularly fast with one person using the connection, and it becomes painfully slow when shared between (say) three people. When all three use the Internet simultaneously they have an effective connection rate of just 16k each.

It is generally considered to be more practical for each computer to be connected to the Internet via its own modern, with users taking it in turns to use the Internet. This requires one modern per computer and a telephone socket for each modern. However, most PCs have a modern as standard, and most premises are now well equipped with telephone sockets. Any extra hardware required is likely to be cheap, but in most cases it will not be needed.

# Sharing broadband

The situation is very different with broadband, where connection speeds are much greater. A standard ADSL broadband connection has a download speed of 512k. The download speed in fringe areas is less than this, but for most broadband users the download rate is at least the stated 512k. This is at least ten times faster than the actual connection rate achieved with most 56k moderns. Three users accessing the Internet simultaneously would each have an effective connection speed of just over 170k. In other words, they could still connect to the Internet at a rate more than three times better than a single user with a 56k modern.



Fig.1.15 A system like this enables a modern and Internet connection to be shared

It is only fair to point out that some broadband providers have terms of service that limit or ban the sharing of a broadband connection. It is unlikely that you will encounter any restriction of this type with a broadband package aimed at business users, but there are often "strings attached" to the low-cost deals for home users. The self-install broadband packages often have restrictions, and in some cases there is an outright ban on shared connections.

Pressure from users and widespread flouting of the rules has led to some easing of the restrictions. Many providers now permit sharing between two or three users, but anything beyond this is likely to be outside the terms of service for low-cost broadband deals. Sharing a broadband connection between two or more households is unlikely to be permitted.

One way of sharing a broadband connection is to have the modem connected to one PC, with the Internet connection then being designated



Fig.1.16 A typical external USB broadband modern

as a shared resource. This gives a setup of the type shown in Figure 1.15. Broadband modems are available in the form of PCI expansion cards, but the external USB type (Figure 1.16) is probably more popular.



Fig.1.17 The most common type of microfilter

This method of sharing a broadband connection is cheap and easy if there is an existing network. You need little more than the modem and a microfilter for each telephone socket. The microfilters are needed to prevent the normal audio telephone signal from interfering with the high frequency broadband signal, and vice versa.

A microfilter usually has a short lead that into the pluas telephone socket, and a couple of sockets on the main unit (Figure 1.17). One socket is for a telephone and the other is for the broadband modem. You can also obtain microfilters that look rather like a two-way telephone adapter (Figure 1.18), but one



Fig.1.18 An alternative form of microfilter

of the sockets is for a broadband modern. Note that it is normally necessary to have a microfilter per telephone socket, and not just one filter at whichever socket happens to be used with the modern.

## **Microfilters**

It is possible to use an ordinary modem with a telephone line that is broadband enabled, but the modem must be used via the ordinary telephone socket of a microfilter. It is possible that the filter will produce some loss of performance, although no problems were evident when I tried using a modem with two different microfilters. Although it is unlikely that you would need to use a dialup connection when a broadband type is available, an ordinary modem might still be needed for sending and receiving faxes. Also, it is a good idea to have a dialup connection available as a backup in case the broadband connection fails for some reason. Obviously the backup will be no use either if the lines goes "dead", but it does sometimes happen that the broadband connection is inaccessible while the line works fine in other respects.

A rather different scheme of things is normally used for a broadband connection that is installed by an engineer. The engineer usually installs a box that has an Ethernet socket on the front, and this is connected into the network by way of a suitable router. The ordinary telephone connections are left unchanged, and they do not require the use of



Fig.1.19 A combined router and ADSL broadband modem

microfilters. There is no exact equivalent of this for self-install systems, but it is possible to obtain a broadband modem that has an Ethernet socket for connection to the network. With this arrangement a microfilter is still required at each telephone socket.



Fig.1.20 There are four Ethernet sockets and one telephone type



Fig.1.21 This is the most convenient method of sharing an Internet connection

# Modem/router

Probably the most popular means of sharing a broadband connection between a few computers is to use a combined modem and router, such as the one shown in Figure 1.19, which has four Ethernet sockets on the rear panel (Figure 1.20). There is also a telephone socket which is connected to a telephone wall socket via a microfilter. A combined modem and router is used in a setup of the type shown in Figure 1.21. This is basically just a standard network, but with the important difference that any PC connected to the router is automatically provided with Internet access. It is possible to obtain much the same effect using a separate router and broadband modem (Figure 1.22), but combining the two units gives a neater solution.

#### 1 Networking basics



Fig.1.22 An alternative method of sharing an Internet connection

If you decide to use a setup like the one in Figure 1.22, bear in mind that you can not use any broadband modem with any router. The router must be one that is designed to be used in this way. Also, most routers have an Ethernet socket for the modem, and can only be used with modems that have an Ethernet socket. It could be difficult to track down a router that will work with a modem that only has a USB interface.

Using a gadget that combines a router and modem, possibly with a firewall or other functions, is certainly the best method. Setting up the network is generally much easier using an all-in-one solution, and it helps to reduce the amount of cabling. Most wireless networks have wired connections as well, but you must avoid having the wireless name become ironic! Try to keep everything neat and simple, with no more "boxes" and cables than is really necessary.
An advantage of the current low prices of computer hardware is that it is usually possible to design a system that accurately matches your requirements, rather than having to compromise due to cost considerations. Depending on the equipment you have to start with, a setup of the type shown in Figure 1.21 might cost a little more than one like Figure 1.15. The cost is likely to be small though, and the arrangement of Figure 1.21 is much better from the users' point of view.

With the setup of Figure 1.21 the modem/router is usually left running continuously, making an Internet connection always available to any PC in the network. With the arrangement of Figure 1.15 it is necessary to have the right PC switched on in order to access the Internet using any of the others. Another point to bear in mind is that the PC connected to the modem becomes a form of router, and this will place additional claims on its resources. Using a modem combined with or connected to the modem avoids any overhead on any of the PCs in the system. All the additional workload is handled by the router.

In the past it was common for an old PC to be given a new lease of life by using it to operate as a router or router/modem. This might appear to be a very environmentally friendly way of doing things, but it is less "green" than it seems. A modern router or modern/router consumes little power, and costs little to run. A PC has a much higher power consumption, and if left operating for long periods every day will soon run up significant running costs. In the long term it is likely to cost much more than buying a new router or modern/router.

## Firewalls

In addition to those already mentioned, there are a few more practical differences between using an arrangement of the type outlined in Figure 1.21 and one like Figure 1.15. In practice it is usually easier to configure the arrangement of Figure 1.21, because the Internet connection will be automatically shared between the PCs in the system. With the setup of Figure 1.15 the modern is a resource of one PC, and it will only be shared if it is designated as a shared resource, which requires some additional setting up.

Perhaps of greater importance, the setup of Figure 1.21 gives greater security. It is worth making the point that security is now an important issue for all Internet users, but it is of even greater concern for broadband users. Some form of firewall to keep hackers at bay should be considered essential rather than an optional extra for a broadband connection. A

firewall can be either a piece of hardware or a program. A firewall's basic function is much the same whether it is implemented in software or hardware.

Some people seem to think that a firewall and an antivirus program are the same, but there are major differences. There is often some overlap between real world antivirus and firewall programs, but their primary aims are different. An antivirus program is designed to scan files on discs and the contents of the computer's memory in search of viruses and other potentially harmful files. Having found any suspect files, the program will usually deal with them. A firewall is used to block unauthorised access to your PC, and in most cases it is access to your PC via the Internet that is blocked. Bear in mind though, that a software firewall will usually block unauthorised access via a local area network (LAN) as well.

Of course, a firewall is of no practical value if it blocks communication from one PC to another and access via the Internet. To be of practical value it must only block unauthorised access to any part of the system. When you access an Internet site your PC sends messages to the server hosting that site, and these messages request the pages you wish to view. Having requested information, the PC expects information to be sent from the appropriate server, and it accepts that information when it is received. A firewall does not interfere with this type of Internet activity provided it is set up correctly.

It is a different matter when another system tries to access your PC when you have not instigated the initial contact. The firewall will treat this attempted entry as an attack and will block it. Of course, the attempt at accessing your PC might not be an attack, and a firewall can result in legitimate access being blocked. Something like P2P file swapping is likely to fail or operate in a limited fashion. The sharing of files and resources on a local area network could also be blocked. A practical firewall enables the user to permit certain types of access so that the computer can work normally while most unauthorised access is still blocked. However, doing so does reduce the degree of protection provided by the firewall.

## **Broadband risks**

As pointed out previously, using a firewall is considered to be much more important when using some form of broadband Internet access. One reason for this is simply that with a high-speed connection it will be less obvious if someone is accessing your PC. With a slow dial-up connection the additional flow of data would slow things down and be more readily apparent. Another, and perhaps more important reason, is that with most types of broadband connection you are provided with a fixed Internet address. Having found your PC it is possible for a hacker to go back to it again whenever it is switched on. With a dial-up connection your Internet service provider (ISP) normally provides a new Internet address each time you logon to their system.

Another point to bear in mind is that with a broadband connection the PC is usually connected to the Internet all the time that it is operating, and not just when you decide to go online and do some surfing. With many PCs this means that there is a connection to the Internet virtually all day every day. Even if you are provided with a new Internet address each time the PC is switched on, it will probably be operating with that address for many hours before it is switched off again. This still leaves it relatively vulnerable to attack.

With some types of modern the Internet connection does not close down when the PC is switched off. The modern remains connected to the Internet all the time unless it is switched off, which most users do not bother to do. Quite reasonably, they would like the Internet connection to be ready for use whenever any PC in the system is switched on. With the modern left running, the system retains the same address for what could easily be weeks or even months. Strictly speaking, this does not give the system a permanent address, but it does provide hackers with plenty of opportunities to return to your computer system.

## **Built-in firewall**

A combined router and modem provides what is effectively a built-in hardware firewall. The router ensures that the received data is sent to the correct PC. It also ensures that any data sent from one PC is kept separate from any data from the other PCs. The router uses a process known as network address translation (NAT), and it provides the firewall action as a by-product of the sharing process.

The only device in the system that can be recognised externally is the router. Anything on the other side of the router is "invisible" to the outside world. The router uses the real Internet address provided by your ISP, but the PCs in the system use a sort of fake address based on the real one. The router makes the necessary adjustments to incoming and outgoing data so that everything runs smoothly.

Farmandes WoorldienterHopper Page Wr. Evill, Vew Favorites, Tools 14			_(#)×
Om · O · S I A .		0.0.20	
ASSIS (CHED: //www.conten.com/	arthwar + & Branitaxing		El an .
3 symantec.		A States and A	<u>2</u>
products and services ourchose	support security response	downloads about symanter	
Global Security Solut	ions	<ul> <li>Schopen, Jackins</li> <li>South of Schopen</li> <li>South Schopen</li> <li>South Schopen</li> <li>South Schopen</li> <li>South Schopen</li> </ul>	
Descrift Response UDA - Later Breach Beach 19 204 Nature Holds 19 204 Nature Holds "Annual Market Market "Annual Market Market - Denoted Heart M	Annuncement. Index of the sector Without Sector Market Sector Sector Sector Market Sector Sector Market Sector Sector Market Sector Mar	Extension Products and Services - Weight Services - Ser	
			at second

Fig.1.23 The Norton.com homepage

Many combined firewall and routers additionally have a system known as Stateful Packet Inspection (SPI). This keeps track of incoming and outgoing packets of data to check that incoming packets are genuine replies to outgoing requests. If a hacker should manage to find a way through the router, this system should ensure that their fake packets of data are detected and ignored.

I tested the firewall capability of a Netgear DG834G by going to a couple of websites which run tests that are supposed to shock you by showing how vulnerable your PC is to Internet attacks. The first site tried various methods of attacking the system but was unable to access any of the PCs in the network. In fact it was unable to detec: a computer at the appropriate Internet address. Results were much the same at the second site. This lack of success was due to the fact that the system at the test site was "talking" to the router and not the PCs on the other side of the router. There is no point in trying to hack into a PC :hat is not there.

Security is obviously important for all Internet users, but it is especially important for anyone that has a network connected to the Internet via a broadband connection. You are potentially providing hackers with a

Edit View Favoritas	State Contraction of these Of State State Contraction of the	
	manteconstitute, tel tangetueloendue, n	• Clos lue
()	· Bisentities · P Dattouted Samt Broth Property &	
symanter.	symantec security check	
nited states	and the second	
ted alles	Security Check	
and an interest		
-	<sup>1</sup> Sci, Ivox, Setember, a, Sciences to ordere security threads and feats here to make your computer more secure	
fuel		
and and		
al aphaeter		
R.h		
Auci		
-		
al or Ny second		
	To court from the "Di" bits of workford in the Longer	A Start

Fig.1.24 Operate the Go button to move on to the next stage

high-speed link into all the PCs in the system. It is a good idea to use one of these test sites on a newly installed or upgraded network, just to make sure that hackers have no easy way into the network. Make sure that you use one that is provided by a reliable source. Spoof sites of various types seem to be a growing threat on the Internet.

Probably the best know of the test sites is the one run by Symantec, the producers of the Norton range of security software and other utilities. The home page for their site (Figure 1.23) is at:

#### www.norton.com

The Symantec Security Check link is in the Downloads section near the bottom left-hand corner of the page. This produces the brief information page shown in Figure 1.24. Press the Go button to move onto the next page (Figure 1.25) where a security scan or a check for viruses can be made. In this case it is the security scan that is required, and the appropriate Start button is operated. The check then begins, and a page with a bargraph display shows how things are progressing (Figure 1.26). Online virus scans take minutes or even hours, but this type of check is



Fig.1.25 It is the Security Scan option that is selected here

Symante	x Security Check + Microsoft Infernet Ex	plorer	
syma			Symantec Security Check
Home	INPORTATION > FREE EEQURITY ALERT	F 65008174 SDLUTIONS	2 HELP
	THE NORMANNA	STATE REAL	232 - 24
	Test Your Computer's Vulnerability To Online Threats		-
	(and the second	State 1	
	Scanning	1000	-
	(*) (*) (*) (*)		100
	When the Security Scan is complete, you will receive a detailed analysis of your results.	Contraction of the second	0
		The second second	
			1.87

Fig.1.26 The check is underway, and should be completed quickly



Fig.1.27 This network has passed all the tests

quite fast. After a minute or so the list of results should be displayed (Figure 1.27). The top three checks in the list are the ones that are of interest in the current context, and a basically secure system should pass all three.

It is unlikely that the barrier provided by a router, or any other type of firewall for that matter, can ever be one hundred percent effective against hackers. However, it certainly makes it very difficult to hack into one of the PCs in the system. This is probably all you need to do in order to avoid attacks from hackers. If your PC system proves to be difficult to penetrate it is likely that any hackers will go elsewhere in search of easier pickings.

# Additional firewall

The firewall action provided by a router is quite effective, but it can still be beneficial to have an additional firewall. This can be provided by a program running on the PC, but some combined modems and routers have a "proper" firewall built in. If you need firewall software, there are a number of well known firewall programs available, and a program of this

type is sometimes included in suites of utility programs. A firewall program is sometimes included with network hardware such as a router/modem. Fortunately, personal firewall programs, unlike the highly sophisticated business firewalls, are reasonably inexpensive. In fact one or two free firewall programs are available. Software firewalls all operate in essentially the same manner and use the same techniques.

One of these techniques is to monitor Internet activity and alert the user if a non-authorised program tries to access the Internet. Initially there might be alerts when running programs that involve legitimate Internet access, but once you have set up the firewall to recognise legitimate Internet traffic this should no longer be a problem. This form of monitoring is guarding against software such as Trojans and spyware, that try to send information obtained from your PC to another system on the Internet.

A basic hardware firewall will not guard against this type of thing, because it will consider any Internet access that originates from your PC to be legitimate. A software firewall that provides this type of monitoring will detect and block Internet activity from any program that you have not granted Internet access. Although a basic hardware firewall is very good at guarding against external attacks, it will not prevent an internal attack if you should download a Trojan or similar program. For the ultimate in security a hardware firewall therefore has to be backed up by appropriate software protection.

Another technique used by software firewalls is essentially the same as the SPI facility provided by some combined modern and routers. The vast majority of incoming messages are in response to a request sent from the PC. The firewall inspects received packets of data and blocks them unless they are the result of a request for data sent by the PC. Of course, a facility of this type provided by a software firewall is superfluous if you are using a combined modern and router that incorporates SPI, as it just duplicates an existing feature

Whether implemented in software or hardware, this method gives excellent security, but some facilities might be lost because they require the initial contact to come from the remote system. For example, any form of P2P network is likely to operate in a restricted fashion. Like hardware firewalls, the software variety normally has a facility that permits exceptions to be specified so that these facilities can be reinstated.

## Ports

When dealing with firewalls you are almost certain to encounter the term "ports". In a computer context this normally means a socket on the PC

where a peripheral of some kind is connected. In an Internet context a port is not in the form of any hardware, and it is more of a software concept. Programs communicate over the Internet via these notional ports that are numbered from 0 to 65535. It enables several programs to utilise the Internet without the data for one program getting directed to another program.

Software and hardware firewalls usually have the ability to block activity on certain ports. The idea is to block ports that are likely to be used by programs such as backdoor Trojans but are not normally used for legitimate Internet traffic. A backdoor Trojan could be set to "listen" on (say) port 80, and send the data it has collected once it receives a message from a hacker. By blocking any activity on port 80, the firewall ensures that the backdoor Trojan can not send any data, and that it will not be contacted in the first place.

Using this method gives a basic hardware firewall some ability to combat backdoor Trojans, spyware, and other attacks that originate from within the system. If a program is designed to collect information from your PC and send it via a particular port, blocking that port will defeat the program. Clearly it is not possible to block all ports, but blocking those that are often used by "spy" programs gives an improvement in security.

Note that most software firewall programs will block this type of activity anyway, because the firewall will detect that an unauthorised program is trying to use the Internet. It will alert the user and only permit the data to be sent if the user authorises it. Presumably the user would "smell a rat" and deny permission for the Trojan to access the Internet. Where a trigger message is required, most hardware firewalls would prevent the message from the hacker from reaching the Trojan, and would also prevent the attack from succeeding. Even so, it is useful to block ports that are likely to be used for hacking the system. Doing so makes it that much harder for someone to "crack" your system, which is what Internet security is all about.

## False alarms

Many of the early firewall programs had a major problem in that they were a bit overzealous. While you were trying the surf the Internet there were constant interruptions from the firewall informing you of attacks on the system. In reality these attacks were wholly or largely nonexistent. What the programs were actually detecting was normal Internet activity, and many of the false alarms could be prevented by setting up the



Fig.1.28 The initial screen of Zone Alarm Pro

program to ignore certain programs accessing the Internet. Some of these programs were virtually unusable though.

Modern firewall programs mostly operate in a rather less "in your face" fashion, and produce fewer interruptions. Even so, it is usually necessary to go through a setting up process in order to keep down the number of false alarms, and further tweaking may be needed in order to get things working really well. Of course, if you would like to be informed about every possible attack on the system, most firewalls will duly oblige provided the appropriate settings are used. This certainly gives the ultimate in security, but it could make surfing the Internet a very slow and tedious process.

# Zone Alarm

There are plenty of software firewalls to choose from, and most of them are capable of providing your PC with a high degree of security. Black Ice Defender is a popular program that has the advantage of requiring little setting up before it is ready for use. ZoneAlarm is another popular firewall, and it exists in free, trial, and full commercial versions. It is quite easy to set up and use, and the free version represents a good starting point for private users wishing to try a good quality firewall at minimum cost. All versions of this program are reasonably easy to set up.



Fig.1.29 Two optional extras are available

ZoneAlarm Pro will be used for this example, and this program has a few more facilities than the basic (free) version.

Figure 1.28 shows the initial window produced once the installation process has been completed. This simply explains that there are a few



Fig.1.30 Here you select the level of alerts that will be produced



Fig.1.31 If required, the program can be password protected

processes to complete before the program is ready for use. The options available at the next screen (Figure 1.29) are for two of Zone Alarm Pro's optional extras. One of these is a routine that blocks pop-up advertisements and third-party "spy" cookies. Pop-ups are now so widespread on the Internet that they have become a major nuisance. Apart from being irksome, they can slow down your Internet connection by increasing the amount of data that has to be downloaded. This can be a serious drag on your surfing if you do not have some form of broadband connection. A pop-up blocker is therefore a very useful feature.

Cache cleaning is the other option. Copies of many Internet files are kept on a PC so that they do not have to be downloaded again when the relevant pages are revisited. Anyone undertaking a lot of surfing is likely to end up with many megabytes of cached Internet files on their PC's hard disc. These files should eventually be removed by Windows, but the cache cleaner provides a neater solution by preventing a massive build-up from occurring in the first place.

Things then move on to a window (Figure 1.30) where you choose the types of Internet access that will produce alerts. You can opt to have an onscreen message appear when any access is blocked, or for no alerts to be issued. Note that the program will still continue to block Internet access as and when it sees fit, even if the alerts are completely switched



Fig.1.32 You can choose which programs are granted Internet access now or later

off. The middle option results in an alert being produced when the program considers that attempted access is probably the result of an attack by a hacker. This is the default option and is probably the pest choice.

The next window (Figure 1.31) enables the program to be password protected. This is only necessary if someone else has access to your PC. This is followed by the screen of Figure 1.32. Here ZoneAlarm lists programs that it thinks will need Internet access. The list will include the default browser and any other programs that are required for normal Internet access. By default, these programs will be given Internet access, but other programs will produce a warning message if they attempt to use the Internet. Access will then be allowed only if you give permission. You might prefer to choose which programs will be granted access during the setting up process rather than dealing with it later as programs try to access the Internet. As most programs do not require Internet access, it is probably easier to grant access as and when necessary.

The next window (Figure 1.33) gives the option of starting the program or viewing a quick tutorial. It is definitely a good idea to look at the tutorial, but it can be viewed at any time by running ZoneAlarm Pro and operating the Tutorial button.



Fig.1.33 You can start the program or view a tutorial



Fig.1.34 The program has detected a network, and it has to be configured so that Zone Alarm will permit tile sharing



Fig.1.35 The network can be enabled or blocked

## Network

The PC used for this demonstration has its Internet connection provided by a broadband modern that has a built-in router, with two other PCs connected to the router. This network was detected by Zone Alarm Pro (Figure 1.34), and the Network Configuration Wizard was launched. Remember that a firewall will block any network access, including the LAN (local area network) variety, unless instructed otherwise. At the next screen (Figure 1.35) you have the option of enabling this network or blocking it. Obviously it must be enabled in order to permit the system to go on working properly.

The window of Figure 1.36 enables the network to be given a name of you choice, or you can simply settle for the default name. The next window (Figure 1.37) simply shows the settings you have chosen and provides an opportunity to go back and changes them. Finally, the program is run (Figure 1.38). In normal use the program runs in the



Fig.1.36 Here you give the network a name or accept the default

Wizard Complete	EW ex
	ully-completed the Network Configuration Wizard The configured as shown;
Network;	thy inetwork
IP Adda ess:	168 168 0.0
Туре:	Private network
Zome:	Trusted Zone (File and print sharing allowed)
For man	a information on configuring network zones, see "About Network Zones" in the H
To close this wizard	chick Crowth

Fig.1.37 Use this window to review the selected settings



Fig.1.38 Finally, the program is operational

				WSTIP 1	3-B	EWOQUARS All Systems Active	-
	Firewall				(Man)	Zours	E aperte
Overshew Firewall	The Rewal protects you train diright can be state to a factor of the state of the s	Contract Zano Social	Hipt:	Stealth mode. Your o and protected from he allowed. This setting the internet Zone.	schurs Shamg	te not	
Program Constat	To unled Zene For sharing with tracked contradiuty,	1213 × 1				-	-
Alexes & Loge Privacy E-mail Storection	Elecand Zone: For skalling out artin artist compilaters The internet Zone contains or of the computers on the Vieb by default. Use the Zures has to skell computers to the "number or	finited Zone Second	"Nedura	ishanng model" Comp yatir computer and sh This seriang is recom Trusted Zone anly.	are to resource		
	Morand Jone		_			Garden	
		Blocked Zone Seco		munication is slice of the	rough this Zone		
						hdreund	-

Fig.1.39 Here the Firewall tab has been operated



Fig.1.40 An alert produced by a program trying to access the Internet

background and it is only necessary to go to this screen if you need to make changes to the setup or view the statistics produced by the program.

Operating the Firewall tab switches the window to look like Figure 1.39, and the degree of security in each zone can then be adjusted via the slider controls. Unless there is good reason to change the setting for the Internet Zone, it should be left at High. The other tabs permit easy control of other aspects of the program, such as alerts (Figure 1.40). Therefore, if you find any of the initial settings unsatisfactory it is easy to change them.

In use it is likely that the program will initially query potential problems that are really just a normal part of PC's operation. In the example of Figure 1.40 an alert has been triggered by an image editing program trying to access the Internet. Although there is no obvious reason for such a program requiring the Internet, many programs these days use the Internet to regularly look for program updates. Operate the Yes button to permit Internet access or the No button to block it. Tick the checkbox if you would like this answer to be used automatically each time the program tries to access the Internet.



Fig.1.41 This alert was produced by an adware component

Sometimes the alert will genuinely find something that is amiss. In Figure 1.41 the alert shows that a file called msbb.exe has tried to access the Internet. Some delving on the Internet revealed that this is part of the Ncase adware program, which was supposedly uninstalled from the PC a few weeks earlier. Clearly it had not been successfully uninstalled, and some further work was needed in order to banish it from the system.

Internet security can be a bit irksome, and it is something that all of us would probably rather just ignore. Further security measures are needed when wi-fi links are added to a network, and this subject is covered in chapter 4. Unfortunately, security is an issue that no Internet user can afford to ignore these days, and it something that network users really must take seriously.

#### Points to remember

Over the years many types of interface have been used for networking. These days the only interface commonly used for networking PCs is the Ethernet type, which is also known as a 10/100 network interface. The two figures in the 10/100 name refer to the speeds (in Mbits per second) of the original and current versions of this interface.

Many PCs now have a built-in Ethernet port as standard, but this facility is easily added to a desktop PC. It is just a matter of fitting a PCI Ethernet expansion card. It is also possible to obtain USB Ethernet adapters for use with desktop and portable PCs. Note that a USB 2.0 adapter is needed in order to utilise the full speed of the Ethernet interface.

If you add a PCI Ethernet or wi-fi card to a PC, take the necessary precautions to avoid damaging anything with static charges. A few simple handling precautions are all that is needed to avoid problems.

A network can use wi-fi for every link, but this is unlikely to be the most practical solution. For short links a wired connection using Ethernet ports will cost less, provide faster transfers, and give better security.

The most basic network consists of two PCs linked via their Ethernet ports. This requires a "crossed" cable and not the more usual "straight" type. In order to network more than two computers it is necessary to have a router, with the Ethernet port of each PC connected to the router by way of a "straight" cable.

It is not necessary to buy any software in order to implement a basic but useful network. The built-in networking facilities of Windows permit files, folders, or even complete discs to be shared. It is also possible to for a printer connected to one PC to be used by other PCs in the network.

Some printers can be connected direct to the network and used by any PC in the system. This facility is not available using low-cost printers,

but it is sometimes available as an option. Any printer can converted into a network type by using it with a device called a "printer server".

It is possible to share the Internet connection of one PC via the network. In practice this is not a very good way of doing things though. If the PC that has the Internet connection is switched off, all the other PCs in the network lose their Internet connection. The PC connected to the modem acts as a kind of router, and this can be a significant drain on its resources.

Using a broadband modern connected to a router (or a single unit that combines both functions) provides an always-on Internet connection for every PC in the network. It does so without increasing the workload of any PC in the system, and need not cost very much.

Antivirus programs are of limited use against hackers. In order to keep hackers at bay it is essential to use either or software or hardware firewall. Ideally, both should be used if you have some form of broadband connection, especially if it is of the "always on" variety.

# Going wi-fi

## Why wireless?

Back in the early days of radio it was apparently quite common for a non-technical person on seeing all the wires inside a set to ask why it was called a "wireless". A wireless network lives up to its name rather better than the early radio sets. There might be a short lead from the back of a PC to a box of electronics on the top, but many wi-fi setups have no wiring worth mentioning. For many users this is really the only advantage of the wi-fi approach, but for most it is a major plus point. A short lead from a computer to a router or other piece of networking equipment is not difficult to implement, particularly if the two pieces of equipment are on the same desk. No do-it-yourself skills are likely to be required.

The situation is very different when the items to be linked are on opposite sides of the room. An "off the shelf" lead is all that is needed to connect the two pieces of equipment, but keeping the lead tucked away discretely out of sight is more difficult. This is not just a matter of making things look pretty, and there is the safety aspect to consider. A lead placed where people keep tripping over is obviously unsafe, although in practice it is probably the networking equipment that is most likely to suffer. It becomes increasing difficult to keep things neat and safe as more equipment is added to the network. A certain amount of do-it-yourself ability is needed in order to install the wiring properly, but it is not too difficult to make a good job of it.

Installing the wiring becomes much more difficult when leads have to be run from one room to another. This type of thing is still within the abilities of the average handyman with an electric drill, but it is not everyone's "cup of tea". Also, it is not a practical proposition unless you are prepared to have holes for the cables drilled in the walls, floors, and ceilings. Apart from aesthetic considerations, having a house entwined with various networking cables could adversely affect its resale value. In the case of a listed building, it is unlikely that permission to install the wiring would be obtained.

#### 2 Going wi-fi

It is usually possible to use ready-made cables, but this could mean having to use some standard lengths that are substantially longer than you require. You then have to hide a few metres of cable safely out of the way where no one will trip over it. The bits and pieces needed to make your own custom cables are readily available, but this is a more difficult approach. Surprisingly perhaps, making your own cables can be relatively expensive when all the costs are taken into account.

## **Drawbacks**

Having the longer links provided by wi-fi equipment has a huge advantage for most network users, but there are a few disadvantages to take into account when considering the wi-fi option. The obvious one is the higher cost, although as technology becomes cheaper this becomes a less significant drawback. At the time of writing this book the additional cost is still significant, although for slower wi-fi equipment it is becoming much less of an issue. It is a matter of pricing the various options and making your own subjective assessment with the prices prevailing at the time. With a typical home or small business network there will often be just one or two links that could really benefit from a wireless connection, which should help to keep the additional cost well within reason.

The relatively slow speed of wireless systems is another potential drawback. Although a wired network has a notional speed of 10 or 100 megabits per second, in the real world any equipment you use will support the higher rate. A modern Ethernet system therefore works at 100 megabits per second and you can forget the lower rate. You will never use it. Wi-fi systems normally operate at 11 or 54 megabits per second.

In practice, even a transfer rate of 11 megabits per second could be perfectly adequate. For many users, the point of networking a system is to share a broadband Internet connection. A standard ADSL connection operates with a download rate of 512 kilobits (0.512 megabits) per second, with an upload rate of just half that figure. Even allowing for inefficiencies in the systems, both types of wi-fi link can easily handle the sharing of an ADSL broadband Internet connection. Some broadband connections operate at higher rates of one or two megabits per second, but this is still well within the capabilities of wi-fi equipment.

Wi-fi connections are also perfectly adequate for some types of file sharing. It is popular to use a home network to permit music files stored on one computer to be played on another PC in the system. Music files generally operate at about 64 to 256 kilobits per second, with a few operating at up to about 512k per second. This is again well within the capabilities of a wi-fi connection. Many of the videos played on PCs use a similar bit rate, but high quality video requires higher rates that could stretch a wi-fi system. This is not of significance to most home and small business users though.

The speed of a wi-fi system is likely to be sluggish when transferring large files or large numbers of files from one PC to another. In theory it is possible for a system operating at 11 megabits per second to transfer more than one megabyte of data a second, but in practice the transfer rate could be little more than half this rate. To transfer 500 megabytes of data would therefore take at least eight minutes, and could well take closer to 15 minutes. For this type of thing transfers at 54 megabits per second are preferable, enabling 500 megabytes of data to be transferred in around one and a half to three minutes. A wired network would complete the task in little more than half the time, but would still be something less than instant.

## Range

Although, on the face of it, a wi-fi link is more than adequate for most users, there is a "fly in the ointment" that should not be overlooked. The quoted speeds for wi-fi equipment are the highest that can be achieved, and they require quite strong signal levels. Do not be misled by the ranges quoted for wi-fi equipment, which are often something like 100 metres, and in some cases much higher figures are quoted. A useable signal may be obtained at a range as large as 100 metres, but only with clear air between the aerials. Where longer ranges are quoted, these are usually for operation at speeds well below the maximum transfer rate.

When using a wi-fi link from one room to another there will inevitably be walls, floors, ceilings, and all-manner of obstructions between the aerials. How much (or little) effect these have on the signal strength is not totally predictable, and the only way to find out is to use a "suck it and see" approach. Buildings that have large amounts of metal in their structure can be problematic, but a reasonable operating range should otherwise be obtained. A range of 10 or 20 metres is usually possible, but at longer ranges the transfer rate is likely to be significantly less than notional 11 or 54 megabits per second.

When reduced speed is obtained, results should still be adequate for sharing a broadband Internet connection, audio files, etc., but a wired network would probably be a better choice for transferring large amounts of data. An unfortunate truism is that wi-fi equipment performs the worst

#### 2 Going wi-fi

in situations where it would be by far the most convenient solution. With a large distance plus walls and floors between the two units to be linked, using a connecting cable is very difficult. In this situation a wi-fi link is a much easier option that avoids the awkward wiring, but getting a strong signal is likely to prove difficult. In practice it is likely that many users will be prepared to put up with reduced speed in order to avoid the inconveniences of installing wiring.

## Security

Computer security has become a major issue in recent years. There seems to be a significant number of criminals continually thinking up new scams or finding ways of reworking old ones. The early viruses were produced by individuals who were really just showing off, and trying to show how clever they were. It has now become rather more sinister, with people trying to find ways of extracting money from companies or private individuals using what we now know as cyber crime. All Internet users now have to take security very seriously, but it is particularly important to the growing band of users that have a broadband connection.

You do not have to be a computer genius to see that using wi-fi links has the potential to let hackers "eavesdrop" on your network or even gain access to it. At the most basic level, anyone operating a wi-fi equipped PC within the range of your system could have free Internet access by way of your network and Internet connection. This would probably not matter a great deal if you have an unlimited broadband connection. The unwanted guest would effectively reduce the bandwidth of the Internet connection, but probably not to a significant degree.

Someone using your Internet connection could prove costly if you have capped access, where extra has to be paid if more than a certain amount is downloaded each month. Either way, are you really unconcerned about others gaining access to your network for a bit of freeloading? Most of us value our privacy and would prefer to keep the network totally closed to outsiders, even if they have no really sinister intent.

Of course, some hackers trying to enter the network might have a sinister motive. With no security measures in use, someone could potentially hack into your network and gain personal information stored on the system, or even steal passwords or other sensitive information. Unless the network is used for purely unimportant applications such as games or entertainment, it is essential to take steps to keep it secure. Even if the system is only used for trivia, you would presumably still prefer not to have strangers using your Internet connection and accessing your PC.

Security is covered in chapter 5, but it is worth making the point here that much wi-fi equipment will install very easily. Indeed, in some cases it requires no setup information at all from the user. However, equipment of this type is installed without any of the built-in security measures being implemented. There is a temptation to simply "let well alone", and not bother with implementing the security measures. With the network working well, why risk messing up the installation? Taking this attitude is definitely a mistake though, and it is a good idea to read the instruction manuals and get everything set up properly as soon as possible. Setting up a network to make it secure is quite simple and does not take long.

#### Interference

The range of frequencies available for use with wi-fi networks is quite narrow, but the allocation is broad enough to permit a number of channels to be accommodated. As will be explained later, there are actually two bands available for this type of equipment, and these are at frequencies near 2.4GHz and 5GHz. At present the vast majority of wi-fi devices operate in the 2.4GHz band, and this book is primarily about this type of wi-fi equipment.

Even though there are several channels, congestion is still a potential problem. This depends on where you live, and to some extent it is a matter of luck. I live in a part of the country that has quite a high population density, but my home wi-fi network has yet to detect any other users. Although the short range of this equipment is normally considered to be a drawback, in this context it is definitely an advantage. In fact a range of a few miles would render wi-fi networks unusable as in many areas interference from other networks would render most systems useless.

The short operating range largely avoids this problem in suburban and rural areas, but if you operate a wi-fi network in a town it is quite likely that you will find that you are not alone. Switching away from the default channel should avoid any major problems with interference from other systems. As wi-fi becomes more popular it could be difficult to find a totally clear channel in heavily built-up areas, giving a more limited operating range. Also, bear in mind that having several systems nearby could reduce the range somewhat even if they are not operating on the same channel as your system.

Many wi-fi users are probably under the impression that a band has been set aside specifically for wireless networking. Unfortunately, this is

#### 2 Going wi-fi

not the case, and wi-fi shares the 2.4GHz band with several other types of equipment. These include such things as some cordless phone systems, baby monitors, Bluetooth devices, video senders, cordless headphones, and even microwave ovens. These devices all add to the congestion, and can potentially block some channels completely. They also add to the general noise on the band and tend to limit the maximum operating range. Again, in suburban and rural areas any problems should be minimal, but performance could be seriously compromised in some parts of towns.

#### Hotspots

The lack of wires to connect the system together is the main reason for using a wi-fi setup, but it does have one or two additional advantages that should not be overlooked. If the system includes any laptop or other portable computers it would be normal to equip each of them with some form of wi-fi adapter. Apart from avoiding the need to fiddle with wires each time a portable devices is connected to or removed from the network, a wi-fi connection makes it possible to access the network from just about anywhere in the building. In fact it should be possible to connect to the network from the garden, or possibly even the shed or summerhouse at the bottom of the garden. You can therefore surf the Internet while outside in the garden on a fine summer evening.

In order to access the Internet it is not even necessary to return home, since wireless hotspots offer Internet access in numerous locations around the world. A wireless hotspot is a wireless access point (WAP) that connects to some form of Internet service. This will typically be a 512k ADSL broadband connection, but it could be some other type of broadband service. It should certainly be something much faster than an ordinary dialup connection, but bear in mind that you might have to share the service with other users, which could noticeably slow things down.

The idea is to have hotspots in restaurants, cafes, motorway service stations, hotels, trains, airports, or anywhere convenient for potential users. As one would expect, these services are not usually free, and the hourly connection rates are quite high. Even so, this method can be cost-effective for those requiring Internet access on the move. The speed of the connection is also likely to be much faster than the alternatives, which are unlikely to be significantly cheaper. Some hotspots are provided free of charge, so you might get lucky from time to time and obtain free Internet access.

#### Going wi-fi 2

File Bult Vene Fann				- 191 ·
NORME (C) POD //www	2 , Search North Streets affineda (2)	·		• (21 co. unis *
Gerger•	• Breard we • D State/tacked Vi	Auri Aliston /		
Ge ge*	WIFI	Accel - 40000 #  Accel - 40000#  Accel - 4000#  Accel - 4000#		
	United State two 140 index/535 www.vdf.426 we wants, has a Walf die per Infland o 1850	Type (optional) Al Lacations -	United States - 8466 United Kingdom -	
		P Free # Commercial Show Wi Fi Hut Spot Locations	3103 Japan - 1894 Canada - 575 Sweden - 417 Dermark - 399 Germany - 368 Hong Kong - 302	
			F	antes antes

Fig.2.1 The default is for a search of the United States

Hotspots are aptly named, and due to their very limited area of coverage it is important to be in the right place in order to access one. Simply being in the right general area is unlikely to be good enough. The number of hotspots is increasing all the time, and at the time of writing this there are well over one thousand of them in the London area. Even so, it is a good idea to locate potential hotspots before setting out on a journey. There is a very useful site at this address:

#### www.wifi411.com

It defaults to a search of the United States (Figure 2.1), but the menu near the top of the page enables the UK to be selected. Then the search can be refined further by using the other menus to select the appropriate part of the UK, and then a town within that area. It is also possible to select a particular network provider and a type of location (hotel, bus station, etc.). The checkboxes enable the search to be limited to either



Fig.2.2 A search has been set up for Southend on Sea

The state of the Property	where she have a set of contract would in given by before payloute	R
	na 19 – Farsteine og Marda – sa 👔 1941 i Genera je – bila - prije nale vedkozanit je - Nakoza 1226 ila o Sattline anter e Martina arty - Gale anter i akozi (na okore ostadowanit) po ježat	-
for me -	<ul> <li>Burner West # D Provide Automatics - Construction of the second state of</li></ul>	velope and -
	Constrained - Co	
	US locations Only: 25 a " extended of re- oprovide another to Unset of the Unset of the the second another to Unset of the second another the second another to be a second another to be a second another to be a second another to be a second another to be a second another to be a second another to be a second another to be a second another to be a to be a second another to be a second ano	
	Country Rindmar Kangdom el Metwork Al Memorie .	
	State:Province lingual Type All acidens	
	City Seatland On Sex - Service & Free & Commerce	
	Andre Services         Angle Antonization         Angle Anton	
	7 location(s) found, 1 page(s) for display (Results 3 - 7, page 3) • Have a WHF location you aligh to include in our Global WHF HorSpot Directory? Use nor quick and easy online WHFI HorSpot submit form. All HorSpot submissions are FREE and locations can be added quickly.	
	Fruind an error in our listings? Report 4 to us at guos@whik11.com	
	Spearworld (Job v al Nor Yay	
	Stating Style	100

Fig.2.3 The search located six hotspots in the town

(pr)	HOTSIPOT DIRECTO	arcenne Please Signers A	r Bacita	Contractions	
		United Hingdom 27to men hand			
		Bernationalin.e.n. dd			
	Received States	Warsten healte succession	*** (2	1 Nover 2014 March	
		Refuged Locations	Amores Pressies		
	Contraction of the second	Aller 10 manutes deur Angen Seuffenden des 101 1920 1940	2 peaklikes		
		ET clines Respire free: 1 Suffenders Die 191 JAN	Tprander		
	And the state	Desteine Nutberlage Explore for Conto Explore data the May I Stating 4	2 praétiers		
	Basic Bills	Contific Magnetic The Reducer Massid — 99 of SME Massid — 99 of SME	Tyrandar		
	GET THE LOWEST. INTERNET RATES GUARANTEED ON	Colorana Tao Sana Sandal ta Age (012 70) Mili Langarda	2 praiders		
	THESE HOTELS	Change field full Total and the Total and the full Autom of the Second Second Seco	1 punklor		
	BOOK	Enguines Antony Prime - Blad Prink Barlyshi Mesoray Canto Name - Relative SCO May - Relative	1 graneder		
	June Cr	New York	t prevides		

Fig.2.4 Some 22 results have been produced for the general Southend on Sea area

free or commercial access points, but the number of free services is so small that it is probably pointless to search for them alone.

A search for any access points in Southend on Sea (Figure 2.2) produced six results (Figure 2.3), with no less than five of these being part of the BT Openzone network. Four sites in the list are at cafes and restaurants, two are at payphones, and one is at a store owned by a well-known computer chain. The train and bus stations are conspicuously absent from the list, and as yet neither of these seem to be used much for wireless hotspots in the UK.

There are other hotspot search engines, and these two are well worth trying:

www.jiwire.com

www.hotspot-hotel.com

n/ste/inde sarch Web	-	607 biackes 😚	Autori Doptors	
Search				The Hot Spot Directory
and starts	Malipo • Acorda	Delacitity + Servi	res + Sign Elo + Cuntomer Disvirus Centre	Saluador, Any 26 2004
	<b>lofspol</b> Geolis dicetal to yea Geolis dicetal to yea	prease anser	He spot societions around the world Trash click on the calent between to view the altipote collect to you.	Where's my new ear BEOpenzone Hotspot? To view the hubble instead to you using the map intertance please data on the mac
te Name				
rest Name			STR.	252
DANK.			A GME	a d
ana Country,	·		V.V. Q	- Fr
udervelle.				the second
oundry:	AI	•		222
te Type	A4	*	View Service Provides index 🙆	form
ic' Type	A	-	View Country Index	
pervior	At	-		BT Openzone BT
On Poerry	Resel	and MotSpol		
A HIGH	or ( @ SQD4 HorSool )	C urina an		developed by sufficient

Fig.2.5 You have to register in order to use BT's hotspot site

The first of these is owned by Intel, and using it to search for hotspots in the Southend on Sea area produced an impressive 22 results (Figure 2.4). However, it actually searched a much wider area than the wifi411 search engine, and most of the sites listed were actually in nearby towns. The second site is owned by BT, and it is necessary to go through a free registration process in order to reach the search engine (Figure 2.5).

A conventional search engine is available in the left-hand section of the window, or you can use the maps to the right of this. Left-clicking the UK map first produces a larger map of the UK (Figure 2.6), and left-clicking on this produces a large-scale map of the selected area (Figure 2.7). It is then possible to obtain a scrollable street plan of that area (Figure 2.8) so that the locations of hotspots can be precisely identified. A list of the hotspots together with addresses is provided beneath the street plan.



Fig.2.6 Left-clicking the UK map produces this larger version

HotSpot Hotel - Microsoft Internet Explorer	
BT Openzone BT	The HotSpot Directory @
stoarre to the BT Ouendaine internative UK map, plasse select en en to view by clicking on the map	East
Y:	
B* Coentrone Hotspots	
BT Openzone Rowing Partner Holispote	
42	
- Bart	~ 1
Genuer- to the LBs Meo	Servering . From
	Sp
	f 1
	C AGAINTAN :
	) & Susters
	( /
	Burne " contrar e 2
	Line for
	- Jan &
	0-

Fig.2.7 You next select the region of interest



Fig.2.8 A scrollable street map shows the hotspots, which are also listed in the area beneath the map

# Roaming

You will probably encounter the term "roaming" when dealing with wireless hotspots. This can simply be a reference to the fact that you can literally roam with your laptop and still stay connected to the Internet, but remember that you can not roam far. At best you can only be about 100 metres from the hotspot's aerial, and the maximum range could well be much less than that.

More normally, this term refers to agreements between rival service providers that permit users of one service to go online using the equipment of another hotspot provider. Given the patchy coverage at present, this type of thing can make life much easier for users. However, the added convenience of roaming is likely to cost extra, where it is an option at all. At some locations it is possible to gain instant access to the hotspot by purchasing a voucher over-the-counter at the location. In other cases it is possible to sign up and pay online using a credit or debit card.

## Standards

Computer standards have tended to be something of a joke in the past. Standards have not only been a problem in the world of computing. The electronics industry in general has experienced problems with competing standards, which inevitably results in many people buying gadgets that soon become obsolete. In fact competing standards can ultimately kill the product, producing a situation where there are no winners and plenty of losers.

An additional problem with computer standards is that manufacturers have tended to "do their own thing" rather than rigidly adhering to agreed standards. It is difficult to understand why a manufacturer would release a product that does not strictly adhere to the rules, but this was quite common in the past. Possibly it was the result of cost cutting, or perhaps it was just poor design work that was to blame. Anyway, even something as basic as trying to get a printer to work properly with a serial or parallel port used to be very difficult. Although "off the shelf" leads were usually available, ready-made leads often proved to be inadequate.

Fortunately, the situation has improved somewhat over the years, and wi-fi is certainly free from many of the problems associated with wired interfaces. Inevitably though, there is more than one standard to contend with. The wireless networking equipment in common use conforms to the standards laid down by the Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, or the IEEE as it is more commonly called. All the wi-fi equipment falls within the 802.11 standard, but there are three versions of it (802.11a, 802.11b, and 802.11g). Table 1 summarises the important differences between the three 802.11 standards.

The ranges quoted here are theoretical, and would probably not be obtained in practice. These are the maximum ranges at the maximum operating speed, and longer ranges can be achieved at lower speeds. Bear in mind that ranges quoted for operation outdoors assume that there is clear air between the aerials. Walls, fences, and other solid objects between the aerials, particularly if they are made from metal, will substantially reduce the range.

I tried operating a 802.11b link between two systems about 100 metres apart, hoping that there would be a sufficiently strong signal to permit one system to use the broadband Internet connection of the other. In practice the two systems remained oblivious to each other, with neither system picking up a discernable signal from the other. There were a few trees and other obstructions between the two aerials, and that was sufficient to shield each aerial from the other unit's signal. The only way

#### 2 Going wi-fi

## Table 1

Standard	802.11a	802.11b	802.11g
Maximum speed	54Mbits/s	11Mbits/s	54Mbits/s
Real-world speed	20Mbits/s	4.5Mbits/s	20Mbits/s
Range (outdoors)	30 metres	120 metres	50 metres
Range (indoors)	12 metres	60 metres	20 metres
Band	5GHz	2.4GHz	2.4GHz
Users	64	32	32
Total UK channels	8	13	13
Separate channels	8	3	3
Compatibility	-	802.11g	802.11b
Wi-fi certified	Yes	Yes	Yes

to find the maximum usable operating range is to try it and see, but slightly pessimistic forecasts are usually the most accurate.

As already explained, the maximum range indoors is heavily dependent on the type and number of obstructions between the two aerials. A couple of plasterboard walls are unlikely to have much effect on the range, but a few substantial brick walls could massively reduce it. A large metal radiator in the wrong place could totally block the signal. In difficult surroundings, 802.11b equipment probably offers the greatest chance of providing useable results.

## **5GHz band**

802.11a equipment has the advantage of not operating in the overused 2.4GHz band, and it also permits twice as many users per access point. However, for a home or small business network it is unlike that more than 32 users will need to use an access point. There are some drawbacks to 802.11a equipment, and probably the most important one for most potential users is that the cost is much higher than for equivalent 802.11b and 802.11g equipment.

The economics of networking are at least as capricious as those for other aspects of computing, but at the time of writing this, opting for 802.11a equipment means paying more than twice as much for the
privilege. Another important factor to bear in mind is that there is relatively little 802.11a equipment available, although choice and availability should improve in due course. Because 802.11a equipment operates on a different band, it is totally incompatible with the other two standards. 802.11b and 802.11g equipment can be freely mixed, but transfers will obviously be at the lower rate if one unit in a link is of the 802.11b variety.

Note that it is possible to obtain 802.11a equipment that is compatible with the other two standards. However, this compatibility is presumably obtained by combining 802.11a and 802.11g gadgets in a single box. As one would expect, the extra hardware required tends to make these units relatively expensive. They are extremely versatile though.

## Channels

On the face of it, the 802.11a standard provides fewer channels than the other two standards. In reality it is actually better, since its eight channels do not overlap, and they are genuine channels. The 13 channels of the other two systems overlap to some extent, so significant interference between units operating on adjacent channels is quite possible. In fact the channel overlap problem is so great that it is only possible to have three totally separate channels. Together with its operation on the 5GHz band, this makes 802.11a equipment a safer choice in areas where there is severe congestion.

## Wi-fi Alliance

In theory, equipment manufactured to conform to one of the three IEEE standards should work perfectly with any other equipment designed to meet the same standard (or a compatible one). In reality it is never as simple as this with such complex technology, and there have been incompatibility issues in the past. In some cases the level of performance obtained was below expectations, and in extreme cases no useable link was obtained.

The Wi-fi Alliance was formed in 1999, and its purpose was to certify that wi-fi equipment fully conformed to the appropriate standard and would operate properly with any equipment of the same or a compatible standard. A certified 802.11g access point should therefore operate perfectly with any certified 802.11b or 802.11g wireless adapter. Wi-fi certified equipment carries the Wi-fi logo, and it should also have a badge of approval (Figure 2.9). The badge shows which standard or standards



Fig.2.9 A typical certification badge

the equipment is compatible with, and it also indicates whether it has protected access. In other words, it shows whether the equipment has built-in security measures to keep unauthorised users out of the system.

Is it essential to obtain equipment that has wi-fi certification? In theory it is safer to do so, but the fact that a unit lacks certification does not necessarily mean that it lacks full compatibility with the relevant standard. In fact, such equipment is likely to be perfectly usable. The wi-fi badge of approval is not as common as one might expect, and there is plenty of good quality equipment available that does not sport the wi-fi logo. On checking a mixture

of "big name" and generic wi-fi units I found that very few had the badge of approval.

The cost of gaining approval has certainly deterred some manufacturers from seeking certification for their products. Added costs are obviously unwelcome when making any products, but they are particularly unhelpful when producing cheap generic devices. There is little chance of obtaining approved products if you take the cheap generic route, and customer support is often poor or nonexistent with these units. On the plus side, generic products are almost certain to be based on exactly the same chips as equivalents from the well-known companies.

For those with limited experience of dealing with computer hardware it is probably better to opt for equipment from one of the well-known manufacturers such as Netgear, Belkin, US Robotics, and 3Com. If the equipment is from a respected company and it also has certification, so much the better. If it does not have certification, at least there should be a proper customer support service to get things sorted out, and you are protected by your statutory rights.

## **Bluetooth**

There is a common misconception that Bluetooth and wi-fi equipment are the same, or that they are to some extent compatible. The confusion is perhaps understandable, since Bluetooth equipment uses the same 2.4GHz band as most wireless networking equipment, and its function is

much the same. It provides a wireless link between two pieces of electronic equipment. Despite the superficial similarities, the purpose of Bluetooth is very different to that of wi-fi equipment.

Wi-fi is an extension of the Ethernet networking system, and when using wi-fi equipment you have what is essentially an Ethernet based network. A typical wifi network will include some wired connections using standard Ethernet



Fig.2.10 Bluetooth is used for a wide range of products, including headsets

ports and cables. Bluetooth is not intended for networking, although it could probably be used to provide networking. Using Bluetooth equipment in this fashion would be doing things the hard way though, and wi-fi equipment performs this task much more efficiently.

The real purpose of Bluetooth is to link two devices, and it is a generalpurpose system which is designed to accommodate practically any two pieces of equipment that could be usefully linked. Bluetooth is used for such things as connecting a computer to a printer, a laptop PC to a desktop computer, and a notebook PC to a mobile phone. It can even be used for a non-digital application such as cordless headphones and hands-free headsets (Figure 2.10).

Wireless links have been used with PCs for many years in the form of IrDA infrared links. The main problem with the infra-red approach was

#### 2 Going wi-fi

that it was basically just a short range line of sight system, although for many purposes this was perfectly adequate. When uploading from a digital camera or a laptop computer to a PC for example, the two devices would probably be more or less side-by-side anyway. Another limitation of IrDA is that it is based on a standard serial port, and it has the relatively low bit rates associated with this type of port. The maximum transfer rate is usually about 115kbits (0.115Mbits) per second, and in some cases is much less than this.

Bluetooth is designed to be a sort of universal version of an IrDA link, with a higher level of performance. It is designed to operate with low levels of power consumption, making it suitable for use with small portable devices such as phones and palmtop PCs. With a maximum transfer speed of only about 1Mbit per second, Bluetooth is not particularly fast by modern computing standards. It is only about one tenth as fast as an 802.11b link for instance. The transfer speed is adequate for many purposes though, and it is nearly ten times faster than an IrDA link.

The range of a Bluetooth device is about 10 metres, and because it uses a radio link rather than infrared, the signal is able to pass through many types of object. It can be blocked by large pieces of metal though. It is possible to obtain signal repeaters that can boost the range to 100 metres, but Bluetooth is normally used in applications where a range of 10 metres is adequate.

Although Bluetooth devices have a very short operating range, they still need security measures in order to keep hackers at bay. Security measures are built into the system, and Bluetooth gadgets have unique identifying codes that can be used to prevent any unauthorised use. For instance, a Bluetooth mobile phone could be set up so that it would only connect to the Internet when used with your own Pocket PC.

## **Piconet**

When Bluetooth devices lock-on to each others' signals they form what is termed a piconet, or a small network in other words. One gadget initiates contact, and this is the master device. This unit negotiates all data transfer paths between devices in the network, and there can be up to seven slave units in addition to the master. In practice it is unlikely that eight units would be networked using Bluetooth, and in most cases it is used with just two devices. However, it could be used in a situation such as a Bluetooth enabled printer being fed from several PCs. Any Bluetooth device has the wherewithal to control a piconet, and the master – slave relationship has to be flexible so that the equipment can adjust to suit practically any situation. With a simple swap of data between two devices, the one that initiates the connection becomes the master device. Any other units that join the piconet will automatically operate as slaves.

This simple scheme of things does not suit all situations, and it would not work in the printer setup mentioned previously. The first computer to access the printer would become the master unit, but for this network to operate properly it is necessary for the printer to always be the master device. This enables the printer to properly control the flow of print jobs. The way around this is for a master device to be temporarily demoted to slave status when it links with a device that must have master status.

## Channels

Bluetooth uses the same 2.4GHz band as 802.11b and 802.11g wi-fi units, but the channelling is arranged differently. The lower bit rate of Bluetooth permits a larger number of channels to be accommodated, and there are some 79 separate channels. There is no need to select a channel, since a system of channel hopping is used. Devices "hop" 1600 times a second in an attempt to avoid conflicts.

The system used with Bluetooth is called Adaptive Frequency Hopping (AFH), and it is designed to avoid interference from any devices that use the 2.4GHz band, and not just other Bluetooth equipment. As signals within the band come and go, Bluetooth devices will adapt to the changing situation in an attempt to make the best possible use of any free channels.

Bluetooth had quite a long gestation period, and when first launched its level of take-up was somewhat underwhelming. It is backed by the Bluetooth Special Interest Group (www.bluetooth.com), which has over 2000 members including huge companies such as Intel and IBM. It is gaining in popularity, but has yet to achieve its creators' aim of becoming a worldwide standard for short-range communications without cables. It seems likely that it will do so in due course.

Incidentally, Bluetooth is named after a Harold Bluetooth Gormson. He is not one of the brains behind the system, but was in fact the monarch of Demark just over a thousand years ago. Apparently, he managed the difficult task of uniting two Baltic states, which seems to a rather tenuous link to modern wireless technology.

#### 2 Going wi-fi

### Points to remember

The main advantage of wireless networking is the obvious one of avoiding the need to thread cables around the house or office. This is a huge advantage for a home system where unsightly cables are deemed to be unacceptable, or where adding cables is simply not allowed for some reason.

The ranges quoted for wi-fi systems have to be taken with the proverbial "pinch of salt". The quoted ranges might be achieved in practice, but typical operating ranges seem to be somewhat less than the specifications would suggest. Operation is still possible with low signal strengths, but not at anything like the full quoted transfer rate.

Inefficiencies in the system mean that data can not be transferred at the quoted rates. In practice it is likely that the actual rate will be a little under half the quoted figure. Note also that the rates are in bits per second, not bytes per second. Divide speed figures by eight in order to obtain a transfer rate in bytes per second.

There is only one standard for wi-fi equipment, which is the IEEE 802.11 standard. However, matters are complicated by having three different versions of it (802.11a, 802.11b, and 802.11g). While the 802.11a equipment has potential advantages, it relatively expensive, difficult to obtain, and is incompatible with the other two.

It is 802.11b and 802.11g equipment that are used in most home and small office wi-fi systems. The faster 802.11g equipment is compatible with the 802.11b variety, but when a link uses the two types of equipment it obviously operates at the slower rate.

Bear in mind that it might be easy to set up a wireless network by simply accepting the defaults, but doing so will almost certainly leave the system wide open to hackers. Modern wi-fi equipment has built-in security measures, and it is import to protect your system by ensuring that these are properly set up.

The short operating range helps to avoid problems with interference due to there being too many wi-fi users in the vicinity, but it is still a potential problem in heavily built-up areas. The problem is worse with 802.11b and 802.11g equipment which has fewer non-overlapping channels, and shares the 2.4GHz band with other types of equipment.

A wi-fi equipped laptop or notebook PC can be used to access wireless hotspots at cafes, libraries, computer shops, etc. With a few exceptions, use of wireless hotspots is not free though. The cost of access can be quite high, but the same is true of the alternatives. The download speed when using hotspots is usually quite, and is typical via a 512k or 1024k ADSL Internet connection.

Many wi-fi equipment manufacturers now have their devices approved by the Wi-fi Alliance, but some do not bother. It is obviously reassuring to have approved equipment in your wireless network, but gadgets from any of the large manufacturers should have full compatibility with the relevant standards. As always, cheap generic equipment is a bit more risky and often lacks worthwhile customer support.

Bluetooth is not used for true networking, and is not really an alternative to 802.11 wi-fi equipment. It can be used for something like wireless printer sharing, but in most cases it is only used to provide a link between two devices such as a notebook PC and a mobile phone. It has a relatively low maximum data transfer rate of 1Mbits per second, but this is adequate for many tasks.

2 Going wi-fi

## Practical wi-fi

## **Getting connected**

Any computer that will be connected to the network via a wireless link must be equipped with a wi-fi adapter of some kind. The available options depend on the type of PC, but for a desktop type the main options are a USB wireless adapter or a PCI type. Provided a spare USB port is available, the USB option is the easier to install. Some of these units are similar in appearance to the popular USB pen drives that contain flash memory, and a few of these devices do actually combine the two functions of wi-fi adapter and pen drive. The example shown in Figure 3.1 is purely a wi-fi adapter, which is the more usual approach. There is normally no outward sign of an aerial with these units, as it is contained within the plastic case.



Fig.3.1 A Surecom 802.11b USB adapter



Fig.3.2 Using a USB extension cable enables the position of a USB wi-fi adapter to be adjusted easily

The adapter can be plugged straight into a USB port of the PC, or connected via a USB extension lead. Using any unit of this type directly plugged into a USB port is convenient, but it leaves the device vulnerable to damage. The risks are probably greater when the device is used with a heavy desktop PC. If someone should happen to knock against the adapter it is possible that the PC will remain in place and that the adapter will give way. This would probably render it unusable, and repairs are usually uneconomic with low-cost units such as these adapters.

I prefer to use a short extension cable with any small USB gadgets. In the current context this method has the added advantage of permitting the adapter to be moved slightly, which can be useful if a "blind" spot is giving problems with poor performance. Note that it is not a normal A to B USB cable that is required, but an A to A extension lead. This has the larger A type socket at one end and an A type plug at the other (Figure 3.2).

USB wi-fi adapters are also available in the form of a small box that sits on top of the PC and connects to the USB port via a short cable. Figure 3.3 shows a neat unit of this type made by Netgear. This type of adapter is connected to the USB port via a standard A to B cable, and the rear of



Fig.3.3 This Netgear adapter connects to the PC using an ordinary (A to B) USB cable

the unit has the smaller B type USB connector (Figure 3.4). This is the type of cable this is used with scanners, printers, and most other USB gadgets, but a suitable lead is normally supplied with the adapter.

This style of wireless network adapter tends to be more expensive than the type that is designed to plug straight into a USB port, but one reason for this is that many of them are 302.11g devices. The cheap "pen drive" adapters are 802.11b devices. An advantage of the box and lead style adapters is that, as standard, the box part can be easily repositioned in order to find the position that gives optimum results. This is a definite advantage for an adapter that will be used with a desktop PC, but the



Fig.3.4 The USB socket on the rear of the unit

pen drive type units are probably a better choice for use with portable PCs.

## Speed

802.11b adapters usually have a USB 1.1 port, but they will work perfectly well with USB 2.0 ports. On the face of it, a USB 1.1 port is adequate for an 802.11b adapter. since it operates at more or less the same maximum speed as

the adapter. In practice it is not quite as simple as that, because USB 1.1 only permits a single device to use half of the available bandwidth. This ensures that one device can not hog all the bandwidth to the detriment of the others. Unfortunately, it also means that USB 1.1 wi-fi adapters might not operate quite as fast as expected, although any shortfall is likely to be quite small.

There is little point in using USB 1.1 for an 802.11g adapter, because the speed of the USB port would be far too low to accommodate the transfer rates possible with the adapter. It is possible to use an 802.11g adapter with a USB 1.1 port if that is all that is available, but data transfers will be limited by the relative slowness of the USB port. USB 2.0 can handle bit rates well above the 54Mbits per second of the 802.11g standard. In fact USB 2.0 can handle rates of up to 480Mbits per second. An 802.11g USB adapter should therefore be capable of operating at full speed with a USB 2.0 port.

Note that it is possible to add USB 2.0 ports to a desktop PC that is only equipped with USB 1.1 ports. It is just a matter of adding a PCI expansion card that is has what will typically be two or four USB 2.0 ports. The generic card shown in Figure 3.5 has four ports and costs only a few pounds. Of course, the PC must have at least one spare PCI expansion slot, but this will not be a problem with most PCs. Windows XP is designed to operate with USB 2.0 ports, but Windows ME is not. However, provided



Fig.3.5 This PCI card provides four USB 2.0 ports

you are careful to obtain a card that is supplied with drivers for Windows ME, it should work perfectly well with this operating system.

## Hubs

Many PC users augment the two built-in USB ports of their PCs using a PC hub, such as the unit shown in Figure 3.6. This plugs into one of the existing USB ports and effectively splits it to provide extra ports. The hub shown in Figure 3.6 has four ports, but taking into account the port on the PC that it occupies, it provides only three extra ports. A simple hub of this type works well with many devices, but it is less than ideal for gadgets that obtain their power from the USB port. By splitting a single port into three or four ports, the amount of power available from each of these ports is reduced.



Fig.3.6 This passive USB 1.1 hub has four ports

Particularly with USB 1.1 ports, which can supply less power than the USB 2.0 variety, this can result in devices failing to work when used with a simple hub. On plugging in the device, Windows responds with an apologetic message explaining that the hub can not provide sufficient current to power the device you have just connected. 802.11 adapters are not low-power devices, and will probably fail to work if connected via a hub.

The easiest solution is to use a powered hub, which has its own mains power supply unit and does not draw any power from the PC's USB port. A unit of this type should be able to supply the full quota of power to each of its USB ports, and it enables USB devices to be used without increasing the drain on the PC's power supply. The main problem with a powered hub is that you have the hub itself, plus what is invariably an external mains power supply unit to power it. With two extra boxes and a lot of wiring, it is not a particularly neat solution. Where possible, it is better to provide extra USB ports using a PCI expansion card.

A USB 1.1 hub will normally work with a USB 2.0 port, but the additional ports are of the slower USB 1.1 variety. In effect, you a converting one



Fig.3.7 A PCI w-fi adapter complete with aerial

fast USB port into several slower ones. This might suit your requirements, but it is better to leave you options open by using a USB 2.0 hub with a USB 2.0 port. A USB 2.0 hub will normally work with a USB 1.1 port, but it will only provide USB 1.1 ports.

## **PCI** adapter

In some ways a wi-fi PCI card (Figure 3.7) is a neater solution than using any form of USB wi-fi adapter. Apart from the aerial, everything is kept within the main housing of the PC. This avoids having to use a lead or having the adapter protruding well out from the rear of the PC. These days most PCs have a free PCI expansion slot, but USB ports soon seem to be used up.

There are drawbacks as well though, and one of them is that the aerial is not placed in a favourable position. It is in amongst the leads at the rear of the PC. Even if you can manage to keep most of the leads away from



Fig.3.8 A PCI wi-fi card and a tower case is not a good combination

the aerial, it will still be very close to the metal case (Figure 3.8). This situation is considerably less than ideal, and is likely to compromise results Matters are compounded by the fact that repositioning the aerial to avoid a "blind" spot means moving the entire base unit

There is a possible solution, but this is dependent on the aerial having a standard fitting and being detachable from the card. Most PCI adaptors do have a standard connector for the aerial, which is easily unscrewed from the card (Figure

3.9). Figure 3.10 shows a close-up of the connectors on the card and the aerial. Note that it is usually necessary to temporarily dismount the aerial so that the card can be installed in the PC.

One way of using the aerial away from the rear of the PC is to use an extension cable. An alternative is to obtain a new aerial complete with cable. The second method is likely to be much more expensive, but it might be possible to obtain an aerial that has a built-in stand so that it is easily mounted on top of a PC, on a desktop, etc. Unfortunately, aerials and extension cables are less widely available than the wi-fi adapters themselves, and they seem to be relatively expensive.

The obvious way of adding a wi-fi adapter is to have a device that connects to a standard Ethernet port. Strangely, I have not encountered a simple adapter that uses this method, although more complex wi-fi devices do use this method of interfacing. There is a drawback to using an Ethernet port for a wi-fi adapter, which is that it is not possible to draw power from



Fig.3.9 The aerial can be unscrewed from the card



Fig.3.10 Close-up of the connectors on the aerial and the PCI card



Fig.3.11 A PC card is a popular way of adding a wi-fi adapter to laptop and notebook PCs

this type of port. This would make it necessary to have a mains adapter to power the device, which would be less convenient than drawing power from the PC. Of course, no adapter is needed for PCI or USB wi-fi adapters.

## PC card

Some notebook and laptop PCs are now equipped with a wi-fi adaptor as standard, and it is a feature of portable PCs that use Intel's Centrino technology. It is still more usual for any networking capability to be in the form of an ordinary Ethernet port though, although this may change in due course. PCI wi-fi adapters are not useable with portable PCs, but modern laptop and notebook PCs usually have a USB port. This port should work perfectly well with any USB wi-fi adapter. The other option, and probably the more popular one, is to use a "PC" (PCMCIA) card (Figure 3.11). This simply slots into the PCMCIA expansion slot of the portable computer. The aerial is built into the card. Many small computing devices such as PDAs and Pocket PCs can have wi-fi now connectivity, but you really need to investigate what options (if any) are available for your particular devices. The most common ploy is to have a Compact Flash (CF) card that is actually a wi-fi adapter, such as the Netgear card shown in Figure 3.12. Secure Digital wi-fi cards are also available. Of course. not every gadget that



Fig.3.12 This Netgear CF card is actually a wi-fi adapter

takes one of these memory cards can use the wi-fi versions, so it is important to check compatibility with your portable equipment before buying anything.

## Access point

Fitting a PC with a wi-fi adapter gives the wireless equivalent of a PC that has an Ethernet port and a network cable, but with nothing at the other end of the cable. In order to produce a functioning network it is necessary to have a device that will act as a control centre and merge the individual PCs into a proper network. This device is known by a variety of names, but it is mostly called a "base station" or an "access point". The term "access point" is probably the one that is used the most in the UK, and it is the one that will be used in this book.

The exact function of the access point varies somewhat, as it is often merged with other functions such as an ADSL modem to provide an Internet gateway. However, its core function is always to avoid chaos and ensure that each device in the system communicates with the others in an orderly fashion. It receives transmissions from devices in the system and distributes them to the network.

#### 3 Practical wi-fi

Apparently it is possible to use a PC with a wi-fi adapter as an access point if the PC is equipped with a suitable program. This method seems to be little used in home and small business networks though, and it is not a setup that I have ever used. The more usual approach is to have the access point in the form of a standalone unit, leaving the PCs in the system free to get on with other things.

## Ad Hoc

It is not essential to use an access point, and two wi-fi equipped PCs that can receive each others signals can establish a network in what is called "Ad Hoc mode". This is the wi-fi equivalent of two PCs being connected together using their Ethernet ports and a crossed-over cable. The wi-fi version is actually more versatile in that it enables easy communication between any two PCs that are within range, and no cable swapping is required. However, proper networking effectively provides a simultaneous connection between every unit in the system, and is even more versatile. Although it is not without attractions, the Ad Hoc method of networking is inferior to using an access point, and is little used in practice.

Note that when installing and setting up a wi-fi adapter it might be necessary to specify the mode of operation that you wish to use. The adapter's control software then seeks signals from the appropriate type of wi-fi unit. With Ad Hoc mode selected, the software searches for signals from other wi-fi adapters, and will only communicate with that type of unit.

The other mode is called Infrastructure mode, and it is used to implement full networking. Infrastructure mode can only be facilitated with the aid of an access point. Some wi-fi adapters start in what is effectively Ad Hoc mode so that they can search for and list all the available wi-fi signals. By default they will probably connect to and use any access point that is found. As always, it is necessary to read the supplied documentation in order to determine the exact way in which the equipment operates.

As pointed out previously, the main advantage of using Infrastructure mode and an access point is that it enables communications between numerous devices to take place simultaneously. In effect, everything in the network is connected to everything else in the network all the time. In this respect it is the same as a wired network. With Ad Hoc working only two devices can be linked at any one time. Another advantage is that the access point can provide what is termed a "bridge". In other words, it can provide a bridge between wi-fi equipped devices and wired



Fig.3.13 A typical wi-fi network has one PC wired to the access point and a printer, with the other PCs networked using wi-fi

network devices. This is an important point, because few practical networks are purely of the wi-fi variety.

Of course, a wi-fi network can be purely that, with everything in the system communicating via radio links. No doubt there are many networks that perform very well using nothing but wi-fi links. In practice though, a totally wi-fi network is unlikely to be the best solution. With the access point on the same desk as one of the PCs, there is little point in using a wi-fi link between the two. A cable will do the job better and at a fraction of the price.

A typical wi-fi network would therefore use a setup of the type shown in Figure 3.13, with one PC wired to the access point and a printer, with the other PCs linked via wi-fi adapters. Apart from file sharing between the PCs in the system, it could also be set up to give all three PCs access to the printer. Obviously this arrangement can be modified to suit individual



Fig.3.14 A modern connected to the access point and router is the best way of sharing an Internet connection

requirements. For example, there could be other PCs close to the access point, and a wired link might be more practical for these PCs. On the other hand, it could be inconvenient to have the access point very close to any of the PCs in the system, and a fully wi-fi network could then be used.

## **Internet** gateway

The access point can act as a simple hub, but most users opt for a router, which is unlikely to cost much more. If the network will be used to share a broadband Internet connection, it is a good idea to obtain a router that has provision for a modern, or to obtain a router that has a built-in modern. It is not essential to do so, and a setup of the type shown in Figure 3.13 will permit the Internet connection of one PC to be shared.



Fig.3.15 The Netgear WGR614 wi-fi router

However, the modem connects to one of the PCs in the system, and it will only be available if that PC is switched on. The PC connected to the modem becomes a form of router, and handling this task will use a significant proportion of its processing power. A modem connected to a router, or a modem combined in one unit with a router is a much better way of handling things, and any extra cost involved should be minimal.

Things are different with the network of Figure 3.14, where the modem and router would normally be left running 24 hours per day. Any PC in the network can then access the modem via the router regardless of whether any of the other PCs are switched on. Sharing the Internet connection in this fashion does not increase the loading on any PC in the network. The access point and router handle the extra workload of sharing the connection. A combined modem and router usually includes additional facilities such as NAT and a firewall, and it provides what is termed an "Internet gateway". Some of these facilities might be provided by a separate modem and router, but the integrated approach is neater and generally provides the most features.

Using separate units is an attractive proposition if you already have either the modem or the router. This method will only work if the modem and the router are designed to use the same type of interface. This usually

#### 3 Practical wi-fi

means an Ethernet port rather than a USB type. Consequently, if you already have a broadband modern that uses a USB interface it might not be possible to use it in this arrangement. It is certainly worth checking to see what is available, since networking gadgets with new features are appearing all the time. On the other hand, the cost of combined moderns and routers has fallen substantially in recent times, and buying one of these units will probably be well worth the small additional outlay.

## Wi-fi routers

The Netgear WGR614 wi-fi router (Figure 3.15) is an example of a device that is designed to operate using an external ADSL or cable modem. The rear of this unit is shown in Figure 3.16, and the socket on the extreme left-hand side is for the mains adapter. This unit is fully wi-fi enabled, but the group of four Ethernet sockets permit up to four wired connections to the router. The single Ethernet socket to the right of these handles the connection to the modem.

A typical way of using a router of this type is to disconnect the modem from the PC and connect it to the appropriate Ethernet port of the router instead. A standard Ethernet cable is then used to connect the PC to an Ethernet port in the group of four on the router. This PC can then access the Internet in much the same way as it did previously, as can any other



Fig.3.16 The rear of the WGR614

PCs that are wired to the router or use a wifi link. The NAT feature of the router ensures that each PC only receives the correct data from the Internet, and to each user it seems as though they have an individual Internet connection. Having the modem connect direct to the router

rather than a PC provides a simple form of firewall that hides the PCs from hackers. This type of firewall has its limitations though. A "proper" firewall in the WGR614 helps to keep hackers at bay and will try to thwart DoS (Denial of Service) attacks.



Fig.3.17 The Netgear DG834G is a combined access point, router, ADSL modem, and firewall

The Netgear DG834G shown in Figure 3.17 is similar to the WGR614 in that it contains a wi-fi enabled router that also has four ordinary Ethernet ports for wired connections. Additionally though, it has an integral ADSL modem. The socket near the right-hand end of the rear panel (Figure 3.18) is not an Ethernet type. It is the type of telephone socket used for self installed ADSL connections. It is connected to the telephone socket via the appropriate lead and a microfilter.

Like the DGR614, the DG834G has a NAT feature that makes the routing "transparent" to users, who each appear to have their own Internet connection. It also incorporates a fairly sophisticated firewall that gives protection against DoS (Denial of Service) attacks and uses stateful packet inspection (SPI) to ensure that received packets of data are in response to requested data. It is possible to have unrestricted access from the Internet to one PC, which is necessary for some types of use such as hosting web services and certain types of peer-to-peer file sharing. It even incorporates content filtering so that access to certain types of site can be controlled.



Fig.3.18 The rear of the Netgear DG834G

Installation is largely automatic with the installation program detecting and making the optimum connection to your Internet service provider (ISP). Many complex wi-fi gadgets now largely install themselves, but bear in mind that it is necessary for the user to set up some parameters in order to get the most from the equipment. In particular, the user must set up the wi-fi security measures needed to prevent outsiders using the system for free Internet access, and to keep information on the PCs secure.

## **Other devices**

For many users, all that will be needed are one or two PCs wired to a router and modern, plus a few PCs, PDAs, etc., connected to the network via a wireless link. However, there are plenty of additional wi-fi gadgets available if you should need them. Probably the most popular wi-fi gadgets are the printer adapters. There are actually two wireless options available here, because it is possible to use Bluetooth or wi-fi to provide a cordless connection to a printer.

Bluetooth is the more simple option. One approach would be to have a Bluetooth printer adapter fitted to the printer, or to use a printer that has this facility built-in (assuming you can find one). Each PC could then have a Bluetooth adapter to give it access to the printer. With the PCs already networked, this definitely seems to be doing things the hard way.

It would have the advantage of making the printer available at any time, and access to it would not be dependent on a certain PC being operational at the time. The main drawback is that it would be adding a wireless network to a system that already had a wireless network, which would be a complicated and expensive way of doing things. In theory, the Bluetooth equipment should manage to channel hop and avoid any major interference between the two systems, but in practice there would be a slight risk of the wi-fi network's performance suffering.

With an existing wi-fi network in place, there are several ways of sharing a printer. As standard, Windows permits any printer connected to any PC to be shared with all the other PCs in the network, and no additional software is required. With the printer connected to one of the PCs, it can be set as a shared resource and used by any PC in the system provided the host PC is switched on. The obvious drawback of this system is that it might be necessary to keep switching on a PC simply to permit users of other PCs to access a printer. The big advantage is that it requires no additional hardware, and it enables a printer to be networked at zero cost.

## **Printer servers**

Another option is to have the printer connected to the network via a wired or wi-fi network printer server. This is effectively an extremely basic computer that enables a printer to connect direct to the network via an Ethernet port or a wi-fi link. In fact some of these units have support for two or more printers. The advantage of these devices is that they can be left running continuously at practically no cost, making the supported printer or printers always available.

The principal drawback is that printer servers are not particularly cheap. When used with a low-cost inkjet printer it is likely that the printer server would cost more than the printer. Some of these devices do not support all the features of the printer due to a lack of bidirectional operation. In other words, the PCs can send data to the printer, but the printer might not be able to send back information such as the amount of ink left in the cartridges. In most cases the printer is still perfectly usable though. Printer servers often have only one type of printer interface, so make sure that it is the right type if your printer also has only a single interface.



Fig.3.19 The HP 5850 printer has a built-in 802.11b wi-fi adapter

Many up-market printers have a built-in printer server or it is available as an optional extra. Practically every printer intended for the corporate market has this feature, and few big business users would seriously consider a printer that was not capable of network operation. Few printers for home and small business use have network connectivity as standard, and it is not really a common option either. It is a feature of a few printers though, and the HP 5850 inkjet printer (Figure 3.19) has a built-in 802.11b wi-fi adapter. As one would reasonably expect, Ethernet and wi-fi connectivity significantly add to the cost of a printer, but also add greatly to its flexibility.

Note that it is not just printers that can be connected direct to the network. It is also possible to share scanners and multifunction devices, and possibly other gadgets as well. The choice is relatively limited though, and it tends to be only the more upmarket "professional" equipment that offers network connectivity. Although the Windows XP Help system seems to suggest that there is built-in support for sharing scanners, this is not actually the case. There is only built-in support for sharing printers, and you need additional software in order to use ordinary scanners via a network.

## **Extending range**

As explained previously, the theoretical range of a wi-fi system and the real-world range are often very different, with the range obtained in practice tending to fall short of the theoretical maximum. In some cases it falls well short of the theoretical maximum. This does not necessarily matter, and in many situations there is no need for a large operating range. Unless a wi-fi system is being installed in a very large building, trying to stretch the system to its limits is unnecessary. However, there are gadgets available if you should need to extend the range of a link in the system.

Some of this equipment is fairly straightforward, such as aeriais for outdoor use. Operating from one building to another often produces poor results even though the aerials seem to be within range. This problem is due to the use of indoor aerials that require the signal to go through at least two walls on its way from one end of the link to the other. The signal absorption can be quite high, giving a much lower than expected range.

By having both aerials outside it is often possible to have "clear air" between them, and something in the region of the full 100 metre operating range should be obtained. A significantly longer range is possible if reduced operating speed can be tolerated, but it is probably best not to take some of the claims for these aerials too seriously. For one thing, the greater the operating range, the lower the chance of having a path between the aerials that is totally clear of obstructions.

## Directional

The simple aerials normally used with wi-fi networks are omnidirectional, which means that they transmit with equal strength in all directions. When receiving signals, they are equally sensitive in all directions. The omnidirectional term is not strictly accurate, because immediately above and below the aerial (which should be vertical) there are two "blind" spots. With most types of radio communication this is unimportant, but it should be borne in mind when installing a wi-fi network on two or more floors of a building.

In addition to the "blind" spots, signal strengths tend to be reduced when an aerial is higher or lower than the aerial at the access point. The range obtained on floors above and below the access point could therefore be less than the range obtained on the same floor. In fact this is almost

#### 3 Practical wi-fi

certain to occur, because there is the added signal absorption of the floors and ceilings when a link is established between different levels of a building. These factors almost certainly account for the disappointing results that are sometimes obtained when using wi-fi equipment in a multi-storey building.

A directional aerial gives better results in one or possibly two directions. With several pieces of equipment using a wi-fi link to the network, omnidirectional operation is essential for the access point. It has to communicate with various pieces of equipment scattered around the building. It is highly unlikely that they will be conveniently placed so that they are all in more or less the same direction relative to the access point.

The situation is different when there are only two devices to be linked. A directional aerial is then acceptable at both ends of the link. When there are more than two wi-fi units in a network, a directional aerial can normally be used for anything other than the access point. Unless Ad Hoc operation is used, all the other devices in the system communicate via the access point, and do not directly communicate with anything else in the network. They can therefore communicate with the network by way a directional aerial aimed at the access point.

We are all familiar with directional aerials. Ordinary television aerials and satellite dishes are common examples of directional aerials, and for good results they have to be aimed quite accurately at the transmitter or satellite. The point of a directional aerial is that it provides gain. In other words, using a directional aerial produces a stronger signal when transmitting. A stronger transmission in one direction is obtained by having a weaker signal radiated in other directions. Increased sensitivity is obtained when a directional aerial is used for reception, but only in one direction. The sensitivity of the aerial is lower in all other directions. The more highly directional an aerial is made, the greater the gain that can be obtained.

Using a directional aerial can significantly increase the operating range of a wi-fi system, but it also makes it more difficult to get everything set up correctly and working well. Also, directional aerials are relatively difficult to obtain and expensive. It might be necessary to search online for a specialist supplier of wi-fi equipment in order to find something that suits your requirements.

Try to organise the network in a way that minimises the risk of range problems occurring. The access point should be somewhere near the middle of the building so that it is reasonably close to all the wi-fi enabled



Fig.3.20 This unit provides a wi-fi link from a PC to a hi-fi system

devices. Having the access point at one end of the building maximises the chances of problems, especially where there will be one of more wifi devices at the other end of the building.

## The rest

An access point, some wi-fi adapters, and possibly a printer sharer or two, are all that is necessary for normal networking. Not surprisingly perhaps, the designers of computing equipment have come up with various other wi-fi gadgets to make your network even more useful. Some of these units will probably sink without trace in due course, but a few provide genuinely useful functions.

With PCs being used increasingly for entertainment purposes, and in particular for playing and managing audio files, a wi-fi link between your computer network and hi-fi system is potentially very useful. In fact there does not have to be a network, and a wi-fi link between a standalone PC and a hi-fi system could be very useful. Units of this type sometimes

#### 3 Practical wi-fi

have a built-in display, like the one on the Slim Devices Squeezebox (Figure 3.20). The alternative is to use a television set to provide the display so that audio files on the network can be listed, and the desired files then selected. There is usually the option of playing the files via the sound system of the television.

It should be possible to use essentially the same method to link Mpeg and other types of video file to a television set. I am not aware of a unit that will do this, but it is possible to obtain a webcam that has a built-in server and 802.11g wi-fi adapter. The Linksys Wireless-g Internet Video Camera is an example of a wi-fi webcam. A large bandwidth is needed for even the low resolution output of a webcam, and the Linksys unit therefore uses a 802.11g wi-fi link. It can handle a respectable maximum resolution of 640 by 480 pixels and it has a sound channel.

On the face of it, this is an application that is ideal for a Bluetooth link, with its low power consumption. The relatively low bandwidth would limit the performance, but most webcams use a USB 1.1 interface, which has a similar bandwidth. Surprisingly perhaps, I can not find any Bluetooth Webcams for sale.

## Accelerators

The maximum speed possible using 802.11 wi-fi equipment is the 54Mbits per second provided by 802.11g equipment, but you might find equipment advertised as offering something more like 100 or 108Mbits per second. The increase in speed is obtained by using some form of accelerator technology, which seems to mean changes to the way in which the packets of data are encoded and decoded. The radio side of things is just uses standard 802.11 technology. Faster versions of 802.11b and 802.11g devices are produced. Note that in order to take advantage of the speed increase it is necessary for all the wi-fi devices in the network to use the same accelerator technology.

## **Points to remember**

A basic wireless adapter for a desktop PC can be in the form of a PCI expansion card or an external USB device. USB 2.0 is required in order to make full use of the speed available from an 802.11g adapter. The obvious method of interfacing via an Ethernet port seems to be little used in practice. Most USB wi-fi adapters will not work in conjunction with a passive USB hub.

A notebook or laptop PC can be interfaced to a basic wi-fi adapter using a USB port, but a PC card is the more popular choice. Some other portable computing devices can be wi-fi enabled, and a common ploy is to use a special version of a Compact Flash card. Many of these wi-fi gadgets only suit a limited range of devices, so always check compatibility with your particular PDA (or whatever) before buying anything.

Most practical wi-fi networks are based on a device called an access point. This acts as a sort of control centre, with all other devices in the network communicating via the access point rather than directly. The access point often provides other facilities, such as bridging to wired network devices, a firewall, and possibly even an ADSL broadband modem.

Any printer connected to a PC in the system can be set as a shared resource so that it can be used with other PCs in the network. This avoids the need for any additional hardware, but the printer will only be available if the PC driving it is switched on. A printer server enables a printer to be connected direct to the network so that it is always available.

Bluetooth can provide a cordless connection from a PC to a printer, or from several PCs to a single printer. Providing access to a printer via the main network is a simpler and cheaper way of handling things though.

It is possible to network devices without using an access point, and this method relies on using the Ad Hoc mode of operation. This gives only a very simple form of networking, with two devices at a time communicating directly. Consequently, this mode is little used in practice.

#### 3 Practical wi-fi

A directional aerial can be used to extend the range of a wi-fi network, but the aerial for the access point normally has to be an omnidirectional type. Having the access point near the middle of the network helps to avoid problems with inadequate range.

There are numerous wi-fi units that provide functions which you never knew you needed! Some of the more specialised units are genuinely useful, such as wi-fi units that enable audio files stored on a computer to be played on a hi-fi system.

# Installation and security

## Installation

Before installing any computer hardware, including Ethernet and wi-fi devices, it is essential to read the instruction manual. Realising that few people can be bothered to read the manual, many manufacturers now include a "Quick Start" leaflet, or something similar. At the very least you should look through the leaflet to determine the recommended method of installation. Failure to do so can result in a lot of wasted time due to a failed initial installation, and everything then having to be uninstalled and reinstalled correctly. With the more awkward devices it can be difficult and time consuming to get everything working once an installation has failed. Windows just keeps going back to the incorrect version despite your best efforts.

It is increasingly common for manufacturers to recommend that the software is installed first, with the hardware being added once the drivers are safely installed. In theory it should be perfectly all right for the hardware to be fitted first. The Plug and Play facility of Windows should then find the hardware and install the driver software. In practice this method can be problematic, with Windows trying to install the wrong drivers, failing to recognise the right drivers, or continually detecting the hardware and trying to install the already installed drivers. Following the manufacturer's installation instructions "to the letter" should minimise the risk of running into problems with the drivers.

It would seem reasonable to assume that the drivers supplied with the new hardware will be fully tested and working. Matters are often very different in practice, with minor problems often occurring when the supplied drivers are used with some PCs. Also, it has been known for manufacturers to rush out new hardware with the drivers not being tested as comprehensively as they should be. This can cause major problems for anyone that tries to install them. I have obtained one or two pieces of

#### 4 Installation and security

cheap generic hardware where the supplied discs were clearly for another, and totally different piece of hardware!

It is a good idea to search the manufacturer's web site for any updated drivers before trying to install any new hardware. If you do find more recent drivers, read any installation instructions that come with them. The installation method often differs from that for the drivers supplied with the hardware. Even where the supplied drivers work all right, there might be improved drivers that provide more features, faster operation, or whatever. It is always a good idea to use the latest driver software that can be found.

In the case of generic hardware there might not be a manufacturer's web site where you can seek new drivers and other support. The drivers supplied with this type of software are often those provided by the producer of the chips on which the hardware is based. A computer chip manufacturer's web site will usually have the latest drivers for their products. Failing that, the retailer's customer support service is the only hope. Generic hardware is cheap, but you are unlikely to obtain the same sort of support that is available when "big name" products are purchased.

## **Firmware**

With the more complex networking equipment you will sometimes find that there is more than just improved driver software available. Complex networking devices such as combined routers and modems are based on a microcontroller, which is essentially a fairly basic but capable computer on a single chip. This computer runs a program that is built into the hardware. Because the program is a mixture of hardware and software it is usually termed "firmware".

In addition to improved driver software it is now quite common for manufacturers to make better firmware available. The firmware is usually stored in some form of flash memory. Unlike normal computer memory, this type retains its contents when the equipment is switched off, but it can still be reprogrammed. Sometimes the firmware upgrades provide improved performance or extra features, but they are mostly used to fix minor bugs.

It is certainly a good idea to look for firmware upgrades and install any that you find. A firmware upgrade is not something to be undertaken lightly though, and mistakes can render the equipment unusable. Read the manufacturers installation instructions very carefully at least once,
and follow them precisely. Installing new firmware is usually a very simple process and it should all go smoothly provided silly mistakes are avoided. Probably the most popular silly mistake is to download the wrong upgrade. Computing equipment tends to be sold under a range of similar names and numbers, so be careful to ensure that the download is for the exact piece of equipment you are using.

A manufacturer sometimes recommends installing a firmware upgrade before using a piece of equipment in earnest. This is unusual though, and usually means that a serious bug has been found in the original firmware. Unless an equipment manufacturer recommends otherwise, it is probably best to get the equipment installed and working before undertaking any firmware upgrades. A detailed description of downloading and installing new firmware is covered at the end of this chapter.

# Setting up

Both wired and wi-fi networking equipment can require a lot of complex setting up before it is ready for use. Fortunately, the equipment manufacturers have realised that most users would prefer not to spend months becoming an expert on networks just so that they can install and set up a simple home or small business network. Consequently, practically all modern networking equipment is supplied with drivers and other software that makes setting up and using the network as simple as possible. The installation software will usually scan the PC, Internet connection, etc., and then go through a largely automatic setting up procedure. There could still be some work to do in order to get things working really well and securely.

It is advisable to install the access point before adding anything else to the network. In general, wi-fi adapters are very easy to install, and the process is largely automatic. However, without an access point to communicate with it is difficult for a wi-fi adapter to set itself up correctly and do anything worthwhile. It is assumed here, that there will be at least one PC that has a wired connection to the access point. In a fully wi-fi network it is clearly necessary to have at least one PC with an installed wi-fi adapter before it is possible to contact and set up the access point. It is still probably best to have the access point switched on before installing the wi-fi adapters, but it is advisable to check the access point's instruction manual for guidance on this matter.

Setting up the access point is different depending on whether it is an add-on to an existing wired network, a type having a built-in router, or

#### 4 Installation and security



Fig.4.1 The Ethernet adapter is listed in Device Manager, but a device such as a router or access point will not be found here

one having both a router and broadband modem. The process also varies somewhat from one manufacturer to another, and can even be different for various models from the same manufacturer. One example is provided here, and it demonstrates some basic principles, but it is essential to read the instruction manuals before installing any wi-fi equipment. The manuals should give concise guidance and fully explain any unusual aspects of installation. The examples given here can do no more than give some idea of the stages involved in setting up a wi-fi network.

#### Standalone

It is important to realise that the access point is unlikely to appear in the list of installed units in Device Manager. As part of the setting up process you might have to install a control program for the access point on one of the PCs, but this will be an ordinary piece of software and not a set of device drivers. After installing new hardware it is normal to look for its entry in Device Manager to check that there are no problems. Looking in the Network Adapters section of Device Manager will show an entry

Burger (Construction) (Construction) (Construction) (Construction) (Construction) (Construction) (Construction) (Construction) (Construction) (Construction) (Construction) (Construction) (Construction) (Construction) (Construction)		1		₩ # **** >0 E
NETGEAR TOSOUTO 34 Mapa Wireless ADSL Provide Novier Do Vetania bite Mithele Present Conto Hit Dia veta - Alare	8834G	e-sternation for anting up, contiguery	and Venderg	heilings: a 450, Nuder
Todo PMTsc: university The vasit data functions is an administry guide to setting us two magnitude fuel wave they be to the petited buildings of participants and the setting and readering by DODES on us an anterior.		nu .	? ×	and memory and p oppins at (a) g and an and " down
An even of the second s	NETGEAR DOBH	E		n and a second s
	, roder Divis i PDF a aveza citer 2014 ana	where a fee protect tradeter Quere	hacat Persenes a	De las Jak fin adoptinās lag la fin atiguaja ranser si ha addī Liziela ati al na stēlon ri bis angri ti valis i tar par
<ul> <li>Advantance Streams</li> <li>Advantance Stream</li></ul>	n fandskalending wy pr meas die Las namelije f	rabane the may accur yap in a prot 1786, variate in day scraw.	W ABR 1851	nrar (Angularin Sill) B ki, adan Dir shingkan maryati (ant dia pist
Wedges TCP/P Centraureten Tutertals The most common way to compare comparer for accessing service prevides, official and nome routers liper divuse the o				
<ul> <li>PC Networking Tutorial For more information on setting up technisely Weldows network Network To extend you need Acrobit Reader which you B Communication (2010) 1880-18</li> </ul>	ung for PC computer unan access from 8	vil, ofick here he main installation skriven		University

Fig.4.2 The supplied username and password are required in order to start the web-based configuration process

for the Ethernet or wi-fi adapter fitted to that PC (Figure 4.1), but there will be no entry for the access point.

The reason for this is simply that the access point is not a device installed on one of the PCs. It has its own built-in microcontroller, and it has to be regarded as akin to a PC in the system. The same is true of a primer server and any other standalone units in the system. Obviously it is necessary to have some means of making adjustments to the access point's settings, and this is normally achieved either using a control program in one of the networked PCs or using web-based configuration software. Either way the process is usually handled by a wizard, and will probably be largely automatic. It is probably best to avoid units that do not offer a user-friendly method of installation and setting up.

The so-called web-based method of configuration is increasingly common, and as such it does not use a configuration program in one of the networked PCs. Instead, you run a browser program such as Internet Explorer, and then use a special web address. It then appears as though you are configuring the device via a series of web pages, but these pages

	Districted (24, 17) Adaptive #	
	a hundren and the same the same	
NETOEAR Wireless ADSL Fi	wwall Bauter DO\$240	
Centrings		
🦉 settings 👘		
~/		
Winner Route Statu		Proviet Strang inte
Account Name		angeber fer und frieden filte begin eine Bei furter stell all
Remote versite	14253	3164
ALK. HO		The second s
INC Address	48 38 35 45 5× 89	Los solle Manet. "You is the end and forme description manufacture the forum of the DESTRICT
E Addams	8 46 08121	ALC: NO LONG TO LONG
P School Start	299 295 295 297	Without Washin This & a next of spectra in the sector in the sector.
	P2 141 180 280	te de parte a la prese de la company
	158 4 243 2	atta Bert ibnis mehre reterizettegt bit im gemitte Berg
Sites		Act Office and
TALLAR DATA AND AND AND AND AND AND AND AND AND AN	08 30 31 01 14 00	
The Add age	102100.01	9. Bit Address for press of sectors of the Destriction of
Life - DHE	(L)	Barr Bat
P fallent ibais	255 355 256 3	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
(Dice. ) Shatesh		· Did * interder offer cluster warring affertal
ADSL Firstware Variation	1 02 5 3 26	There was not a state
Haters Waters	Connected SVE Mons	······································
Steam-Identities Connection Spand	200 16293	CARTON CARTON SAME CARE IN THIS AND A CARTON
with the second s	6	- Sugara
VG VG	all .	AND DOLLARS AND AND AND A CAPENDAL AND
serveral minutes laws		
Name Claim	METUFAR	· an Annual The sum and sha fire shour as an
Panglevi	ELTOPO	the rate of the local data in the local data ini
Challed	41	· Carbard (Dr. d. Brat - dauge b
Parateria de la contra de la co	antaŭ -	· CHO State
Setup		Line of other a life
	a second second responses on the second s	
tic DES Show She	disting Connection Status	· ST T & NOTIFIC - STANDED - STANDARD THE STANDARD THE AT A STANDARD

Fig.4.3 This page shows the current settings

are embedded within the device's firmware, as is any supporting software for them. The configuration is therefore achieved using an ordinary browser running on one of the networked PCs, together with firmware within the access point.

## Settings

A web-based setup program is used for the Netgear DG834G, which is an all-in-one 802.11g access point, ADSL modem, router, and firewall. The setup pages can be accessed by typing the appropriate address into a browser, or by clicking the link on the page that is launched when the installation disc is run. Either way, it is necessary to use the supplied username and password when prompted (Figure 4.2). The initial setting up procedure is largely automatic, but with a device that contains a modem it is necessary to supply basic connection information, such as the username and password for your broadband account. This information should have been provided by your Internet service provider (ISP) when you signed on to the account. The connection information is stored in the modem and there is no need for you to provide it in order to gain access the Internet. to Normally the unit is left running continuously, so once it has connected to the Internet it stavs connected. Any PC in the network then has instant access to the Internet at any time. Of course, things can go wrong, and over a period of time it is likely that for one reason or another, the

Connection Time	72:14:20
Connecting to Server	Connected
legatiation	Buccess
uthentication	Success
ietting IP Addresses	81.86.106.121
ietting Network Mask	255.255.255 255
Connect	Disconnect

Fig.4.4 The Connection Status window

Internet connection will be lost. Switching the unit off, waiting a few seconds, and then switching it on again will force it to reconnect, using the stored username, password, and other connection data.

A page like the one in Figure 4.3 is displayed once the initial setting up has been completed. This page shows the current settings in the main section, and there are some menus in the right-hand section. A scrollable Help page is available on the opposite side of the screen. Operating the Connection Status button near the bottom of the screen produces the

small window shown in Figure 4.4. This confirms that a connection to the Internet has been made, and provides two buttons that enable the modem to be disconnected and reconnected. The Show Statistics button produce a small window like the

Pert	Ratus	TxPkts	Rof-9ds	Collision	TX S/S	Ror Biss	Up Time
NAN	PPPOA	B10982	855700	0	2011	1983	72 36 07
LAN	1 DOM/Full	386217	274848	8	548	745	72 36 33
MAN	13M/54M	998589	011322	0	2334	2098	72 38 24
Pul	l Imerval :		(Sec 5)		Set Inte	rval	Stop

Fig.4.5 The Router Statistics window

Re-construction of the second second second	Marouth Internal Copland	alf.
The Call May Farm	its food ins.	
Accession with a second statements	10.0 Syland purphysics Be inderforce	± ⊡∞ lus *
NI SI	Based west (0, Bandbased Block, Support, 4      GEAR Wholese ABB. Firewall Booker 606346      CTTTTPP	
Betup Wisard	Sot Pastword	Set Typesand Less
Esut.	Out Passantary	- Shine of the law strained and all the second
Settings ADSL	Run Fammed	Contraction of the second second
Settings Worsless	Report New Polymers	Revent participants have a minori
Settings	Advertising in the set and sales up and an analysis	Martin Concerned A
Logs Elack Sites	Apply Careasi	
- Errevall Rules		the state of the s
Schedule E-mail		STREET STREET STREET
Station and the second		· Instant dans to be be the with
Router Status		3 D'ANTER ANTIN PREST PERSON TO A
-Attached Devices		
Backup Settings		
Set Password Disgnostics		The Contract State and State
Houle Upgrade		
WAN Selop		
Dynamic DNS LANIP Setup		
Ramote		
	1	Contract of the second s

Fig.4.6 The unit is not secure until the password has been changed

one of Figure 4.5, which shows things like the number of data packets handled by various parts of the system.

It is the menus down the left of the screen that are of importance in the current context, as these give access to screens that control numerous settings. Most of these should not be altered, and it is definitely not a good idea to start experimenting with settings that you do not understand. There are some settings that can be usefully altered though, and one of these is the password used to access the setup pages. The default password is the same for every unit, so you must change it in order to genuinely password protect the system. Operating the Password menu option brings up the page of Figure 4.6. This operates in the standard fashion, with the old and new passwords being entered, followed by the new password again in case a mistake was made the first time.

## Security

Note that this password is the one used to gain access to the setup program so that changes can be made to the configuration of the modem,



Fig.4.7 Most access points offer two types of security

router, etc. This password does not provide protection against hackers gaining access to the network via a wi-fi link. Any reasonably modern access point should offer at least two types of protection against hackers, and in this case the security settings are accessed via Wireless Options in the Setup menu. This brings up the page shown in Figure 4.7.

Most of the settings here are the basic ones for a wi-fi link, such as the region, channel number, and name of the access point. It is not essential to change the name, but there is obviously scope for confusion if you live in an area that has several wi-fi networks in operation. With everyone using the default name it is likely that the same name will be used for two access points in the same area.

The DG834G is an 802.11g device, and as such it is compatible with 802.11b units. One of the menus enables it to be restricted to 802.11b or 802.11g operation. It can be advantageous to change the channel used by the system, and the reasons for this are discussed in the next chapter. The rest of the system adjusts to the channel used by the access point, so changing the channel used by the access point effectively changes the channel used by the entire network.

#### 4 Installation and security

Three security options are available in the lower part of the screen, and the default option is for security measures to be disabled. It is best to use this setting initially, since it gives unrestricted access to the system, making it easy to get it working with the other wi-fi units in the network. It is important to implement one of the security measures at an early stage though, especially if the PCs in the network are used for anything where security is important. This includes online ordering of goods and services, online auctions, Internet banking or other online financial dealing, and private correspondence.

#### WEP

The original and most basic form of wi-fi security is called Wired Equivalent Privacy, or WEP. This has been used with wi-fi equipment from the outset, and it is based on an encryption and decryption technique. The idea was to make wi-fi links as secure as the wired variety, and it is from this that the name of the system is derived. For WEP to work it is necessary for each wi-fi unit to have it enabled and to use the same key. The key is a large number used in the encryption and decryption process, and it is the WEP equivalent of a password.

An advantage of WEP is that any wi-fi gadget should be capable of using this security system, regardless of its precise function and which company produced it. Note that WEP is only used for wi-fi links and not for the wired variety, which are intrinsically more secure. Even where a network has a mixture of wired and wireless links, WEP security will only be used for the wireless links. Also note that the encryption and decryption process will reduce the speed of data transfers.

The level of security obtained depends on the number of bits used by the encryption process. Older equipment sometimes supports nothing beyond 64-bit operation, but modern wi-fi devices support at least 128bit encryption. Obviously you should use the highest level of encryption that your equipment supports, but note that all the devices must use the same level. If some devices support 256-bit operation while others offer no more than 128-bit encryption, the whole system has to use 128-bit encryption.

In the DG834G setup program, the bottom section of the page changes when the WEP option is selected, with some new menus and textboxes appearing (Figure 4.8). One of the menus offers 64-bit or 128-bit encoding, and provided the other wi-fi units support it, 128-bit encoding should be used. The encoding type can be either Open System or Shared

ak and the foregree to be a state of the second sec			and the second second	
• O - D E & P	ert Anton States	00.00000		
Enguites teen these offer				10+
• Biles	eniwes ≠ \$1  & 20154 beca	e Erass (Flohas h		
NETOLAR WA	oloss ADSL Firewalt Sex	ter 968346		
settini	9/10			
- answer	D.,			
Witnesd Al months Street		hand were sure to an	- Winters fiettings berto	
		NETGEAR		
August		Europe *	Mark The survey and a specific sequences of the second sec	
		11 -	amagine b	
Pade		g 5 a *	Reduce Posterry in Addition	dan a
20				
the states from a	_		Taken the state of the second	the of an Inc.
F (nate Woods	e fareta Pari		Long. Black Harry	
			Contraction and the	
Sites dereinen Baben A		Setup Autous List	• 10 mm	
all Rules			· hout a state of the	was and so figs.
Reading Continues			A Distantic feat specifi distant	
A var planta	designati Province		<ul> <li>Communication and a second seco</li></ul>	and and the second second
C spange pai	Producted Access Pro-Sharpel Keel		Contraction of the second second	
with installing the			And the other property is the set of	
Automation Paper				
13 Frangelon Brangle		64 he +	A CONTRACTOR OF A CONTRACTOR O	
all and they			Both to have a set of the set	
Passana	Ganazata		Section and section of the	
ostics Heys #			NAME AND ADDRESS OF AD	
			Income and the second second	in Talan Alan A
			The second state is the second state of the se	1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1
Setup			Language of the second state of the second sta	AN INCOME
mie DNS				1
P Setup	Distance of the	terror regard	The second secon	
te ul	Apply	Cancel	Local on the other backwards for the formation of th	State State Street, or
				the party of the state

Fig.4.8 Selecting WEP security produces further options

Key, and all units in the system must use the same setting. In this case there is an automatic option as the default. This can be changed to one of the other settings if automatic operation fails to work properly.

A WEP key can be generated by typing a short phrase into the appropriate textbox and operating the Generate key. Four keys are produced for 64bit operation, but only one is generated for 128-bit encryption. The key will usually be in hexadecimal, which means that it will be comprised of numbers from 0 to 9 plus the first six letters of the alphabet (A to F). If it is generated in the form of a hexadecimal number by the access point's software, make sure that the software for your wi-fi adapters is set up to accept the key in the same form.

## WPA

While WEP is adequate to keep casual hackers out of a home or small business network, it is vulnerable to determined hackers armed with the appropriate tools. This deterred larger business users from installing wi-

#### 4 Installation and security

ECEAR Router	Murrisoft Estanset Esplores		قلم
		@#a @	
	168 D. Löstup og Prest, Newstart / ter		_ De us
80-	· However · P 5	deseturied II 2001 Happens #	
VALUE NI	TGEAR Wireless ADSL Fire	wall havin passes	
	ettings		
		~	
etup Wizard	Wealess Settings		Winness Sittings Hub
high - 1			The second
asic ettings	Hitraines Halverts Name (1990)	NETGEAR	Constants on the
351.	Report	Europe *	Contract of the Contract of the State
ttings Ireleas	Classed	11 -	The party on the new party was supported with the party
ttings Jama		486 -	and the second data was a second star of the second
5	Tillestines Annues Palat		· man at diam ridge with the
ck Sites	W Engling Mitalages Ancores Panel		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
iwali es			· Con the Design of the State o
vices -	Obision Wales Second (16)	Setup Access List	· white brancher and the subject water
all i	Secondly Options		· A ALL ST BUT THE THEY
risent	C Dealers		NEW CARE AND ALL COMPANY AND A STATE
afer tus	# WPA-PBI SHATI Protocos Access Pre-B	hanad Kinc	station in other station and same of the state of the state
achid	NPA.Pitt Recently Incorplian		and the second second second second
chup.	Mathematic Harry (B - Sel characterity	*	Affaired Balance
tingt		Apply Canned	WALLEDO, CO. CO. CO. CO. CO. CO.
ismord			Distance and the state of the section of the section of the section of the
ignostice   uter			nieft minstern gesehnten im einen der ihrenseten im bestehnten auf führt einer an einer bestehnten auf einer
grade			service to a very a drawn it with rate of small
AN Setup			(Name
namic DNS N IP Setup			STREET, STREET
eter setup	4		the state of the second process of the state

Fig.4.9 The WPA key is entered in the textbox

fi links in their networks. With systems carrying sensitive information that could be worth millions to competitors, it was clearly not a good idea to use links that were anything less than totally secure. The equipment manufacturers' answer to this problem was a new and improved form of security called WPA-PSK (Wi-Fi Protected Access Pre-Shared Key). These days it is often just called WPA.

In this example there is a WPA-PSK security option, and selecting it produces a textbox (Figure 4.9) where the net key is added. This must be at least 8 characters, and can be up to 32 ASCII characters (numbers, letters, etc.) or up to 64 hexadecimal digits (0 to 9 and A to F). One reason for the better security provided by WPA is that the user enters the same key when setting up the network, but the key used for encryption and decryption is periodically changed by the system. The idea is that it is more difficult to find patterns that give away the key if it is changed from time to time. Also, by the time a hacker has found a key it is likely that the system will no longer be using it.

It is clearly a good idea to use WPA where it is felt that the basic security provided by WEP is inadequate, but there can be practical difficulties in

INCLUEAR RIVER	Mkrosoft Lutersof Explanet	.lej×
the Edit view the		
Osus · () ·	👌 🕄 🖉 Sesser Thomas 🖓 Mark 🔊 🖉 🗸 🖉 🕶 🕼 🖬	
	100.0 Linet.p.og/hest_Revolution	· Do un *
Colge	· Courdenie · O Statelance Second Science /	
viene, H	ITGEAL Wireless ADD. Prevail Bouter 201340	
1010	ettings	
	errings	
- Setup Wizard	Brock Blass	State State Hog
Control Midal o		and the second se
Artes (	ten in en	the event of the sector developing of the barrier of the sector
Basic Settings	C mar	
ADSL	C Pur Malaken	· Landa - Alanta - Casta Street &
Settings Wireless		· Press of the state of the state of the state of the state
- Settings	Type Royaccid or Demote Remo Hero,	term and
Steel Elg	Add Kennerg	The country of an all the state has a generating the set
- Logs - Block Sites	Pall Actions	
Firewall Rules	March Man Castaning Rose Happenists or Baseds Harnes	
Services		The Labor Contractory
Schedule E-mail		Contratingent tandra tan an and an engen
Murri, mar da		Parental a Table de Mas
Router		Configuration of the state of the state of the state of the line of the state of th
Status	Delete Keyword Clear List	
Devices	E Allen Traded & Alleren in Val Backet Man	and the stadio state and second state has
Backup Settings		In Computer Line
Set Pastword		
- Diagnostics - Router	Apply Cancel	E-selling hips of the state
Upgrade		and the second second the first second second
Autor (BC to: 1		for board diversion of the last landsame
WAN Setup Dynamic DNS		the state of the s
LAN P Setup		Enclosed and a second
Remote		State of the second sec
4		<ol> <li>A ma transa una depadra tratada.</li> </ol>

Fig.4.10 Addresses can be blocked using this page

using WPA. The obvious one is that it is not part of the original wi-fi scheme of things, and it is not available with all wi-fi units. Note though, that it might be possible to add this facility via a firmware download.

#### 802.11i

WPA was produced by the Wi-Fi Alliance rather than by the IEEE, and as such it does not form part of any 802.11 standard. The IEEE has been working on the problem of security, and during the course of writing this book its solution was finalised. It is known as 802.11i, but this is not a wi-fi standard of the same type as the other 802.11 standards. It is concerned with security and not with frequencies, transfer speeds, and the like.

Commenting on 802.11i is difficult because there are no products that use it available in the shops at the time of writing this piece. No doubt 802.11i devices will be available by the time you read this, and it will probably be available as a firmware upgrade for some existing products. It should be an improvement compared to both WEP and WPA, and is



Fig.4.11 This page is used to edit or add firewall rules

the obvious security system to use provided your equipment supports it. Where optimum security is of paramount importance it clearly makes sense to obtain equipment that does support the 802.11 i standard.

## Other settings

There will probably be other types of setting available via the configuration program, and there could be large numbers of them if the access point includes features such as a built-in modem and firewall. Most of these can simply be left at the default settings, and you should definitely not "play" with them. It is worth investigating any firewall settings, and it might be necessary to adjust these in order to get everything working in a fashion that suits the way you use the Internet. Even if the default settings prove satisfactory, there could be some useful additional features available from the firewall.

The DG834G has the ability to provide some basic content filtering. It can be set to block sites that contain a certain text string in the domain

N. ER M RAB	- Monwell Internet Explorer		<u></u>
At the vec is	and the second second second second second	- etwa (* ) •	
Press and a second	1. SHE D. 1/HHLELOOPHENT, SCHOLEDING		- Do um *
Garge-	• #Stechnic • Ø	Santanaer S C. S. Strawa /	
William N	ETGEAR Wireless ADGL P	Irowell Router 264346	
CC S	ettings		
Setup Wizard	Culture terrises		Discound Brokes Help
Basic	5arras	Any(ALL)	And a state of the
Settings ADEL	Adan	BLOCK always *	
Settings Witnless	LANCING	BLOCK by schedule, etherwise Allow ALLEW always	Takata bendaras nagata da segura a fa
Settings		ALLOW by schedule, otherwise Block	
Logs Block Sites	visit. Unant		The distance beings by the set of the set
Firews8 Rules			· Britsman Annual Statement
Services			· Alternation
- E-mail	1.48	Always .	A ATT COMMANDER OF CARGO, C
Router		Apply Cancel	Note:
Status Attached			S AN OWNERS PROVIDE AND ADDRESS OF
Devices Backup			<ul> <li>Calify the second state of the second se</li></ul>
Settings Set			Company with a company of the second
Password Diagnostics			A MARK MARK
- Router Upgrade	-		An other than the second is a second
WAN Setup			A read and assessed in contractions
Dynamic DNS LAN P Setup			· Administry This state state of an and state
Dimet .	1		

Fig.4.12 This page is used when defining your own firewall rules

name, or it can block specified addresses (Figure 4.10). A specified PC in the network can be given access to the blocked sites. Further control over the firewall is provided by the Firewall Rules page (Figure 4.11). The existing rules can be edited and it is also possible to add your own (Figure 4.12). It sometimes necessary to add rules or alter the existing rules in order to make firewalls work successfully with services such as video conferencing, and some peer-to-peer file sharing systems.

# Adapter installation

Installing a wi-fi adapter is usually more straightforward than installing an access point, because the adapter is much more limited in scope. An access point is "its own boss", and often acts as much more than just an access point. A wi-fi adapter is just an ordinary peripheral, and it is essentially just a wireless version of an Ethernet port. Unlike an access point, a wi-fi adapter is installed in the normal fashion, it will use device drivers, and it will have an entry in Device Manager.

IETGEA			elected Adap		3EAR WG121 662.13		0 Adapter
Nstwork Nema(SSID) TINETGEAR	and the second se	Channel S.(G)	Security note	Signal 169 Se	Mec Address 00 09 58 D5 BC89	Access Pa	ant
Scen Status Scen Completed							

Fig.4.13 The program scans for access points

Before installing any PC add-on it is advisable to check the manufacturer's web site for updated drivers. Most device drivers seem to go through various changes during the lifetime of the supported products. Follow the installation instructions "to the letter", especially when dealing with USB devices, which can be a little pernickety.

Note that it is not necessary to remove an Ethernet card or switch off a built-in Ethernet port in order to install a wi-fi adapter. The two can successfully coexist in the same computer, but obviously you should only use one or the other to connect to the network. There is a slight advantage in removing or switching off the Ethernet port. Leaving an Ethernet adapter installed and operational results in the computer's resources being consumed by a port that is not used. On the other hand, having a working Ethernet port in each PC and a long network cable is useful insurance. If a wi-fi link becomes troublesome, a wired connection can be used until the problem has been sorted out.

## **Control program**

Double-clicking on the adapter's entry in Device Manager will bring up a properties window, and this might have sections that give control over such things as the default channel, the country setting, and the network type. Clearly this is very useful, but it is not used for everyday control of the adapter. There will be a control program that scans the band for



Flg.4.14 The Statistics section includes a graph showing the amount of data that has passed through the link

access points and will automatically connect to the network if it finds the correct access point. This might be the only means of controlling the adapter. The control programs are all different, but some basic features are common to all of them.

Figure 4.13 shows the control program for the Netgear WG121 802.11g wi-fi adapter. This program has four sections, and the four tabs near the top of the window are used to switch between them. The Networks

NET	GEAR		Stepence		Panet	
Conversion of			Scielad Adopter		and the second second second	
			NETGEAR WOL	21 832 Y by Wa	releas USB2 C Adap	*0* · · ·
Device	Regioner Dumaia	Her twere not suppor				
	Driver Vension	1,00 05 1000				
	Dmver Onte	Nov 28, 2803				
	MAC Adress	00 03 58 A2.2A.A7				
	Firmwore Versian;	2.04 03 04 1 0 02 03 0	0			
	PAdress	192 163 8 3				
Smart Witzend Wit						
	(01) 10° P.	2040	13466	Dec 12 30	03	
* THETGEAR BO	19 58 D5 8C Mh	CONTRACTOR OF	0111(3)		Signal	-

Flg.4.15 This section gives information such as the firmware version

attings	Networks	Statistics		About	
IETGI	A R*	Selected Adapter	EAR WG121 H	12.31g Wireless U	SB2 0 Adapter 💌
Profiles New Profile			Profile 1	Datera Pretta	
Network Name(S	SIC)	Secur		D700-8 Sacard	
NETGEAR		F Use Y	EP Encryption		
	Advenced Settings	r Green	with Bouspines		
Network Type		Payyahn		2	- 1.00 ·
-	cess Point (Intrastructure)	& Erene	Key Minually		
En ca	antonia Adminic	Kex L	<u>.</u>	1.1	6.4038s -
NETGEAR (00.0	9.5E D5 EC 88)	Ch 11(0	i) 54 Mbp:	Signal 🙍 🖷	

Fig.4.16 As one would probably expect, the Settings section is used to control the operating mode and other important settings

section is shown in Figure 4.13, and this scans for networks and lists those that are found. In this case just one network has been located. The information on this page shows that it is operating on channel 11, it is being received at full strength, and that the connection is operating at the full 54Mbits per second. It also shows that this network is not using any form of security (encryption). Two of the buttons at the bottom of the screen enable the band to be scanned again, and the PC to be connected to the selected network.

The statistics page (Figure 4.14) provides information such as the number of packets that have been received. There is also a display that provides a graph showing the amount of activity, and a bargraph that shows the percentage of the adapter's capacity that is being used. The About section (Figure 4.15) just gives some basic information about the adapter, such as its firmware version and driver details. This information will be needed if you look for updated drivers or firmware on the manufacturer's web site. Note that details of the current drivers can be obtained from the relevant section in Device Manager, but the firmware version is unlikely to be included here.

The Settings section (Figure 4.16) is an important one that controls a number of vital parameters. You can select Infrastructure mode for operation with an access point, or Ad Hoc mode for direct connection to another PC. The ability to define profiles is a standard feature, and one that is supported by this software. The idea is to have a profile defined

attings	Networks	Statistics	About	
NETG	EAR <sup>*</sup> se	ected Adapter: NETGEAR WG	i121 602.11g Wineless U	SB2.D Adapter -
inary		Zewa Predica	Delete Protect	
- Network Name(5	SID) (abble natwork) Advanced Settings	Security Use WEP Encry Create with Das		
_	cess Point (In(restructure) mputer-to-Computer (Ad-Hgc)	Pessphrase F	ally	128bda -
NETGEAR (000	(riftiate Ast File) 19 5B (25 £C 68)	Key1 -	Mbps Signal • •	126bits <u>*</u>
Help			Analy Cancel	Close

Fig.4.17 This control program includes a "passphrase" facility

for each network that you use. You can then switch from one network to another by selecting the appropriate profile.

Obviously a desktop PC will normally be used with a single network. It could still be useful to define a profile for that network. If there should be other networks within range, the program will automatically connect to the one for which there is a profile, and it will ignore the others. If encryption is introduced at an access point it will be necessary to set the same encryption in the profile for that access point. In this example it was WEP encryption that was activated at the access pcint. WEP encryption with the same network key must therefore be activated on this adapter, and the others in the system.

WEP is actually the only security option offered by this adapter, and the others in the system. This renders the WPA option at the access point of no practical value. In order to activate WEP encryption at this adapter it is necessary to first tick the Use WEP Encryption checkbox. Then 64-bit or 128-bit operation is selected using the small pop-down menu. Like the access point, this adapter is made by Netgear, and it offers the same "passphrase" method of entering the net key. It is just a matter of operating the upper radio button and entering the same text string that was used at the access point. The software then converts this into the appropriate key and enters it in the text box (Figure 4.17). Manual entry of the key is also possible. Operate the lower radio button and type the network key into the textbox.

ETC	Advances			Wretess Mode		
IETG	Fower	Ca				982 E Adapte
Probles	Sevinç			S4Mbps 882 11	lg (2 4GP42)	
Hetwork Name(	2 4GHz Preamble	Auto	•			
Any (First ou				P 11Mbps 802 11	1b (2 4GHz)	
	Transmit Rate	Auto				
Network Type						• and/51
6 TA						
	RTS/CTS Threshold	0		21	2346	1
the second second						Contraction of the

Fig.4.18 802.11b and 802.11g modes are both enabled by default

Operating the Advanced button brings up another window that offers further settings (Figure 4.18). There is probably little here that can be usefully altered though. The two checkboxes enable 802.11b and 802.11g operation to be enabled or disabled.

SSIC	83510	Signal	Ciennel	Encayphon	Network Type
SINETGEAR)	] 00-09-5B-D5-BC-08	1005	ALC: NO	WERE	Infrastruction -
	the formation of the second				
					1.
•		-			
RADIO	OFF Connected -> NETGEAF	(	RESCAN		ADD PROFILE

Fig.4.19 This control program also scans for access points

Authentication Setting		
Authentication Type	Open System	
WEP Key Setting		
WEP Key Type	Hexadecimal	
WEP Key Length	123 Bits	
WEP Key		
6 Key#1		
C Key#2		
○ Key#3		
C Key#4		
OK		

Fig.4.20 This window is used to enter the WEP key

Another PC in the example network has a generic PCI adapter, and this also has software that can scan for access points (Figure 4.19). In order to make a connection to a network it is just a matter of selecting its entry in the main part of the window and then operating the Connect button. It will be necessary to enter the network key if the access point uses WEP security (Figure 4.20). In this case there is no "passphrase" option, and it is a matter of selecting 64-bit or 128-bit operation and then typing the key into the textbox.

The software has support for profiles, and a new profile can be added by selecting a network and then operating the Add Profile button. If WEP security is used, it is necessary to add the network key into the window that pops up. However, the key is stored as part of the profile, and the network can be accessed thereafter without having to enter the key again. The newly added profile should be listed on the appropriate page of the program (Figure 4.21).

# Sharing

With the access point set up correctly, the wired and wi-fi links in place, and everything working nicely, the network is in a sense fully operational.

Introducture

Fig.4.21 A facility to use profiles is included

As things stand it has only one minor drawback, which is that it is not possible to share any resources such as files and printers. The resource sharing facilities built into any modern version of Windows are sufficient for most users, so there should be no need to buy any networking software. However, it is essential to get Windows set up correctly in order to get the network to do anything useful.

When Windows is configured and set up correctly, the shared resources can be used on any PC in the system in the same way as if they were actually part of that PC and its peripherals. Sharec files and folders on other computers, for example, can be accessed using Windows Explorer, or via the standard file browsers built into applications software. They appear in the My Network Places folder, but not all the files and folders on other PCs in the network will appear here. Resources are only shared if they are specifically designated as shared resources.

Although most programs will use shared files and folders just as if they were on a local drive, there are actually a few applications programs that will not use them, or will do so in a restricted fashion. Sometimes restrictions on the use of shared files are due to security issues. In other cases it is simply that the speed of the network is inadequate. For

example, burning a CD-ROM using data obtained via a wi-fi link might provide an inadequate flow of data, even at fairly low burn speeds. In order to burn a CD-ROM using data obtained over the network it would probably be necessary to copy the data to a local drive first. It would then be transferred to a CD-ROM from the local drive, after which the file on the local drive could be deleted.

# **Disc sharing**

Although it would in many ways be easier if all the hard discs in the system were shared in their entirety, this is definitely not considered to be a good idea. It is actually much easier to use the network if files that will be shared are kept in a few special folders. This makes it easy and quick to find the files that you require. With access to all the folders on every hard disc in the network it could take a long time to locate the particular files you require. The sheer number of files and folders would make finding the right files a bit like "looking for a needle in a haystack". Another important point is that users of the system will probably not wish to make all their files available to the network. Most of us would prefer to keep most files private and only share certain material.

It is particularly important not to share all the files and folders if the network has an Internet connection, which in practice means practically every network. The problem with sharing everything in the system, or even large parts of the system, is that it makes life very easy for anyone who manages to hack into the network. With large-scale or even total access to the system, they will probably be able to steal any files that take their fancy, and damage any files at will. For security reasons it is best to share the minimum amount of files and folders that permits the network to be used efficiently.

## Naming

Each computer in the network has to be given a computer name, and each group of computers has a workgroup name. The computers will appear in file browsers under their computer names, and will look much the same as folders. On opening the "folder" for a computer on the network you will only see files and folders that have been designated as shared resources. All other files and folders on the computer are invisible to the network, and they can not be accessed by other computers in the network. Workgroup names are only of significance when networks are networked, but each workgroup must always be named.



Fig.4.22 The Network Setup Wizard is deep in the menu structure

When selecting names it is essential to choose a different name for each PC. Apart from the fact that having two computers operating under the same name would be confusing for users of the system, it more or less guarantees that the network will not operate reliably. Having two PCs operating under the same name would be equally confusing for Windows! The names can have up to 15 characters, which should be letters and numbers. Spaces are not permitted, but the underline character can be used. Therefore, naming a PC "My Old PC" would not be allowed, but it could be called "My\_Old\_PC". Although up to 15 characters can be used, it is more practical to settle for a maximum of eight or so. Use names that will enable every user of the network to easily associate each name with the PC it represents.

## **Network Setup Wizard**

The easy way to set up networking on PCs running Windows XP and ME is to run the Network Setup Wizard. This is buried quite deep in the menu structure, but it can be accessed by going to the Start menu and then selecting Programs, Accessories, Communications, and Network Setup Wizard (Figure 4.22). The Windows XP and ME versions are slightly different in points of detail, but they are very similar. The Windows XP version is used as the basis off this example.



Fig.4.23 The Network Setup Wizard starts with the usual Welcome page

The initial page (Figure 4.23) simply gives a brief explanation of what the Network Setup Wizard will do. The next page (Figure 4.24) provides an opportunity to obtain background information from the Help system. It also explains that everything in the network must be fully installed, connected together, switched on, and ready to use. The wizard will not help with such things as setting up an Internet connection or installing device drivers for Ethernet or wi-fi cards. It just sets up the network once installation has been completed.

On the next page (Figure 4.25) the setup process starts, and the wizard has detected a shared Internet connection. This is actually provided by a combined access point, router, and ADSL modem. A different Internet connection can be selected or the existing one can be used. In this case there is no alternative available, and the existing Internet connection has to be used. On the following page (Figure 4.26) the computer is given the name that will be used for it on the network, and a brief description can also be added here.

The network (workgroup) name is provided at the next page (Figure 4.27), or you can simply settle for the default name (MSHOME). This completes the setting up process, and a page that shows the selected



Fig.4.24 This page gives easy access to the relevant parts of the Help system



Fig.4.25 The wizard has detected a shared Internet connection

Computer description:	Mean PC running XP	
	Examples Family Room Computer or Monica's Computer	
Computer name:	MYMAINPC	
	Examples FAMILY or MONICA	
The current computer nar	ne is MINMAINPC	

Fig.4.26 Use this page to name the computer and provide a brief description

		***	
specifying a workgroup r sup name	ame below. All comp	oulers on your net	work should
MSHOME			a construction of the state of the
Examples HOME	or OFFICE		
	< Back	Next>	Cencel
	MSHOME	iup name	Examples HOME or OFFICE

Fig.4.27 Here the name for the workgroup is entered in the textbox

#### 4 Installation and security

work Setup Wizard		
leady to apply network settings		
The witard will apply the following setting cannot be interrupted	s. This process may take a few minutes to complet	e and
Settings		
Internet connection settings		-
Connecting vis ICS through	Unknown Internet Connection Sharing de	Mice
Network settings		
Computer description: Computer name Workgroup name	Mein PC running XP MYMAINPC MISHOME	
To apply these settings, click Nevt		
	(Beck Next)	Cancel

Fig.4.28 This window enables the selected settings to be reviewed

You're	almost done				and a start
Ð	You need to run the Ne run the wizard on comp or a Network Setup Did	uters that are no			
What d	la you want to do?				
G Cre	ate a Network Setup Dr	k –			
C Use	e the Network Setup Dis	I already have			
C Use	e my Windows XP CD				
C Just	t tinish the wizard. I don't	need to run the	wizard on other comp	luters	
				Next >	

Fig.4.29 There are various options for setting up the network on the other PCs in the system



Fig.4.30 The wizard confirms that the process has been completed

settings is displayed (Figure 4.28) when the Next button is operated. Windows then does some reconfiguring of itself before displaying the page shown in Figure 4.29. This gives various options for setting up networking on the other PCs in the system. You can simply exit the wizard if the other PCs in the network are running Windows ME and/or XP, and then run the Network Setup Wizard in the usual way on those PCs. Finally, the page shown in Figure 4.30 confirms that the process has been completed.

## **Sharing folders**

A network is only worthwhile if some resources are shared, but it is not essential to have shared resources on every computer in the network. In order to share the resources of a computer it is necessary to have the appropriate type of sharing enabled. With Windows ME it is possible to disable sharing, and in the interests of good security it is advisable not to enable sharing unless it will be used on the PC in question. Note that it is not necessary to have sharing enabled in order to use a PC to access resources on other PCs. Any PC in the system can be used to access 4 Installation and security

letwork	?
Configuration   Identification   Acc	ess Control
File and Print Sharing	? ×
I want to be able to give other	ers access to my files.
I want to be able to allow oth	ers to print to my printer(s).
	OK Cancel
Primary Network Logon:	
Client for Microsoft Networks	
Eile and Print Sharing	
Description	
	OK Cancel

Fig.4.31 File and printer sharing are controlled separately

shared resources on other PCs. You only have to enable sharing on a PC that will make resources available to the network.

To enable or disable sharing in Windows ME it is first necessary to go to the Windows Control Panel and double-click the Network icon. Leftclick the Configuration tab and then operate the File and Print Sharing button. This launches a small window (Figure 4.31) where two checkboxes provide individual control over file and printer sharing. Operate the OK button when the required changes have been made, and then the OK button on the Network window.

Folder Options			? ×
General View	File Types Offline Files		
Folder view	S You can apply the view (su are using for this folder to a Apply to All Folders		
Launc Mana Sh Sh Sh Reme Resto Show Show Show Show Show	ttings. protected operating system fil th folder windows in a separat ging pairs of Web pages and ow and manage the pair as a low both parts and manage th ow both parts but manage as ember each folder's view setti re previous folder windows a Control Panel in My Compute encrypted or compressed N My Documents on the Deskto pop-up description for folder imple file sharing (Recomme	e process folders single file em individually a single file ngs t logon r TFS files in color op and desktop items	Defaults
	OK	Cancel	Apply

Fig.4.32 The "Use simple file sharing" option is suitable for most users

Windows XP Home has a new system of file sharing called "simple file sharing", and this is the default setting for Windows XP Professional. Simple file sharing can be turned off in Windows XP Professional by double-clicking the My Computer icon on the desktop, and selecting Folder Options from the Tools menu. Left-click the View tab and then scroll down the list in the main part of the window until you find the entry that reads "Use simple file sharing (Recommended)" (Figure 4.32). Remove the tick from its checkbox and then operate the Apply and OK buttons. For most purposes the default setting will suffice, and it is assumed here that the simple file sharing method is used.

otos Pro	perties			i	
ieneral S	Sharing Custom	nize			
Local si	haring and secu	rity			
3ª	To share this tolder with other users of this computer only. drag it to the <u>Shared Documents</u> folder.				
			subfolders private so e following check box		
	E Make this t				
Network	sharing and se	curity			
L. L.			h network users and first check box below		
	Share this	folder on the	network		
	Share name:	PHOTOS			
	Allow netw	ork users to c	hange my files		
Learn mo	re about <u>sharing</u>	and security			
		OK	Cancel		

Fig.4.33 Use this window to enable sharing of a folder

In order to share a folder, first locate it using Windows Explorer, and then right-click on its entry. From the pop-up menu select Properties, and then operate the Sharing tab in the properties window (Figure 4.33). Place a tick in the "Share this folder on the network" checkbox in order to make the folder available to the network. By default, the contents of the folder can be read via the network, but they can not be altered. Full access to the folder can be provided by ticking the "Allow network users to change my files" checkbox. The folder can be shared under its normal name, or a different name can be typed into the Shared name textbox.

CAL DISK (F:)	Propertik		(第二年前日)	100	?
General Tools	Hardware	Sharing	1		
To protect your a drive is not re-	computer f commende	rom unauth id.	orized acce	iss. sharin	g the root of
lt vou understan here	d the risk b	ut still want	to share the	e root of the	<u>e drive, click</u>
		CK	Can	cel	

Fig.4.34 This warning message appears if you try to share a disc

Operate the Apply and OK buttons to exit the window and make the changes take effect.

Essentially the same method is used to share a complete disc. However, on entering the Sharing section of the disc's Properties window you obtain a warning message (Figure 4.34). If you wish to continue anyway, leftclick the link text and the properties window will then change to the normal sharing type. It can then be shared in the same way as a folder (Figure 4.35), but in most circumstances this method of sharing is definitely not a good idea.

	Cools Hardware Sharing
J	naring and security To share this folder with other users of this computer only, drag it to the <u>Shared Documents</u> folder.
	To make this folder and its subfolders private so that only you have access, select the following check box.
	🗖 Make the folder prome
Network	sharing and security
يغو	To share this folder with both network users and other users of this computer, select the first check box below and type a share name.
	Share this folder on the network
	Share name
	Allow network users to choruse my files
.earn mo	re about <u>sharing and security</u> .
.earn mo	re about <u>sharing and security</u> .

Fig.4.35 A disc can be shared, if you are prepared to accept the risks

## **Network Places**

Having shared a disc or folder, the shared resource can then be added to the Network Places of any PC that will need to access it. Start by double-clicking the My Network Places icon on the desktop. The PC used for this example already has a couple of network places added (Figure 4.36), but when starting "from scratch" the right-hand section of the My Network Places window will be blank. Left-click "Add a network place" in the upper left-hand section of the window, which will launch a

Ny Network Places		
ECR View Favorites Tools H		
	Folders	
tress My Network Flaces		• 🖸 Go
Network Tasks *	Local Network	
Add a network place	mp3 on 2GHz AMD PC (Stakps)	
Set up a home or small office network     all     View work group computers	Shared on Main PC running XF (Mymainpc)	
Other Places #		
Desktop     My Computer     My Documents     Shared Documents     Finitiers and Faxes		
Details *		

Fig.4.36 The My Network Places window



Fig.4.37 The Welcome screen for the Network Places Wizard

#### 4 Installation and security



Fig.4.38 Windows is unlikely to find the location you require

Type the oddress of the Web site, FTP site, or network location	onthatthis	shancur will open
internet or network address		
	•	Browse.
Ann Runs eus bied		
	-	

Fig.4.39 Use the Browse button to search for the required folder

new window (Figure 4.37). This is just a Welcome screen, so operate the Next button to move on to the window of Figure 4.38.

Windows will search for new network places, but it will not find very much. Consequently, you have to choose the option that lets you specify a network location. This moves things on to the window of Figure 4.39, where it is advisable to operate

owse For Folder	? >
Select the network location you want to conne	ct to:
Microsoft Windows Network	
🗄 👬 Mshome	-
58 S Marypenf	1.11
B 🗑 Mymarpc	
B Shared	
59 😰 SharedDocs	
Printers and Faxes	
🗄 🔮 Stakpc	
E @ mp3 on 2GHz AMD PC (Stakpc)	•
4	•
Make New Folder OK	Cancel

Fig.4.40 The required folder has been found

INetwork Place Wizard	A CONTRACTOR OF	State Street Course		
What is the address of this ne	twork place?			A TH
Type the acdress of the Web site,	FTP site or network	location that this shortcu	fwill open.	
internet or network address.				
Wymainpc/PHOTOS		• Brow	1849	
Y ex some examples				
		< Brick	Next>	Cencel

Fig.4.41 The correct folder has been selected



Fig.4.42 A name for the network place can be provided here

Add Network Philos Wilcard		×
	Completing the Add Network Place Wizard	
	You have successfully credited this network place	
	PHOTOS on Main PC	
	A shortcut for this place will appear in My Network Places	
	P Open this network place when I click Finish.	
	To close this wizerd; click Finish.	
CALIFORNIA CONTRACTOR		
	Finish Cancel	

Fig.4.43 This window confirms that the process has been completed
	Case Delaward and			_
Look	9.000	and and a second second second	• • • • · · ·	
Alexant artenta Cal	PHOTOS on	Z AMD PC (Stakoc)		
J				
anne,				
	File name	-		Open

Fig.4.44 The shared folder is available in file browsers

the Browse button and then use the file browser to search for the new network place. The browser provides access to all available parts of the network, and the required PHOTOS folder on Mymainpc was easily located (Figure 4.40). Having selected the correct folder, operate the OK button and the network address will be added to the textbox in the main window (Figure 4.41).

A name for the new network place can be added in the textbox at the next window (Figure 4.42), or you can settle for the suggested default name. The next window (Figure 4.43) simply informs you that the task has been completed. Tick the checkbox if you wish to open the newly added folder in Windows Explorer when the Finish button is operated.

The new network place can be easily accessed using Windows Explorer or the standard Windows file browser built into most applications



Fig.4.45 A file from the shared folder has been loaded into Photoshop

programs. As one would expect, it will be found in the My Network Places folder, together with any other network places that are installed. In Figure 4.44 the PHOTOS folder has been located in the file browser of Photoshop CS. It can be opened in the usual way, and then a file can be loaded (Figure 4.45).

Note that it will only be possible to read files unless you opted to permit changes to files when setting the sharing options for the folder. If changes are permitted, it is then possible to change files in an applications program and save the changes in the usual way. Where permission to alter files has not been given, it is still possible to load and edit them. The edited files must be saved to another folder though, so that the original files are left untouched.

## **Printer sharing**

Ideally a printer should be shared via a printer server so that it is always available to any PC in the network. As printer servers are not particularly cheap, most users opt for the alternative of sharing a printer that is connected to a PC in the normal way. Windows has built-in sharing



Fig.4.46 The Printers and Faxes window

facilities to handle this, but it requires rather more setting up than sharing folders or a disc. Bear in mind that a printer shared in this way can not be used when the PC that drives it is switched off. This can mean having to switch on a PC simply to permit a printer to be used via the network.

The first task is to determine whether the printer you wish to share has sharing enabled. Go to the PC to which the printer is directly connected, launch the Windows Control Panel, and then double-click the Printers and Faxes icon. This will produce a window something like Figure 4.46, but its exact appearance will depend on the particular printers and faxes that are installed on the computer. Any printers that have sharing enabled will have a picture of a hand included in their icons.

In this example an HP Photosmart 7200 series printer will be shared, and as things stand, it is not set for shared operation. To enable sharing, right-click the printer's icon and select Sharing from the pop-up menu. In the new window that appears (Figure 4.47), operate the "Share this printer" radio button, and add a name for the printer in the textbox.

At this stage you can operate the Apply and OK buttons if all the PCs in the network use the same operating system. Matters are complicated slightly if you will need to use the printer with a PC that has a different operating system to the one that is normally used with the printer. A

	kes and a second se	
neral Sharing Ports Advanced Ci	olor Management   About	
<ul> <li>You can share this printer with a sharing for this printer, click Share</li> </ul>	other users on your network. To enable are this printer	
C Do not share this printer		
G Share this printer		
Share name. PhotoPrint		
A second second		
Denne		
Drivers		
If this printer is shared with users no	noing different versions of	
If this printer is shared with users nur Windows, you may want to install a users do not have to find the print d shared printer.	ddinanal drivers, so that the	
Windows, you may want to install a users do not have to find the print d	ddinanal drivers, so that the	
Windows, you may want to install a users do not have to find the print d	ddifional drivers, so that the river when they connect to the	
Windows, you may want to install a users do not have to find the print d	ddifional drivers, so that the river when they connect to the	
Windows, you may want to install a users do not have to find the print d	ddifional drivers, so that the river when they connect to the	

Fig.4.47 Sharing is enabled using the appropriate radio button and a name for the printer is then added in the textbox

different operating system will almost certainly require a different set of device drivers. Where appropriate, these drivers must be installed before proceeding.

Operating the Additional Drivers button produces a small window, similar to the one shown in Figure 4.48. This lists all the available device drivers for the printer, and there is a tick in the checkbox for those that are already installed. Tick the boxes for any more that need to be installed, and then operate the OK button. The window of Figure 4.49 then appears, and you have to direct the installation program to the source for the drivers. This will usually be the CD-ROM provided with the printer, or files downloaded from the Internet. Anyway, the usual installation process is then followed, and you should eventually arrive back at the Printers and Faxes window, which will show that the printer is set up for sharing (Figure 4.50).

Fig.4.48 A list of the supported operating systems is displayed

3	Please provide a printer driver.	ОК
		Çance
	Type the path where the file is located, and then click OK.	

Fig.4.49 Indicate the location of the drivers when this window appears

Printers and Faxes		_ 0 ,
e Edit View Favorites Tools	Help	*
) Sec. • 🔘 • 🏦 🔎 Search	Folders	
dress Printers and Faxes		• 🖸 60
Printer Tasks 8	Auto HF Laser Jet 4L on MYMAINPC	
See Also *		
28 Troubleshost printing 199 Get halp with printing	FF Lase Jet 4L	
Other Places     #       IP: Control Panel     %       IP: Scamers and Cameras	Acrosoft Office Document Image Writer	
Details ¥		

Fig.4.50 Its icon confirms that the printer is set as a shared resource

## **Printer installation**

Before a shared printer can be used on another PC, it must be installed on that PC. The installation process for a networked printer is different to that for a local printer (one driven direct from the PC). Start the process by going to the Printers and Faxes window in the PC that is accessing the printer via the network. This has icons for the currently installed printers and faxes, with no icon at this stage for the Photosmart printer (Figure 4.51).

Start the installation process by operating the Add Printer link near the top left-hand corner of the window. This launches the Add Printer Wizard, and the first page is, as usual, the Welcome screen (Figure 4.52). At the next page (Figure 4.53) there is the option of installing a local or network printer, and in this case it is clearly the radio button for a network printer that is used.

He Edit View Favorites Tools	And				<u>_ C ×</u>
Back - Search		1].≁			
Address Printers and Faxes					- 5 60
Printer Tenks A Add a printer Set up faving	Acrost Distiler	Generic PostScri	hp Lase Jet 1009	HP Laser Jet 4L	
See Also *					
2) Thoubleshoot printing (b) Get help with printing					
Other Places *					
Prontrol Panel Scanners and Cameras My Documents My Pictures My Pictures My Computer					
Details *					
4 objects			~		1/2

Fig.4.51 At this stage there is no icon for the Photosmart printer

Add Frinter Wizard	Welcome to the Add Printer Wizard
	This wizerd helps you install a printer or make printer connections
	If you have a Plug and Play crinter that connects through a USB port (or any other hot pluggable port such as IEEE 1394, initiated and so on), you do not need to use this wizard. Olick Cancel to close the wizard, and then plug the printer's cable into your computer or point the printer toward your computer's initiated port, and turn the printer on Windows will automatically install the printer for you. To continue, click Next.
	Next > Cenciel

Fig.4.52 The Welcome screen of the Add Printer Wizard

#### 4 Installation and security



Fig.4.53 The radio button for a network printer is selected

Add Printer Wizerd Specify a Printer	S. SALIS		
If you don't know the name or address of the pr your needs.	mer, you can search	tor a printer that meets	Ð
What printer do you want to connect to?			
Browse for a printer			
Connect to this printer (or to browse for a p	unter, salect this op	ton and click Next):	
Name:			
Example \\server\printer			
C Connect to a printer on the Internet or on a	home or office netw	ork	
URL			
Example http://server/printers/m	yprinter/.printer		
	< Back	Next> (	Concel

Fig.4.54 Specify a printer or use the browse option

	for Printer the list of printers appears, sele	d the one you want to use		Ę
Printer	STAKPC/hp photosmart 720	)) saries		
Shared	printers			
3	I/MYMAINPC/hp LaserJet 1001	hp LaserJet 1000		•
3	WMMAINPC/HP LaserJet 4L	HPLaserJet 4L		
3	\\STAKPC\HP DeskJet 1220C	HP DeskJet 1220C Printer		1
3	INSTAKPOVHP DeskJet 1228C	HP DeskJet 1220C		
5	\\STAKPCVHP LaserJet 4L	HP LaserJet 4L		
100	ISTAF POlip photosmail 7200	hp photosmart 7200 series	COLUMN STATE	ALC: NO.
E	MMAINPC			-
Printer	rinformation			
Con	ment			
Stat	us Fleady	Documer	nts woiking	0
		(Back	Next	Cancel

Fig.4.55 The correct printer has been found by using the browser

It is then necessary to indicate the printer you wish to install, and it is advisable to use the browse option here (Figure 4.54). Having located the correct printer using the browser (Figure 4.55), operate the Next button. A standard virus warning screen will then appear (Figure 4.56), but there will presumably be no risk in downloading a driver from one of your own PCs. Finally, left-click the Yes button to go ahead and install the device drivers for the printer. There is no need to have the drivers disc for the printer, because the drivers will be obtained from the network PC that already has them installed. Note that an error message will be produced if this PC does not have the device drivers for the correct operating system.



Fig.4.56 It should be safe to ignore the standard virus warning



Fig.4.57 The printer can be the default unit if desired

Add Printer Wizard	Completing the Add Printer Wizard
	You have successfully completed the Add Printer Wizard You specified the following printer settings
	Name hp photosmart 7200 sene's on STAKPC Default No Location:
	Comment
	To close this wizard, click Finish.
	< Back Finish

Fig.4.58 This screen confirms that the networked printer has been successfully installed

Printers and Faxes	State State				.JJX
File Edit View Favorites Tools I	Help				27
Back - 0 - 2 , Search	Folgers 1	-	4		
Address Printers and Faxes		6 3 . X . X . X . X . X . X . X . X . X .			- 20
Printer Tasks *	Acrobat Detiler	Generic PostScri	hp LaserJet 1000	HP Laser Jet 4	
See Also A 2) Troubleshoot printing 19: Get help with printing	hp photosmart				
Other Places A					
Control Panel Scanners and Cameras My Documents My Pictures My Computer					
Details *					
5 objects					1 10

Fig.4.59 There is now an icon for the newly installed printer

To complete the installation you must decide whether the newly installed printer should be set as the default type (Figure 4.57). In other words, should it be set as the printer that will be used unless Windows is instructed otherwise? Finally, the page of Figure 4.58 informs you that the installation has been completed successfully. It is advisable to go back to the Printers and Faxes window to ensure that an icon for the newly installed printer is present and correct. In this case everything has gone to plan and the icon is present (Figure 4.59).

The printer can then be used in much the same way as if it was a local printer. Of course, it can only be used when the PC it is connected to is actually switched on. Less obviously, it is likely that "Out of paper", "Low ink", and similar status or error messages will appear on the screen of the PC that drives the printer. This is not very convenient if you are using a printer that is in a different room on another floor of the building, but you just have to learn to live with this limitation.

The newly networked printer should be listed when you try to print from an application program (Figure 4.60). Having selected the printer it should

#### 4 Installation and security

Name:	hp LaserJet 1000	Properties
Status: Type Where:	STAL PC/Ip chotosmart 7200 Acrobat Distiller Generic PostScript Printer hp LaserJet 1000 HP LaserJet 4L	series
Comment		F Print to file
Print range		Copies
í All		Number of capies:
C Pages	from to	
CSER	n	

Fig.4.60 The newly installed printer should be available when using any Windows application that has a Print facility

then be possible to launch its properties window (Figure 4.61) so that the paper type, print quality, etc., can be selected. The amount of data sent to a printer can be massive, so results are likely to be obtained more quickly using an 802.11g or wired network connection. Printing can be noticeably slower when using a poor quality 802.11b link.

### Internet sharing

Internet sharing works best with a fast connection that is always on. With a slow dialup Internet connection it will probably not be worthwhile sharing a connection. In theory it enables all users to access the Internet at any time, but in practice the Internet connection will probably not be left permanently switched on. Because voice and Internet calls can not be handled simultaneously, a connection to the Internet is normally made only when it is actually needed.

Another factor to bear in mind is that sharing a 56k Internet connection provides each user with very little bandwidth. If one user decides to download a large file, the other users could find that their Internet access is effectively blocked. Each PC having its own modem is in many ways a more practical solution. Users have to take it in turn to access the

ip photosmart 7200 series on STAKPC Properties aper/Quality Finishing Efforts Basics Cator Service			1
Print Task Quick Sets			
DYEAL OF A TANK	•	Save	1000 I
Paper Options			
R.			
Size is.		- Contraction of the local division of the l	
A4 (210 x 297 mm)		210 x 297 mm	
Custom Custom	Print Quarty		
Printer Auto Select	Normal		
Тури із			
Plain Paper	Black render of Color input doi-	x : 600 : 600	
Minimize Mergins	Color output	Automatic	
T there are an a set of the	hp E	Jigital Photography	
5 <b>0</b>			Help
the statement but at 1500 and	OK	Carcel	Hep

Fig.4.61 The Properties window can be accessed in the usual way

Internet, but they do at least have a reasonable connection speed while they are online.

There is a minimal speed problem when sharing a broadband Internet connection. With (say) an ordinary 512k ADSL connection, even with four or five users, each person would have an effective bandwidth of over 100k. This is still around double the speed of a 56k dialup connection.

The best way of sharing some form of broadband Internet connection is to use a router connected to a broadband modem, or a combined router and broadband modem. In a wi-fi context it is more likely that a combined access point, broadband modem, and router, or equivalent separate units, would be used. With this method the unit containing the modem is left turned on all the time, making an Internet connection permanently available to any PC in the system. There is no need to set up Internet sharing on any of the PCs in the network. With the equipment set up correctly and running, Windows will automatically find and use the Internet connection. The sharing process is not readily apparent to users, with each one appearing to have their own Internet connection.

## Alternative method

Another way of implementing sharing of a broadband Internet connection is to have a broadband modern connected to one of the PCs in the network, and for the other PCs to access the Internet via this PC. There are two drawbacks to this method. One is simply that the Internet connection is dependent on the PC that is connected to the modern being operational. Switch off that PC, and all the other computers in the network lose their Internet connection. The other problem is that heavy use of the Internet could place a significant drain on the resources of the PC connected to the modern. Software is used to effectively turn the PC into a router.

Another point to bear in mind is that the PC connected to the modem, if fitted with a wi-fi adapter, does not become a wireless access point. It is just another PC in the network. The Internet connection is just another shared resource, much like a shared printer. Therefore, in order to wi-fi enable the network you will still require an access point.

This software method of sharing an Internet connection has little to recommend it, and I would never use it. The normal reason for using this method is to permit an existing USB modem to be used, rather than buying one with an Ethernet port or using a combined modem and router. With the current low cost of computer hardware, any small additional expense with the hardware method would seem to be well justified.

Anyway, if you should decide to use this method, Windows ME has an Internet Connection Sharing Wizard that makes the process as straightforward as possible. This is not usually installed as a standard part of Windows ME, so you will probably have to go to the Control Panel and double-click the Add-Remove Programs icon. Operate the Windows Setup tab and then highlight the entry for Internet Tools. Operate the Details button so that the individual tools are shown, and tick the box for Internet Sharing. Operate the OK buttons and the required wizard will be installed and run. The Windows installation disc is required to complete this task.

With Windows XP there is more than one way of tackling Internet connection sharing. Probably the easiest way is to set up the network in the appropriate fashion when running the Network Connection Wizard on each computer. The wizard can be run again in order to change the network's configuration if you did not opt for connection sharing when initially setting up the network.

## Firmware upgrades

With the system "up and running" it is advisable to check the relevant manufacturer's web sites from time to time in case there are any driver or firmware updates. These are often needed in order to sort out minor problems that become apparent when the products are used in earnest by thousands of users. In some cases there are definite faults in the original software or firmware. Often the problems are more obscure, and typically they only occur when certain combinations of hardware or hardware and software are used.

Where a network is running well it is not necessarily a good idea to install firmware updates, but it is probably as well to install any improved drivers that are available. There is little risk involved in using updated drivers,

and the Roll Back Driver feature of Windows XP makes it easy to return to the previous drivers if the new ones should prove to be problematic. The Roll Back Driver facility is accessed by going to the relevant entry in Device Manager, right-clicking it. selecting Properties from the pop-up window, and then operating the Driver tab in the Properties window Then operate the Roll Back Driver button near the bottom of the window

General	Advanced Drive	Resources Power Management		
113	Realtek RTL8133/610x Family-Fast Ethemet NIC			
	Driver Provider	Rastek Semiconductor Corp.		
	Driver Date.	13/04/2034		
	Driver Version	5.612.415.2004		
	Digital Signer	Microsof Windows Hardware Compatibility Public		
Drit	ver Details	To view details about the driver files		
Up	tate Driver	To update the driver for this device.		
Pol	Back Driver	If the device tails after updating the driver, roll back to the previously installed driver.		
	Uninstall	To uninstalighe driver (Advanced).		

Fig.4.62 A Roll Back Driver option is available in Windows XP

(Figure 4.62). In theory, the Update Driver button in the same window is used when installing a newer driver. In practice it is more usual for the updated driver to be installed via its own installation program. Always follow the installation instructions provided by the manufacturer.



Fig.4.63 The DG834's control software includes an Upgrade section

It is advisable not to upgrade the firmware unless some real benefit will be gained in doing so. There is a slight risk involved when upgrading firmware. If the process should go wrong it is possible that the upgraded unit would be left unusable. It might then be necessary to return it to the maker to be repaired. The risk is actually very small. If you should happen to download the wrong data file, it is likely that the upgrade routine would spot the error and refuse to go ahead with the upgrade.

The main danger is that something will interrupt the process, resulting in the unit having a combination of old and new firmware. This is almost certain to leave it in an unusable state. You would have to be very unlucky indeed for a power cut to occur during the few seconds it takes to complete an upgrade. There is probably a greater risk of interrupting the upgrade by accidentally knocking a connector out of place or switching something off. During the upgrade, keep still and touch none of the equipment or wiring.

Note that with some units it is not possible to go back to an earlier version of the firmware. I am not sure why this should be the case, but where



Fig.4.64 Operate the OK button when this warning message appears

there is no way back to the original version it would definitely not be a good idea to upgrade the firmware if the current version is working well. Upgrading would involve a slight risk of introducing bugs into a unit that previously worked flawlessly, with no way of going back to a fully working version of the firmware. It might be worth the slight risk if the new firmware has added features such as improved security options, but it is otherwise not worth the risk. It is definitely a case of "if it ain't broke, don't fix it".

If you find a firmware upgrade and decide to go ahead with it, there are two normal methods of upgrading firmware. The simpler of the two is where the downloaded file is an executable program that contains embedded data. A file of this type will have an exe extension, and will be categorised as an "Application" in Windows Explorer. With this type of upgrade you just run the program and it updates the firmware. You can use the Run option in the Start menu, but double-clicking its entry in Windows Explorer is easier.

The unit that is being upgraded will usually have to be connected to the PC in a direct manner. For example, a USB wi-fi adapter would probably

#### 4 Installation and security

have to be upgraded via its USB interface and not by way of a wi-fi link from another PC in the system. With something like an access point it might be necessary to use a wired (Ethernet) connection rather than a wi-fi link. Always read the "fine print" before carrying out a firmware upgrade, and make sure that everything is being done in accordance with the manufacturer's recommendations.

With the second method of upgrading, the file you download is the data for the flash memory in the device that is being upgraded. A program is needed in order to program the data into whatever you are upgrading. A suitable program might have been supplied with the equipment, or it might be available as a download. It is also possible that the configuration software supplied with the unit has a facility for performing firmware upgrades. It is again a matter of finding the upgrade instructions and following them "to the letter".

In the case of the DG834G access point, the upgrade file I downloaded from the web site was a Zip file that had to be decompressed to extract its contents. A program such as WinZip is needed to do this, and programs such as this are widely available on the Internet. The extracted files were instructions in the form of an Adobe PDF file, and the image file containing the new data. The DG834G's web-based configuration program is used to perform the upgrade, and it has a Router Upgrade section specifically for this purpose (Figure 4.63).

The upgrade is performed by operating the Browse button, and then using the file browser to locate and select the appropriate file. It is unlikely that the program will go ahead with the upgrade if the wrong file is selected, but it would be as well to avoid errors just in case. With the right file selected, it just a matter of operating the Upload button, followed by the OK button when a warning message appears (Figure 4.64). This message just points out that all Internet connections will be terminated so that the upgrade can proceed. Writing to flash memory can be quite slow, so it might take a minute or two for the upload to be completed. The upgraded device is then ready to be put back into service again.

## Points to remember

Read the manufacturer's installation guide before installing any new hardware. It can be time consuming to sort things out if you get the installation of the device drivers wrong. Before installing any supporting software it is advisable to check the manufacturer's web site for updated drivers, support software, and firmware.

The easy way of setting up a PC to operate with networking is to run the Windows Network Setup Wizard on each PC in the system. However, once this has set up the PCs to use networking, there is still some work to do in order to implement file and printer sharing across the network.

Each PC in the network is given a name so that it is easily located when using other PCs in the system. Make sure that each PC is given a different name. The network as a whole is also given a name.

Files and folders are easily shared using the built-in facilities of Windows XP or ME. By default, folders are not shared. Consequently, you must enable sharing for any folder that you wish to make available to the network. Then add the folder to the My Network Places of any PC that will use the folder.

It is possible to share an entire hard disc, but for security reasons it is not a good idea to do so if the network is connected to the Internet.

Any printer that is installed on a PC in the network can usually be shared and used by any other PC in the network. However, the printer can only be shared using a PC that is running an operating system for which a suitable printer driver is available. This should not be a problem if all the PCs are running a modern version of Windows, but Linux and other operating systems might not be supported.

The Internet connection of one PC can be shared with other PCs in the network, but this is an inefficient way of handling things. A modem connected to a router is a much better way of sharing an Internet

#### 4 Installation and security

connection, and these days it is unlikely to cost significantly more than the alternatives.

There is a very slight risk of rendering a unit unusable when upgrading its firmware. Unless a firmware upgrade will provide useful new features, it is probably not worthwhile upgrading a unit that functions perfectly. Always follow the manufacturer's upgrade instructions "to the letter".

# Try it

It would be helpful if there was an easy way of working out whether a wifi link from point A to point B would work properly. Something close to the theoretical maximum operating range should be obtained if there are not too many major obstructions between the two aerials. By major obstructions I mean walls, ceilings, floors, central heating radiators, and substantial items of furniture. Objects outside the path between the aerials can cause problems by reflecting the signals, but you would be unlucky if this factor seriously shortened the range of the system.

Of course, in practice it is unlikely that there will be a clear path from the access point's aerial to any other aerial in the system. After all, one of the main reasons for using wi-fi equipment is to avoid having to take cables through walls, floors, etc. Walls, floors, ceilings, are the main causes of reduced range when wi-fi equipment is used indoors, but large items of furniture or any other substantial objects that get in the way will absorb some of the signal and reduce the operating range.

Large metal objects such as radiators go beyond absorbing some of the signal, and tend to block it completely. The metal framework of some buildings can give similar problems. It is possible that other items will act as reflectors to provide a path around metal objects, but this is unlikely to provide good results. It pays to bear in mind relatively small objects, if sufficiently close to an aerial, can significantly reduce the range of the system.

Ultimately there is only one way to determine whether a link can be successfully established between any two points in a building, and that is to try it and see. Provided the range is less than the theoretical indoor figure for the standard you are using, it should be possible to obtain a

link. However, near the maximum range it might not be possible to obtain operation at maximum speed.

Of course, in situations where it is not possible to avoid having a large piece of metal between the two aerials it is probably not worth trying a wi-fi link. This is especially so if the link will be required to operate over anything more than a very modest range.

A wired connection is the more practical proposition in these circumstances. It will be more difficult to install, but at least it will actually work, and at a very high speed. Fortunately, in the real-world you are unlikely to encounter a metal obstacle large enough to block or severely attenuate a wi-fi signal.

## Planning

The chances of problems occurring can be minimised by carefully planning the system, rather than just placing everything for maximum convenience. The most convenient place for the access point might be at one corner of the building, but this is the worst position in terms of performance. Any wi-fi devices on the other side of the building will be a long way from the access point. By positioning the access point near the middle of the building you ensure that no wi-fi enabled gadget can be much more than about half the width of the building from the access point.

In theory a range of up to about 20 metres can be obtained indoors when using 802.11g equipment, and the range is much higher at about 60 metres for 802.11b links. These are the maximum ranges for operation at top speed incidentally. Even assuming that these ranges will not quite be achieved in practice, an 802.11g link should still give full coverage in a building up to about 25 to 30 metres square. Obviously the access point must be close to the centre of the building in order to achieve this level of coverage.

This should be adequate for most purposes, but accepting the lower speed of an 802.11b link gives much greater range. A building of around 80 to 100 metres square should be within the capabilities of a well designed 802.11b system. Remember that the 802.11b and 802.11g standards are compatible. It is therefore possible to use an 802.11g access point with 802.11g adapters for PCs that are close to the access point, and 802.11b adapters for those that are further away. This gives high-speed transfers for the PCs that are close to the access point, but retains the longer range needed for those that are further away.

# Simple problems

It would be unrealistic to expect a perfect signal every time when installing wi-fi equipment. The performance of wi-fi links is not totally predictable, you might make a mistake when installing and setting up the system, or if you are very unlucky a component in the network could be faulty. When troubleshooting on any computer equipment it is essential to go about things in a logical fashion and to avoid jumping to conclusions. Do not immediately assume that a lack of signal is due to range problems, especially when there is no signal at all. There could indeed be a problem with the range of the link being inadequate, but it could just be that there is some simple problem with the equipment.

Is everything plugged in and connected properly? When installing new equipment it is easy to get impatient and rush things. This is usually a mistake and it invites problems with things not being plugged in, switched on, or set up correctly. When hastily installing equipment it is easy to knock one lead out of place while installing another. Systematically check that everything is connected properly, switched on, and that the settings are correct. Make sure that everything is working on the same channel.

It seems to be a feature of networking equipment that it sometimes "loses the plot". Actually, it is not unknown for this to happen with wired networks. The standard solution is to switch everything off and then power-up the system again. Switch on the access point first, then any devices that use a wired network, and finally switch on the wi-fi units.

## **Moving experience**

The UHF (ultra-high frequency) radio signals used by wi-fi equipment have very short wavelengths, and this can result in signal strengths varying considerably if one of the aerials is moved a small distance. Even moving an aerial a few centimetres can produce a significant change in signal strength. One reason for this is that quite small objects in the wrong place can partially block the signal. You might occasionally find that what was a very good signal suddenly becomes a noticeably weaker one. The most likely cause is that something placed closed to one of the aerials is absorbing the signal.

Another problem is due to reflected signals that combine with the main signal. It is possible that the two signals will combine in a fashion that produces a boost in signal, but it is just as likely that they will have a cancelling effect, giving a reduction in the signal level. In an extreme

case there can be one or more "blind" spots where there is no significant signal. Again, something being moved to just the wrong place can produce a sudden decrease in the signal level.

The cure in both cases is to move the aerial in an attempt to obtain a better signal level. This should not be a problem with an external wi-fi interface that connects to the PC via a cable. With an interface mounted on some form of portable computer it might be a trifle inconvenient, but it should still be possible to move the device in an attempt to obtain a better signal. Moving the aerial is clearly going to be more difficult if it is fixed to a substantial piece of equipment such as a desktop PC or a printer. In this respect, PCI wi-fi adapters are very restrictive.

Rather than moving the entire PC and (possibly) redesigning your office to get the wi-fi link to work well, it would probably be better to get an extension cable to permit the aerial to be positioned away from the PC. Having the aerial right next to the earthed metal case of the PC is far from ideal. Despite your best efforts it may well be in amongst some



Fig.5.1 The aerial is in there somewhere!

cables as well (Figure 5.1), and these will make matters worse. The truth of the matter is that the rear of a PC is just about the worst place to have a wi-fi aerial. Moving the aerial away from the cables and the PC's case will often provide much improved results.

The problems are much the same with a USB wi-fi adapter that plugs straight into the back of the PC. A USB extension cable enables the unit to be used away from the

PC and will often give much better results. Note that this does not require the usual A to B lead of the type used with printers, scanners, and most other USB peripherals. An A to A cable of the type used to link two PCs is not the right type either. These contain some electronics and are quite

	Signal	Channel	Encryption	Network Type
00-09-5B-D5-BC-F8	100%	11	Mot Use	Infrastructure
			+	
	-			
-				
			+	
			1	
				All and the second s

Fig.5.2 This section only gives the signal strength via a text entry

expensive. It is a simple and inexpensive A to A extension cable that is needed.

# Signal strength

It is clearly more than a little helpful to have some form of signal strength monitor so that you can see how changes in the positions of the aerial affect reception. Without the aid of a signal strength monitor there is little chance of adjusting a link for optimum results. The software supplied with a wi-fi adapter usually includes a utility that shows the available access points, together with some information about each one. This should include the names of the networks, the channels they are occupying, and the signal strength of each one.

Some form of graphic indication of signal strength is best, since it enables the reading to be seen at a glance. Many wi-fi adapters are supplied with software that includes a bargraph, or something similar, to indicate the signal strength. A few either lack any form of signal strength meter or provide a reading via a text display. Figure 5.2 shows the monitor program for a cheap generic 802.11b PCI card. This is better than nothing

Stedari	NETGEAR> 00-09-50-05-00-80
Current Channel	11 «-> 2462000 K-12
Current T> Rate	11 Mbps
Throughput (KBits/sec):	Te 73.6 Po 51.0
	Good 98%
Link Que 191	
Signal Strength	Good 100%

Fig.5.3 Here bargraphs indicate signal-strength and link quality

in that it does provide a signal strength reading, but it is in the form of a text entry that gives a reading from 0 to 100 percent.

Fortunately, in this case another section of the program (Figure 5.3) has two bargraphs that show the quality of the link and the signal strength, so it pays to check through all the facilities offered by the support software. It might seem unnecessary to have indications of both signal strength and link quality, but good signal strength does not guarantee a high quality link. A lot of electrical noise or interference from another wi-fi system can result in poor results despite excellent signal strength.

There are programs available that provide a signal strength meter, and probably the best know free program of this type is Boingo, which can be downloaded from:

http://www.boingo.com/download.html

This is actually intended as an aid to finding and connecting to wireless hotspots, but it has a graphic signal strength indicator for each access point that is located. In Figure 5.4 just the one access point has been



Fig.5.4 The Boingo program has a small signal-strength bargraph

found, and the bargraph strength meter shows that a strong signal is being received. This program will not work with all wi-fi adapter cards, and the Boingo web site lists the compatible carcs. It worked fine when I tried it with a cheap generic card, so it is probably worth trying the program even if your card is not listed. After all, it costs nothing to try the program and it is easily uninstalled if it fails to work with your wi-fi card.

When using a signal strength indicator it is as well to bear in mind that most of them do not update the display very frequently. Consequently, it might seem as though a change in the position of an aerial has had no effect, when the lack of response from the program is simply because it has not refreshed the display. After moving an aerial it is therefore necessary to wait a few seconds to see if there is any change to the indicated signal strength.

# Access point

It can sometimes happen that poor results are obtained from all the wi-fi units in the system, even those that seem to be well positioned for good results. The most likely cause of this is the access point and its aerial being placed where nearby obstructions are absorbing much of the signal. Moving it to a different location might give greatly improved results.

Although the space between a PC and a monitor or printer will often be the most convenient place for the access point, having the aerial in amongst large electronic devices is likely to give poor results. The earthed metal case of a PC is likely to block the signal to and from large parts of the building. Results are likely to be better with the access point on top of the PC or positioned a metre or two away from it.

It is advisable not to have the aerial right next to a wall. Placing the access point on the floor is unlikely to give optimum results either. Hiding it out of sight inside a cupboard is almost certain to give a significant reduction in performance. Positioning the access point on a table or desk where it is not very close to walls, PCs, monitors, etc., is likely to give the best results.

Of course, the positioning of the access point is less critical if the system is only required to operate over short distances. It is then likely that acceptable results would indeed be obtained with it placed in a cupboard, between two large tower PCs, or whatever. The greater the range you are trying to achieve, the more carefully the aerials have to be positioned, with particular care being taken over the positioning of the access point. If the access point does not operate efficiently, the performance of the whole system will suffer.

## Change channel

In theory it does not matter which channel you use for your wi-fi network. The small change in frequency from one channel to the next should have no significant effect on results. In practice, a change in channel will often produce greatly improved results from a network that is underperforming. Although one channel has no technical advantage over any other channel, in a real-world situation some will usually work much better than others.

The differences in performance are almost certainly due to some channels containing more noise than others do. Another wi-fi network some distance away might not produce a resolvable signal, but it could still cause significant interference across several channels. This interference will be too weak to give problems at short ranges, but at long ranges the signal levels drop and the system becomes much more susceptible to interference from other systems.

Wi-fi adapters are usually supplied with a program which lists the access points that are detected. In most cases your access point will be the only one that is listed, but inevitably some users will find that a few of their neighbours have wi-fi systems, and that these are listed as well. Try looking for access points with your own unit switched off. This will prevent it from blotting out signals from nearby systems, and increase the chances of detecting any that are present.

Clearly neither party will obtain really good results if the same channel is used for two systems. Less obviously, using adjacent channels will not improve matters very much, since wi-fi signals spread across several channels. If there are one or two other wi-fi systems in the area, use a channel that is as far removed as possible from the channel or channels that are currently in use. Some negotiation with your neighbours might be needed in order to get everyone using well separated channels.

Of course, equipment other than the wi-fi variety uses the 2.4GHz band, and it is possible that shorter than expected range is due to interference from one of these devices. Again, a change in channel might cure the problem. Moving up or down by one channel is unlikely to make much difference, because wi-fi and many other devices spread signals across several channels. A shift of about half a dozen channels is more likely to give an improvement. If necessary, try them all in order to find the one that gives optimum results. In order to change the channel used by the network it is first a matter of changing the channel used by the access point. The other units are then made to scan the band and find the access point again.

Most electronic gadgets generate electrical noise that covers a wide range of frequencies. The high operating frequency of wi-fi equipment means that it operates in a range that is well clear of most general radio noise, which is predominantly at frequencies below 100MHz. However, some gadgets produce a significant signal at frequencies of more than a gigahertz. Having the access point close to a microwave oven is not a good idea, and it is probably best not to have it right next to a monitor.

# **Boosting range**

After a lot of repositioning of aerials and the access point it might become clear that the system is basically working, but the local terrain is such that one or two of the links will not work at maximum speed. This is unlikely to happen where the system is working comfortably within the theoretical range, but is clearly a possibility if you are trying to operate links near or beyond the normal limits. There are wi-fi options available in these circumstances, and the simplest one is to try using a directional aerial that provides gain. Wi-fi aerials offering high gains do not seem to be available, and they might fall outside the regulations governing the

2.4GHz band, so do not expect this method to provide a massive improvement.

Another option is to use one of the repeater units that are designed to be used between the access point and the remote unit. These can substantially extend the range of a system, but there is a significant additional cost involved in using a repeater, and finding a suitable unit could prove difficult. Before buying one it is essential to ensure that it will work with the rest of you system. Also, these units operate by receiving packets of data and then retransmitting them on the same channel. This inability to send and receive simultaneously tends to slow things down. Consequently, the performance of the link might not be vastly better than that of the unaided version.

A third option is to use two access points. This is normally done by having the two units linked by a wired connection, and having them operate on different channels at opposite ends of the band in order to minimise interference between what are really two linked but otherwise separate wi-fi networks. One obvious drawback is that it is not a totally wi-fi solution since a cable is needed to link the two access points. Another obvious drawback is that it involves the substantial added cost of a second access point.

Being pragmatic about it, when an improved aerial is insufficient to provide a really good link, the best options are probably to just settle for a relatively slow link, or to use a wired link if speed is important. Remember that a slow link is perfectly adequate if it is only needed to share a broadband Internet connection. The other options involve significant added expense and provide what has to be regarded as something less than a perfect solution.

## Now you see it

With any equipment you can get everything apparently installed and working nicely, only to find that some while later it ceases to function correctly. There could be a hardware fault of course, but in most cases it is just that a lead has become detached, or something of this type. Networks tend to have a number of external peripheral devices and connecting leads, making them vulnerable to basic problems such as detached leads, switches that get accidentally knocked to the off position, and so on.

Wi-fi networks might have fewer cables and external peripherals, but they are not usually devoid of them. Wi-fi networks have the added

diess w Contor - anel							- PO
Control Panel	Accessibility Cotons	Aug them	S/Remove Pograms	Querk Time	Discley	T è name da	
carrents and Cameras programs intolind carries no regial carries.	Aute mote Underses	Done/Trays	Dial Up Netwistang	Folder Options	Firsty	G	
e -es 3,0075	S A Modern Course and	2	wyboard	MEDOTTS	ASUGN	224 Norwark	
	COECO:	A) Parawurds	Power Options	Printers	Constant of the second	Suarren and Comaania	
	D Schooled est	Jourdi a I Marini a		erkbar and Jan Menu	- Teleprony	Users	

Fig.5.5 The Classic Windows ME version of Control Panel

vulnerability of aerials that can be knocked out of position or work loose. Check for basic faults first. rather than jumping to the conclusion that an item of hardware has become faulty. It is also worth checking that the supporting software is still installed correctly and fully working. The chances of this being the root of the trouble are much higher if any software has recently been installed or



Fig.5.6 Device Manager lists the hardware



Fig.5.7 The Windows XP version of Control Panel

System Properties	CAST STATE	<u>? x </u>
System Restorn Ar	amena Updates	Remote
General Computer Name	Heroware	Advenced
	System	
and the second	Maroson Windows X	P
	Protessional	1.00
Brd	Version 2002	
	Sanace Pack 1	
C. here	Reg starad to	
	Robert Pentuts	
the second s	Fental: Technica: Se	twices
	5527F € 12 - 57824 F	/811
and the second second second	Computer	
	base(R)	
	Perturn(P) 4 OPU 24	IDGHy
	2 41 CH2	
1.	S12 MB of PAM	1.1.1.1.1
the second second second second		
A REAL PROPERTY OF A REAL PROPER		
	OK Cancal	1 Acres 1

Fig.5.8 The System Properties window

uninstalled. It is probably worth uninstalling and reinstalling the software to see if this produces an improvement.

If a wi-fi link works well after installation, but does not function the next time you switch on the PC, there could be a hardware fault but it is more likely that the problem is in the software. After the a quick check for something simple such as a power lead that has come



Fig.5.9 The Windows XP Control Panel in Category View

unplugged, the usual approach is to uninstall the hardware and then reinstall it from scratch.

It is not usually necessary to physically disconnect or remove any hardware from the PC. Uninstalling and reinstalling the drivers is usually sufficient. Having removed the drivers it is a good idea to shut down Windows and reboot the system before trying to reinstall the drivers. If you have not already checked the manufacturer's web site for updated drivers, it would definitely be a good idea to do so at this stage.

## **Removing drivers**

In order to remove a device driver under Windows 98 and ME it is a matter of going into Device Manager, left-clicking on the relevant entry to highlight it and then operating the Remove button. In order to access



Fig.5.10 Left-click the System icon when this window appears

Device Manager, first select Settings from the Start menu, followed by Control Panel from the submenu that appears. The exact appearance of the Control Panel will depend on the setup of your PC, but it will probably look something like Figure 5.5. Double-click the System icon or text entry to launch the System Properties window, and then operate the Device Manager tab. The entry for a wi-fi adapter will normally be found in the Network Adapters section of Device Manager (Figure 5.6).

Device drivers are easily removed using the Windows XP version of Device Manager, but the process is rather different due to the lack of a Remove button. Also, the route to Device Manager is different. With the "Classic" version of the Control Panel (Figure 5.7), it is again a matter of doubleclicking the system icon in order to produce the Windows XP version of the System Properties window (Figure 5.8). With the Category View selected (Figure 5.9), first select the Performance and Maintenance option near the bottom of the window, and then click the System icon in the

System	stem Restore Au		nic Updates	Remote
General	Computer	ter Name Hardware		Advanced
dd Hardy	ware Wizard			
		- Ménard hali	os you install hardwa	
S.	The Aug Hardware	e wizaru nei	os you instali naruwai	re.
			Add Hardwa	re Wizard
Device Ma	Inager	and the state of t	11.000 Jama and 1.1.00 dist 1.1.1.0000	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
2			e hardware devices i	
			e hardware devices i Manager to change t	
	your computer. Usi of any device.	e the Device	Manager to change	the properties
	your computer. Usi	e the Device		the properties
	your computer. Usi of any device. Driver Sign	e the Device	Manager to change	the properties
(	your computer. Usi of any device. Driver Sign Profiles	e the Device	Manager to change	the properies
tardware i	your computer. Usi of any device. Driver Sign Profiles	e the Device ning provide a we	Manager to change Device Ma	the properies
tardware i	your computer. Usi of any device. Driver Sign Profiles Hardware profiles	e the Device ning provide a we	Manager to change Device Ma	the properies
lordware l	your computer. Usi of any device. Driver Sign Profiles Hardware profiles	e the Device ning provide a we	Manager to change Device Ma	the properties
fardware i	your computer. Usi of any device. Driver Sign Profiles Hardware profiles	e the Device ning provide a we	Manager to change f Device Ma by for you to set up an s.	the properties

Fig.5.11 Operate the Device Manager button in the middle section of this window

new version of the window that appears (Figure 5.10). Once the System Properties window is on the screen, select the Hardware tab, which will change the window to look like Figure 5.11. Finally, operate the Device Manager button near the middle of the window.

As with Windows ME, wi-fi adapters are normally in the Network Adapters section (Figure 5.12). Right-clicking the wi-fi adapter's entry will produce a small popup menu (Figure 5.13), where the Uninstall option is selected. Essentially the same facilities can be obtained by double-clicking on the entry in Device Manager. This produces the property window for the



Fig.5.12 Again, the computer's hardware will be listed, and it is the Network adapters section that is of interest

E CIDE ATA/ATAPI cont	rollers		
B & Keyboards			
- Mice and other point	ing devices		
B- Modems			
B- Monitors			
Hetwork adapters			
B)2.11b WLA B) Reattek RTLB1	Update Driver Disable		
Ports (COM & LPT	Uninstal		
B Sound, video and	Scan for hardware changes		
😫 🥌 Storage volumes	Properties	1	-
Uninstalls the driver for the selec	ited device.		

Fig.5.13 Right-clicking an entry produces a pop-up menu where an Uninstall option is available
2 <b>.11</b> 6 v	VLAN PCI Proper	ties	?   ×
General	Advanced Driver	Resources	- F
	802.116 WLAN P	a	
	Device type:	Network adapters	
	Manufacturer:	802 11b Technology Corp	1618
	Location:	PCI Slot 5 (PCI bus 0, device 12, function 0	9
Devic	e status		
This	device is working p	roperty	4
	u are having problem roubleshooter.	ns with this device, click Troubleshoot to start	222
			-
		Troubleshoot.	
Device	usage:		
Part of the second	usage: is device (enable)		•

Fig.5.14 Each device has its own property window

device (Figure 5.14), and selecting the Driver tab switches the window to look something like Figure 5.15.

The Uninstall option is equivalent to the Remove button in Windows 9x, and it is used to remove the device driver. Note that with Plug and Play devices the drivers can only be uninstalled if the hardware is present in the PC and active. With the hardware absent or disabled, it will not have an entry in Device Manager. A warning message like the one in Figure 5.16 appears when the Uninstall button is operated. Left-click the Yes button in order to proceed and uninstall the device drivers. The entry for the uninstalled device should then disappear from the list in Device Manager.

802.11b WLAN PCI Proper	ties	? ×
General Advanced Driver	Resources	
802.116 WLAN P	СІ	
Driver Provider:	OEM	
Driver Date	28/07/2003	
Driver Version.	1.7.0.0	Pa, 1913)
Digital Signer:	Not digitally signed	
Driver Details	To view details about the driver files.	
Update Driver	To update the driver for this device.	**** * * <b>*</b> }
Roll Back Driver	If the device fails after updating the dr to the previously installed driver	iver, roll back
Uninstall	To uninstall the driver (Advanced).	
	ОК	Cancel

Fig.5.15 The Driver section includes an Uninstall button

# Reinstalling

With the drivers uninstalled and the PC rebooted, the installation process can be repeated. In theory, installing the drivers should be no more successful at the second or third attempt than it was the first time. In practice it is often the case that one or two extra attempts provides a cure and gets the hardware working. Check the installation manual and make sure that you go through the installation process correctly.

In cases where following the manufacturer's instructions does not have the desired effect, it might be worth trying a different approach. For example, if installing the hardware first and then the software does not



Fig.5.16 Operating the Uninstall button produces a warning message

get the everything working properly, try installing the software first and then the hardware. Some installation instructions do not match up with the supplied software, and generic devices are particularly prone to this problem.

A common problem is that Windows can not automatically detect the drivers, and it does not find them even if you direct it to the appropriate folder. The usual cause is that the folder does not contain the information file that Windows requires, or even the driver files as such. Examining the contents of the folder using Windows Explorer will often show that it contains an executable program file (one having an exe extension). There might also be a file that contains the real installation instructions. When trying to install problematic hardware it is worth searching the installation disc for a text or Adobe PDF file that contains more up-to-date installation instructions. Text and PDF files respectively have txt and pdf extensions.

Sometimes the executable file is a self-extracting archive. Doublingclicking its entry in Windows Explorer will run the file, and a program embedded within it will then decompress the files and place them in the folder that you select. Windows should then be able to install the hardware if you direct it to that folder during the installation process. More usually, running the program file results in the drivers being automatically installed on the hard disc drive. You then have to reboot the PC so that Windows can complete the installation process. A further reboot might then be required in order to make the hardware fully operational.

eneral Advanced Driver Resource	
The following properties are available to property you want to change on the left right.	
Property.	Value:
Antenna Rx Diversity Antenna Tx Diversity Authentication Type CAM when AC Power Channel County Region Fragment Threshold Local Administration MAC Network Add Network Type Power Saving Mode Preamble Type RTS Threshold SSID Transmit Rate	EUROPE(Channel 1 - 13)

Fig.5.17 A number of settings mlght be available from the device's properties window

# **Country setting**

When installing wi-fi equipment it is normal for the user to specify the country in which the equipment will be used. This step is included when installing many pieces of software, and it is normally done simply to ensure that menus, etc., use the appropriate language. It has this function when installing the support software for wi-fi equipment, but it also sets up the hardware so that it operates with the appropriate parameters for the country in which the equipment is being used. Although the two radio bands used for wi-fi equipment are the same for all countries, the regulations are different for each country. For instance, the channelling operates differently from one country to another.

This makes it very important to select the right country when installing wi-fi equipment. Making a mistake here could result in the equipment operating in an illegal fashion, and it might not work properly with equipment that is set up correctly. Note that when installing many programs there is no UK English option, so the US English option has to be used. The US option must not be used when installing wi-fi equipment in the UK. There should either be a UK option or one called something like "Europe Channels 1 - 13". This is the option that must be used.

It is worth checking the main settings of any adapter that gives problems. There might be a control program, but it is common to have the settings controlled via an extension of the normal Windows facilities. To access the control software it is first a matter of right-clicking the adapter's entry in Device Manager. Then the Properties option is selected from the popup menu. The Properties window should have a section called something like Settings or Advanced, which enables parameters such as the default channel and country setting to be altered. Figure 5.17 shows the Advanced section for the Properties window for a generic PCI 802.11b adapter.

It is not a good idea to "play" with settings you do not understand, but the country setting can be checked, and corrected if it is wrong. It is a good idea to check that the default channel matches that used by the access point. Using the wrong channel is unlikely to prevent the adapter from communicating with the access point, because the control software usually scans for signals. It should therefore locate the default access point and join the network. However, having the correct default channel should reduce the risk of problems with the adapter struggling to find the access point.

# **Repairing a connection**

It does sometimes happen that a unit in the network loses its network connection and has difficulty re-establishing contact. This can be due to the system "losing the plot" rather than any physical problem. If there is a physical problem such as a detached lead, then this must be fixed before proceeding further. With the lead reconnected it is by no means certain that proper contact with the network will be established. It is easier to get the controlling software confused than it is to get things working again.

The normal way of re-establishing contact is to switch off the device that is giving problems, wait a few seconds, and then switch it on again. In



Fig.5.18 Windows XP has a facility to repair the selected network connection, but there is no guarantee that this will solve the problem

an extreme case it could be necessary to switch off everything in the network, and then power it up again, one device at a time, starting with the access point. Fortunately, it is very rare for the network to get into such a state that it requires a complete restart to sort things out.

Windows XP has a repair feature that will try to re-establish contact if a network connection fails. There is no guarantee that it will work, but there is nothing to lose by trying it. Start by going to the Network Connections section in the Windows Control Panel and then select the network connection that is giving problems (Figure 5.18). In the Network Tasks list near the top left-hand corner of the window, locate and left-click the "Repair this connection" link. This will report that the connection has been repaired, or give the reason that if failed to repair it, as appropriate.

### **Points to remember**

Many wi-fi problems have simple solutions. Particularly where no signal at all is received, look for something very basic such as a piece of equipment not being plugged in or switched on, an aerial knocked out of position, or incorrect settings in the software.

Problems with inadequate range are less likely to be encountered if the system is carefully planned rather than just being "thrown" together. The access point should be near the middle of the building. This ensures that you do not end up with the access point on the opposite side of the building to one or more wi-fi enabled units.

Ultimately there is only one way to determine whether a link can be established between the access point and each wi-fi enabled device, and that it to try it in practice. When operating well within the theoretical limits you would be very unlucky if a link operating at or close to the maximum transfer rate could not be established. Things naturally become iffier when trying to operate near the theoretical maximum range.

Changing the channel used by the network will often give an improvement with a system that is not providing the expected range. This is presumably due to some channels containing more noise than others. The default channel is channel 11, and one could reasonably expect this to be the most used, which in turn is likely give it the highest noise level. Moving away from the default channel can give noticeably better results.

The short wavelengths of wi-fi radio signals can give quite well defined "blind" spots where there is little or no reception from the access point. Moving one or both aerials will often give a strong signal and fast transfers, even if there was an inadequate signal level previously. When optimising the positions of the aerials it is very useful to have a program that gives an indication of signal strength.

Aerials do not work well when they are in very close proximity to walls, large computers, pieces of furniture, etc. Try to get the aerials where they are at least a few hundred millimetres away from any large object.

This is especially important for the access point's aerial. If the access point does not work effectively, the whole wi-fi network can not perform well. Remember that everything communicates via the access point.

Because wi-fi equipment operates at extremely high frequencies it is free from much of the electrical noise generated by household gadgets. Even so, it is advisable not to have the access point positioned right next to any electronic units, and it should definitely be positioned well away from microwave ovens.

Problems with poor performance might be due to the local environment not being conducive to good radio propagation. An improved aerial should give a significant boost in performance, and there are other options such as multiple access points and repeaters. However, it might be more practical to simply accept a slower operating speed or opt for a wired link if high speed is essential.

With problem hardware it can be necessary to uninstall and reinstall the driver software once or twice in order to get everything working properly. The instructions supplied in the installation manual are not always correct. Look on the installation disc for more up-to-date instructions.

Make sure that the adapter has the correct country setting. It might not work properly with the rest of the system if the wrong country setting is used, and it might operate in a fashion that is not legal in the UK.

# Index

Symbols	В
10/100 2	backup 21
128-bit encryption 104	band 51
2.4GHz 51	bargraph 157
56k 18, 144	base station 79
5GHz 51, 60	basic network 13
802.11 59	Black Ice Defender 34
802.11a 59	blanking plate 5
802.11b 59	blind spot 70
802.11g 59	blocker 37
802.11i 107	Bluetooth 52, 63
	Boingo 158
Α	boosting range 161
About 112	bracket 6
absorption 89	bridge 80
accelerators 92	broadband 18
access 36	broadband modem 23
access point 61, 79, 97,	broadband risks 26
111, 154, 159	browser 99
Ad Hoc 80, 112	bug 97
adapter 69	bugs 149
adapter installation 109	built-in firewall 27
Add Printer 138	
adding ports 3	С
address 27	cable 2, 13, 70
adjacent channels 61	cables 48
Adobe PDF 171	cached 37
ADSL 18, 48, 119, 145	card 6, 78
adware 43	Category View 166
aerial 9, 69, 157	CD-ROM 136
aerial (position) 160	Centrino 78
aerials 59, 76, 89	certification 62
alert 32	change channel 160
alerts 36	channel 110, 155, 160
anti-static 11	channel hop 87
antivirus 26	channel number 103
application program 143	channels 51, 60, 61
approval 62	channels (Bluetooth) 65
	Compact Flash (CF) 79
	compatibility 2, 60, 79

compatible

154

### Index

components connectors content filtering Control Panel control program costs country setting crossed crossed-over customer support	10 77 108 124, 166 110 25 172 13 13, 80 62	exe extension executable program expansion slot Explorer extending range extension extension cable extension cables extension lead	149, 171 4, 75 133 89 149 156 76 70
D damage data packets decryption default default channel default password default settings Denial of Service	10 102 104 143 51, 110 102 108 84	fault faxes file browser file sharing file swapping files filtering firewall firewall software	162 21, 138 133 85 26 48 108 25, 83, 108 31
device drivers Device Manager	136 109, 165, 166 21, 52 89, 90 90 117 47	firmware firmware upgrades flash memory Folder Options folders <b>G</b> gain	96, 107 147 96, 150 125 123
domain DoS attack download downloaded drivers	108 84 48 136 95, 136	games gateway generic H	15 79 62, 96
E earthed electrical noise enable sharing encryption Ethernet Ethernet card	11 158 124 104 2, 76, 109 9	hackers hardware hardware fault hardware firewall Harold Bluetooth Help system hexadecimal hi-fi system	25, 50 96 162 32 65 88 105 91

hop	87	megabits	2, 48
hotspot	52	megabytes	2
hotspot provider	58	memory	96, 150
hubs	73	message	127
		meter	157
1		microcontroller	99
icen	100	microfilter	21
icon	128	microwave oven	161
IEEE	59, 107	misalignment	8
indoors	60	mode	80
infrared links	63		108, 144
Infrastructure	80	modem/router	1, 23
	109, 138	motherboard	7
installation manual	170	mounting bolts	8
installation program	136, 147	music files	48
installation software	97	My Network Places	116, 128
interfaces	1	iviy network Places	110, 120
interference	158	N	
internal attack	32		
Internet access	36	name	103, 119
Internet banking	104	naming	117
Internet connection	15	NAT	27, 83
Internet gateway	79, 82	negotiates	64
Internet sharing	18, 144	Network Adapters	98
Internet Zone	42	Network Connection Wi	izard 146
IrDA	63	network enabled	15
ISP	27, 100	network key	113
		network name	119
κ		network operation	88
key	105, 113	Network Places	116, 128
Rey	105, 115	network provider	53
L		Network Setup Wizard	118
—		networked printer	138
LAN	26, 39	noise	52, 158
loading	83	Norton	29
local area network	39		
local printer	143	0	
logo	62	omnidirectional	89
			104
Μ		online auctions	104 <b>49</b>
mains plug	12	operating range	
manual	95	operating system	135, 141
map	56	optimising	153
map	50		

### <u>Index</u>

outdoors	60	Q
overlap	61	Quick Start 95
-		
Р		R
P2P	26	range 49, 153, 154, 161
packets	102	range (Bluetooth) 64
parallel	1	reboot 171
passphrase	113	reception 157
password	100	reduced speed 49
passwords	50	reflected signals 155
PC card	78	region 103
PCI	4, 69	registration 56
PCI w-fi adapter	75	5
PCMCIA	78	
PDAs	79	removing drivers 165
PDF	171	Repair this connection 174
pen drive	69	repairing a connection 173
performance	154	repeater 162
permission	36	resistor 11
piconet	64	resources 15, 116, 146
planning	154	restart 174
Plug and Play	169	risk 148
Pocket PCs	79	risks 26
pop-up	37	RJ-45 3
pop-up blocker	37	roaming 58
ports	1, 32	Roll Back Driver 147
power	73	router 1, 14, 83, 146
•	25	rules 109
power consumption power lead	25 164	running costs 25
•	74	
power supply	• •	S
power-up	155	safety 47
powered hub	74	scams 50
printer	15, 138	scan 110, 161
printer adapter	86	scanners 88
printer installation	138	search 53
printer server	16, 87	
printer sharing	124, 134	
Printers and Faxes	136	searches 80 Secure Digital 79
profile	112	·····
program	136	security
Properties window	173	1, 25, 62, 102, 117
protection	26	security check 29

semiconductor	10	1011/01 0000	
separate channel	60	tower case	4
separate channel	00 1	transfer more	49
serious bug	י 97	transmission	90
•	•	transmitting	9
server	16	Trojans	32
setting up	97	troubleshooting	153
settings	100	tweaking	34
Share this printer	135		
shared resources	15, 116	U	
sharing	115	UHF	155
sharing folders	123	Uninstall option	167
sharing scanners	88	uninstalling	165
signal	153	Update Driver	147
signal absorption	89	updated drivers	165
signal level	49	updates	147
signal strength	157	upgrade	96
signals	80	upload	48
signup	58	US English	173
simple file sharing	125	USB	1, 20
slot	4, 75	USB 1.1	72
software	97	USB 2.0	73
software firewall	26	USB adapter	69
Special Interest Group	65	USB cable	70
	154, 161	USB modem	146
SPI	28, 85	user-friendly	99
spyware	32	username	100
standalone	99	utility	157
standalone PC	91		
standard	108	v	
standards	59		10
Start menu	149	video	49
static	10	virus warning	141
statistics	112	voucher	58
statutory rights	62		
straight	14	W	
support	62, 96	WAP	52
Symantec	29	warning	141
Symantec Security Chec	k 29	warning message	127, 169
_		wavelengths	155
Т		web pages	99
telephone socket	3, 22, 85	web site	96
terms of service	19	webcam	92

### Index

Welcome screen	138
WEP 104,	113
wi-fi	48
Wi-fi Alliance	61
wi-fi badge	62
wi-fi card	9
Wi-fi certified	60
wi-fi logo	62
wi-fi routers	84
Windows Explorer	
133, 149,	171
Windows ME	72
Windows XP	72
WinZip	150
wired connection	154
Wired Equivalent Privacy	104
wireless access point	52
wizard	119
workgroup	119
WPA 105,	113
WPA-PSK	106
wristband	11
wrong channel	173

# Z

Zip file	150
Zone Alarm	34



# **Babani** Computer Books

# Easy PC wi-fi networking

Many homes and small businesses now have more than one computer. These could be a mixture of desktop and laptop or just one type of machine. Using the built-in facilities of Windows and some low-cost hardware it is possible to join individual PCs into an effective network, but you have to put up with the hassle of installing the hardware and the inconvenience of all the extra connecting cables.

Fortunately, the development of wireless networking equipment, or wi-fi as it has become known, now gives you the advantage of networking without any of these problems.

You can easily share music files across the network, use all your PCs with a single Internet connection, printout documents on a laptop using the office printer, surf the Internet while relaxing in the garden, and much more besides.

Like any new technology, it may appear at first to be a little confusing, but with the help of this book you should be able to master this new and exciting aspect of computing.

#### This book tell you how to:

- Design the network and choose the right wi-fi equipment.
- Share files and folders.
- Share an Internet connection.
- Share printers.

BP 549

- Get everything working for optimum performance.
- Troubleshoot the system.

🖌 Beginners 🖌 Intermediate

Advanced

